
Committee Agenda   
 

 

1 

 
 
Finance and Performance Management Cabinet Committee 
Monday, 16th June, 2008 
 
Place: Civic Offices, High Street, Epping 
  
Room: Committee Room 1 
  
Time: 6.30 pm 
  
Democratic Services 
Officer: 

Gary Woodhall,  The Office of the Chief Executive 
Tel: 01992 564470 Email: gwoodhall@eppingforestdc.gov.uk 

 
Members: 
 
Councillors C Whitbread (Chairman), M Cohen, Mrs D Collins, Mrs A Grigg, Mrs M Sartin 
and D Stallan 
 
 
 
 

 
PLEASE NOTE THE START TIME OF THIS MEETING 

 
 

 1. WEBCASTING INTRODUCTION   
 

  The Chairman will read the following announcement: 
 
“I would like to remind everyone present that this meeting will be recorded for 
subsequent repeated viewing on the Internet and copies of the recording could be 
made available for those that request it. 
 
By being present at this meeting it is likely that the recording cameras will capture your 
image and this will result in the possibility that your image will become part of the 
broadcast. 
 
You should be aware that this may infringe your human and data protection rights. If 
you have any concerns please speak to the webcasting officer. 
 
Please could I also remind members to put on their microphones before speaking by 
pressing the button on the microphone unit” 
 

 2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   
 

 3. MINUTES   
 

  To confirm the minutes of the last meeting of the Committee held on 17 March 2008 



Finance and Performance Management Cabinet Committee 16 June 2008 
 

2 

(previously circulated). 
 

 4. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   
 

  (Assistant to the Chief Executive) To declare interests in any item on this agenda. 
 
 

 5. ANY OTHER BUSINESS   
 

  Section 100B(4)(b) of the Local Government Act 1972, together with paragraphs 6 and 
25 of the Council Procedure Rules contained in the Constitution require that the 
permission of the Chairman be obtained, after prior notice to the Chief Executive, 
before urgent business not specified in the agenda (including a supplementary agenda 
of which the statutory period of notice has been given) may be transacted. 
 
In accordance with Operational Standing Order 6 (non-executive bodies), any item 
raised by a non-member shall require the support of a member of the Committee 
concerned and the Chairman of that Committee. Two weeks’ notice of non-urgent 
items is required. 
 

 6. REVIEW OF ICT SERVICE  (Pages 5 - 40) 
 

  (Director of Finance & ICT) To consider the attached report (FPM-001-2008/09). 
 

 7. RISK MANAGEMENT - UPDATED CORPORATE RISK REGISTER  (Pages 41 - 62) 
 

  (Director of Finance & ICT) To consider the attached report (FPM-002-2008/09). 
 

 8. PROVISIONAL REVENUE OUTTURN  (Pages 63 - 76) 
 

  (Director of Finance & ICT) To consider the attached report (FPM-003-2008/09). 
 

 9. PROVISIONAL CAPITAL OUTTURN AND USE OF TRANSITIONAL RELIEF IN 
2008/09  (Pages 77 - 86) 

 
  (Director of Finance & ICT) To consider the attached report (FPM-004-2008/09). 

 
 10. KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 2007/08 & 2008/09  (Pages 87 - 104) 

 
  (Deputy Chief Executive) To consider the attached report (FPM-005-2008/09). 

 
 11. EXCLUSION OF PUBLIC AND PRESS   

 
  Exclusion: To consider whether, under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government 

Act 1972, the public and press should be excluded from the meeting for the items of 
business set out below on grounds that they will involve the likely disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in the following paragraph(s) of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the 
Act (as amended) or are confidential under Section 100(A)(2): 
 

Agenda Item No Subject Exempt Information 
Paragraph Number 

Nil Nil Nil 
 



Finance and Performance Management Cabinet Committee 16 June 2008 
 

3 

The Local Government (Access to Information) (Variation) Order 2006, which came 
into effect on 1 March 2006, requires the Council to consider whether maintaining the 
exemption listed above outweighs the potential public interest in disclosing the 
information. Any member who considers that this test should be applied to any 
currently exempted matter on this agenda should contact the proper officer at least 24 
hours prior to the meeting. 
 
Confidential Items Commencement: Paragraph 9 of the Council Procedure Rules 
contained in the Constitution require: 
 
(1) All business of the Council requiring to be transacted in the presence of the 

press and public to be completed by 10.00 p.m. at the latest. 
 
(2) At the time appointed under (1) above, the Chairman shall permit the 

completion of debate on any item still under consideration, and at his or her 
discretion, any other remaining business whereupon the Council shall proceed 
to exclude the public and press. 

 
(3) Any public business remaining to be dealt with shall be deferred until after the 

completion of the private part of the meeting, including items submitted for 
report rather than decision. 

 
Background Papers:  Paragraph 8 of the Access to Information Procedure Rules of 
the Constitution define background papers as being documents relating to the subject 
matter of the report which in the Proper Officer's opinion: 
 
(a) disclose any facts or matters on which the report or an important part of the 

report is based;  and 
 
(b) have been relied on to a material extent in preparing the report and does not 

include published works or those which disclose exempt or confidential 
information (as defined in Rule 10) and in respect of executive reports, the 
advice of any political advisor. 

 
Inspection of background papers may be arranged by contacting the officer 
responsible for the item. 
 

 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to the Finance & Performance 
Management Cabinet Committee 

 
Report Reference:   FPM-001-2008/09. 
Date of Meeting: 16 June 2008. 

 
Portfolio: 
 

Corporate Support & ICT Services. 

Subject: 
 

Review of ICT Service. 

Responsible Officer: 
 

Bob Palmer     (01992  564279). 
David Newton            (01992  564580). 
 

Democratic Services Officer: Gary Woodhall (01992  564470). 
 

   
Recommendations: 
 
 (1) To note the key findings of the review and the recommendations 
 contained therein; 
 
 (2) To agree that the most appropriate means of future ICT service delivery 
 is through targeted investment in the current service; and 
 
 (3) To agree the proposed action plan to implement the key findings of the 
 review. 
 
Executive Summary: 
 
The ICT Service has been through a challenging period with the medical retirement of the 
former Head of ICT and the subsequent resignation of the Assistant Head of ICT. The loss of 
these senior staff combined with the corporate restructure made it essential to conduct a 
review of the ICT Service. 
 
Capita were engaged to review and benchmark the existing ICT Service and make 
recommendations on the strategic direction and future provision of ICT Services at the 
Council. This review has helped highlight both strengths and weaknesses and has concluded 
that the current in-house provision should continue. This conclusion is based on Capita’s 
opinion that out-sourcing would be unlikely to provide either cost or risk savings.  
 
Reasons for Proposed Decision: 
 
The proposed decisions are in line with the external consultants recommendations and 
should ensure that the ICT Service is provided in the most economical, efficient and effective 
manner. 
 
Other Options for Action: 
 
The ICT Service could be wholly or partly out-sourced, although this would go against the 
consultant’s advice. 
 
Members could decide that the service does not require a re-structuring or any investment. 
However, this would not achieve the objective of making the service fully fit for purpose. 

Agenda Item 6

Page 5



 
Report: 
 
1.  The full report produced by Capita is attached at Appendix 1 and will be presented to 
the Committee by Mr Kevin Smitten, Proposition Development Manager, Capita IT Services. 
 
2.   An action plan is attached at Appendix 2 to address the report’s main 
recommendations. 
 
3.   Members are asked to note the key findings of the review and approve the action 
plan.  
 
Resource Implications: 
 
Comments on resources are made individually against the areas detailed in the action plan. 
In summary, a re-structuring may require some additional resource whilst new servers can be 
funded from the existing capital programme and should lead to revenue savings. 
 
Legal and Governance Implications: 
 
None. 
 
Safer, Cleaner and Greener Implications: 
 
If it is possible to implement server virtualisation (the ability to allow multiple virtual machines, 
regardless of operating system, to run in isolation, side by side on the same physical 
machine) electricity consumption could be reduced. 
 
Consultation Undertaken: 
 
None. 
 
Background Papers: 
 
None. 
 
Impact Assessments: 
 
No equalities impacts. 
 
The consultants have highlighted that outsourcing would increase risk, particularly if any form 
of customer contact programme were initiated. 

 

Page 6



Epping Forest District Council 
ICT Review – Draft Report 
13th April 2008 

Page 7



Epping Forest District Council 

ICT Review 

Commercial in Confidence  

© Capita Business Services Ltd., 2008 

Draft Report 

13
th

 April 2008, Version 2 

Document Overview 

Contact Details 

Contact Name: Kevin Smitten 

Position: Proposition Development Manager 

Address: Capita IT Services 

71 Victoria Street 

London

SW1H 0HA 

Telephone Number: 07900 980665 

E-mail Address: kevin.smitten@capita.co.uk 

Notice

This document has been prepared by Capita Business Services Limited (Capita) in 
confidence for the sole review of the intended recipients of the document who are 
identified as Epping Forest District Council (EFDC). The document contains trade secrets 
of Capita and other commercially sensitive material. The document is therefore regarded 
as exempt from disclosure as provided in s41 and s43 of the Freedom of Information Act 
2000.

The information is provided to assist the intended recipients in connection with their 
current enquiries concerning the subject matter. Capita accepts no liability whatsoever 
(whether in negligence or otherwise and whether directly or indirectly) in connection with 
this document or its contents. 

Page 8



Epping Forest District Council 

ICT Review 

Commercial in Confidence  

© Capita Business Services Ltd., 2008 

Draft Report 

13
th

  April 2008, Version 2 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

1 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY .............................................................................................. 2

1.1 BACKGROUND ...................................................................................................................... 2

1.2 KEY CHALLENGES ................................................................................................................. 2

1.3 KEY RECOMMENDATIONS ...................................................................................................... 2

2 GOVERNANCE AND STRATEGY REVIEW ............................................................... 3

2.1 OBJECTIVES: ........................................................................................................................ 3

2.2 BACKGROUND ...................................................................................................................... 3

2.3 FINDINGS ............................................................................................................................. 3

2.4 OPTIONS FOR SERVICE DELIVERY.......................................................................................... 5

2.5 RECOMMENDATIONS ............................................................................................................. 6

2.6 ICT GOVERNANCE AND STRATEGY BASELINE REVIEW ............................................................ 7

3 SERVICE MANAGEMENT REVIEW ......................................................................... 16

3.1 OBJECTIVES: ...................................................................................................................... 16

3.2 BACKGROUND .................................................................................................................... 16

3.3 FINDINGS ........................................................................................................................... 16

3.4 RECOMMENDATIONS ........................................................................................................... 19

3.5 QUICK WINS ....................................................................................................................... 19

3.6 ICT SERVICE MANAGEMENT BASELINE REVIEW ................................................................... 20

4 APPENDICES ............................................................................................................ 27

APPENDIX A – ICT BUDGET............................................................................................................. 27

APPENDIX B - ITIL ASSESSMENT RATINGS ....................................................................................... 28

Page 9



Epping Forest District Council 

ICT Review 

Commercial in Confidence  

© Capita Business Services Ltd., 2008 

Draft Report          Page 2 

13
th

 April 2008, Version 2 

1 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

1.1 Background

At the time of the review there were a number of issues and recent organisational 
changes which led to EFDC commissioning the review: 

 Consolidation of ICT budgets   

 User perception of the service was mixed 

 Organisational restructure anticipating a new customer contact service 

 A new Corporate Director   

The review of the Council’s current ICT operations within Epping Forest District Council  
concentrated on base lining the current operation comparing it to best practice and 
identifying the opportunities for ICT-related improvements and efficiency gains both at a 
strategic and service level.  

1.2 Key Challenges 

The review revealed that the current service is appropriate to maintain and improve the 
current IT environment. There are no major cost or risk management advantages from 
looking at alternative service provision such as outsourcing. There is a need to make 
some targeted investment in the service in order to address a range of issues identified 
during the review: 

 Inconsistent alignment of ICT investments to strategic outcomes 

 Although significant steps have been taken to improve engagement with users 
there is a lack of formal processes and structures for Directorates to access IT 
services.  

 Resource planning suffers due to the absence of an overarching medium and long 
term development plan linked to corporate outcomes.  

 EFDC has made investments in key corporate systems which have not been rolled 
out across the organisation. 

 Any major projects will stretch the capacity and capability of the service and 
although a longer term view of resource planning will alleviate this somewhat there 
will be a need to bring in external resources. 

 Shortfalls identified against ICT service best practice (ITIL).  

1.3 Key Recommendations 

Although guided by benchmarking against best practice the recommendations made take 
account of the size of and resources available to EFDC and are designed to be pragmatic. 
The key recommendations are: 

 Targeted investment in the current service 

 Creation of an IT Governance framework to ensure that investments are aligned 
to corporate outcomes, benefits are realised and engagement with the 
Directorates

 Move towards managing the ICT service and projects as a portfolio balancing 
outcomes and resources 

 Exploit existing IT investments 

 Strategic plan to move towards ITIL best practice with implementation of tactical 
quick wins.     

Page 10



Epping Forest District Council 

ICT Review 

Commercial in Confidence  

© Capita Business Services Ltd., 2008 

Draft Report          Page 3 

13
th

 April 2008, Version 2 

2 GOVERNANCE AND STRATEGY REVIEW 

2.1 Objectives:

 Baseline EFDC’s current ICT Governance mechanism 

 Review EFDC ICT programme and project management 

 Review the current EFDC ICT strategy and policies 

 Review the structure, roles and responsibilities of the ICT Department 

 Understand user perceptions and views of the ICT function 

 Review EFDC capital and revenue ICT expenditure 

 Benchmark EFDC ICT Governance, strategy and expenditure against comparable 
district Local Authorities and Best Practice 

 Produce an Options Appraisal identifying opportunities for improvement in ICT 
Strategy and Governance, for further development by EFDC. 

2.2 Background

At the time of the review there were a number of issues and recent organisational 
changes which led to EFDC commissioning the review: 

 Consolidation of ICT budgets   

 User perception of the service was mixed 

 Organisational restructure anticipating a new customer contact service 

 A new Corporate Director   

EFDC is not under any immediate pressure to achieve wholesale efficiency savings, 
although efficiency savings are seen as a means to invest in priority services.  The 
Council’s current strategic focus is on service improvement and ICT is seen as a key 
enabler of this. The recruitment and retention of ICT skills has been challenging given the 
salary levels that Epping can offer and the competition from central London.  

2.3 Findings

2.3.1 Areas of strength 

EFDC has made considerable progress in many areas to improve its ICT service 
particularly following the recent reorganization. There are a number of areas where the 
review identified strengths around the governance and strategic alignment of ICT: 

 Staff within the ICT service are well regarded by the wider user community 
 The consolidation of budgets has increased the strength of control over costs 
 The ICT requirements coming out of the annual business planning process are 

being consolidated 
 There is a desire both within the Directorates and ICT to move to more formalized 

planning processes 
 Projects in the main are delivered within budget and on time 
 Strategic ICT systems have been procured which could enable business change 
 Cost benchmarks indicate that the Council is average in comparison with similar 

sized authorities. 
 The enthusiasm of ICT staff and the Directorates to make the best use of ICT is a 

strong basis for change. 

Page 11



Epping Forest District Council 

ICT Review 

Commercial in Confidence  

© Capita Business Services Ltd., 2008 

Draft Report          Page 4 

13
th

 April 2008, Version 2 

• Good results may be achieved sometimes, but success is

generally inconsistent and typically dependent on

individual efforts or heroics. ICT's relationship with the

Organisation can be patchy

Chaotic

• This should be the minimum standard to ensure that

the Council is using iCT effectively. There is a typically

effective relationship between ICT and the Organisation
Responsive

• At this level ICT is adding value through proactive

behaviour and close alignment with Organisational

needs
Proactive

• This is global best practice, comparable with the most

effective public and private sector Organisations. ICT is

being geared up to deliver maximum value to the

Organisation

Excellent

2.3.2 Best Practice Assessment 

An assessment was made against the best practice for governance and strategy using the 
National eService Delivery Standards as a framework. EFDC currently exhibits 
characteristics bordering chaotic and responsive (see Figure 1). This when combined with 
the reactive assessment from the ITIL service review indicates an ICT service that has 
been fire-fighting. Responsive is seen as the minimum standard to ensure that the Council 
is using ICT effectively.  This is typical of a district council such as EFDC and realistically 
the objective should be to move to proactive with some pockets of excellence.  

Figure 1 - Comparison with NESDS best practice 

2.3.3 Strategic Challenges 

The review identified a range of challenges that EFDC face in getting the best out of its 
investments into ICT. EFDC can consolidate its position at Responsive in the short term 
and move to Proactive as long as it addresses these. In summary they are: 

 Inconsistent alignment of IT services and projects to corporate desired outcomes 
and business planning. Investments in IT are not managed as a portfolio. 

 Inconsistent customer engagement with a lack of formal processes, (although this 
has improved dramatically in the last few months) has resulted in mixed 
perceptions of the value of the IT Service by the wider council.  

 There is a mixed picture in terms of the capacity and capability of Directorates to 
make best use of IT.   

 There is a lack of understanding within the Council of the impact of IT resource 
constraints on delivery of services to directorates including within IT. 

 The absence of a comprehensive development plan hinders medium term 
resource planning.  

Chaotic

Responsive

Proactive

Excellent

Current
Position

Page 12



Epping Forest District Council 

ICT Review 

Commercial in Confidence  

© Capita Business Services Ltd., 2008 

Draft Report          Page 5 

13
th

 April 2008, Version 2 

 Existing IT investments such as EDRMS have not been fully exploited and in other 
areas, eg.GIS a corporate standard has not been adopted where it could sensibly 
be expected. 

 Although the IT capacity and capability is appropriate to maintain and improve the 
current IT environment it will not be sufficient to support major IT enabled change 
projects, such as the deferred customer contact transformation programme.  

2.4 Options for Service Delivery 

As part of the review the various options for delivering the service were examined (Table 1 
summarises these), the conclusion was that although there were reasons why the service 
could not remain the same there was no advantage in looking to outsource the service. 
The two key factors for outsourcing, cost reduction and managing risk are not strong 
enough to support a business case to outsource ICT.  

The conclusion at this point is that focused investment will move the ICT service closer to 
best practice and assist in lessening the impact of diseconomies of scale on its capacity 
and capability. This will need to be supported by the use of external suppliers for specific 
areas where skills, experience and knowledge are needed. 

Table 1 - Options for ICT Service Delivery (see 2.6.6 for analysis) 

Stay same – No Outsource – No 

 Customer interaction needs to be 
improved 

 There are some poor perceptions of the 
service 

 There is not the capacity to handle 
major future projects 

 Cost advantage – Marginal 

 Risk management  - Not currently High 
Risk

 Risk increases if Customer Contact 
Programme is initiated 

Mixed economy – Where appropriate Invest in current service – Yes 

 Developments – Customer Contact 

 Specific reviews and initiatives such as: 

 Exploiting existing investments 

 Green IT 

 Alignment with Strategic Planning  

 ITIL best practice to maximise 
resources

Page 13



Epping Forest District Council 

ICT Review 

Commercial in Confidence  

© Capita Business Services Ltd., 2008 

Draft Report          Page 6 

13
th

 April 2008, Version 2 

2.5 Recommendations

The recommendations contained in Table 2 below have been made in the context of 
where EFDC is at this point in time taking into account resource constraints and re 
designed to be pragmatic reflecting the appetite for change articulated by the corporate 
management team during the interviews. 

Table 2 Summary of Recommendations - Strategic Review 

Strategic Alignment 

2.5.1
Create an IT Investment Board with senior management involvement responsible 
for strategic direction of IT and alignment of projects to corporate outcomes 

2.5.2
The interface between Business Continuity Planning and IT disaster recovery 
planning should also be within the terms of reference of this group  

2.5.3
Introduce a benefits realisation process (Business case to benefits delivery) 

2.5.4
Develop and manage IT investments as a Portfolio balancing outcomes/costs and 
resource constraints 

2.5.5
Develop business improvement managers (super users) in Directorates with 
understanding of IT and how it can support business improvement  

2.5.6
Use the business planning cycle to identify projects to support business outcomes 

2.5.7
Exploit existing investments, develop roll out programmes for key corporate 
applications such as EDRMS 

Resource Planning 

2.5.8
Create and maintain a rolling 5 year IT Development Plan including known and 
anticipated projects along with asset management plans for infrastructure and 
applications 

2.5.9
Develop a supporting Cost Model with funding sources and funding needs. 

2.5.10
Develop a resourcing plan to support the development plan using a mixed 
economy of in-house and selected external resources.  

Page 14



Epping Forest District Council 

ICT Review 

Commercial in Confidence  

© Capita Business Services Ltd., 2008 

Draft Report          Page 7 

13
th

 April 2008, Version 2 

2.6 ICT Governance and Strategy Baseline Review 

2.6.1 Approach 

The review took place with a series of meetings with all of the Corporate Management 
Team and the approach was to take a high level overview of the ICT service and more 
importantly how it contributed to the delivery of the outcomes that EFDC wanted to 
deliver.

Capita would like to thank everyone that participated in the review for all their input plus 
the enthusiasm and courteousness shown. 

2.6.2 Strategic Alignment 

Best practice aims to ensure that organisations can: 

 Link investment budgets directly to tangible outcomes, providing measurable, 
consistent and objective criteria to assess which investments are creating, or are 
likely to create, the most value for the organisation and the community 

 Make best use of common technology for multiple services, resources for reuse, 
and knowledge from the transformation of one service applied to another 

 Manage, deliver and sustain effective change through a simplified process based 
on a single aim: “Where and how can we best spend the money?” 

Figure 2 - Strategic Alignment of Services 

Page 15



Epping Forest District Council 

ICT Review 

Commercial in Confidence  

© Capita Business Services Ltd., 2008 

Draft Report          Page 8 

13
th

 April 2008, Version 2 

Overview

Currently EFDC use the annual business planning cycle to identify the future ICT 
requirements. Significant steps have recently been taken by ITC to consolidate these into 
a development plan for 2008/9. However, EFDC is some way operating best practice 
where all of elements of a service both “business as usual” and “change” are aligned to 
desired outcomes and where their relative value can be assessed.  

Key Issues 

 Projects are not consistently aligned to corporate outcomes 

 The outcomes that EFDC is aiming to deliver are not defined in such a way that 
the value that projects contribute to them can be easily assessed 

 There is no formal mechanism to enable projects to be able to be prioritised  

 Resource constraints are not considered at this stage  

2.6.3 Customer Engagement 

Using best practice, both in the public and private sectors, can provide the Council with a 
proven approach to IT Governance ensuring that all parts of the organization are involved. 
Figure 3 is a model which EFDC could move towards incorporating the processes and 
controls should support to reflect the need to control ICT investment decisions, 
performance monitoring, project development and delivery.

Figure 3 - Model IT Governance 

Figure 4 shows specifically how these new processes could support the existing business 
planning process.   

Stakeholders in ICT policy.

Nominated individuals with

authority. Responsibility for feeding

up Directorate needs and delivering

IT Management Decisions

An officer group from across all

directorates, the ICT service and

programme managent. Reviews all

business cases, recommends

targeted ICT investment, controls

and enforces ICT policies and

manages benefits delivery

A member and senior officer group

responsible for review, approval and

monitoring of IT investment

decisions or key recommendations

from the IT Management Group

IT Steering

Committee

IT

Management

Group

Directorates

(Super Users)
ICT Service Programmes

Page 16



Epping Forest District Council 

ICT Review 

Commercial in Confidence  

© Capita Business Services Ltd., 2008 

Draft Report          Page 9 

13
th

 April 2008, Version 2 

Figure 4 Project alignment to Business Planning 

Overview

The initiatives implemented over the last few months have improved the engagement with 
ICT’s customers. However, EFDC is a long way from best practice at present. A move to a 
more customer focused service delivery is key to aligning ICT with the business. Both this 
element of the review and the service element suggest that EFDC ITC and the 
Directorates would welcome such a move but without knowing the exact details of any 
previous customer-focused initiatives/culture, it is difficult to estimate the total effort 
required.

Key Issues 

 There is a separation between the business and ICT 

 Although improving there are some poor user perceptions of the ICT service but 
not the ICT staff which indicates an absence of process  

 In the past promises have been made as to service or project delivery that either 
could not be delivered or were not delivered with consequent poor user perception 
of the service.

 The consolidation of budgets has not been accompanied by processes to enable 
the business to clearly understand how to access resources 

 There is limited member involvement in detailed aspects of ICT  decision making 

 Inconsistent ownership by the business on ICT investment decisions 

 Shortage of skilled, knowledgeable Super Users within the Directorates 

Directorate

Business Plan

•Development need identified to support delivery of Service Outcomes

•Approval by Director

•Add to ICT Development plan as a potential project

Project Defiintion

•Business Super User Business Outcomes

•IT Architecture Fit

•Finance Funding available

ICT Management

Group

•Assessment against Corporate Outcomes

•Balanced against resources Portfolio Management

•Rejection goes back to Directorate to reassess business need

•Acceptance update development plan and cost model

Page 17



Epping Forest District Council 

ICT Review 

Commercial in Confidence  

© Capita Business Services Ltd., 2008 

Draft Report          Page 10 

13
th

 April 2008, Version 2 

2.6.4 Development Plan 

The ICT development plan is the key resource planning tool for ICT it should include all 
related activities around ICT projects and the business projects that supported and 
enabled by ICT.

Figure 5 - ICT Development Plan

Figure 5 illustrates how such a plan could look for EFDC. The important points to note are 
that the ICT assets and projects are enablers to business change projects and 
programmes. Whilst project management skills and experience are increasing at EFDC 
there is little expertise around programme management and benefits realisation, let alone 
portfolio management..

Cost Model 

A comprehensive cost model is a key support to the overall governance of ICT 
investments. Table 3 is an example. It should be comprehensive covering all aspects of 
ICT over a complete technology cycle 5, 7 or 10 years: 

 Asset management plans for the existing IT Architecture 

 Known projects inc. the future asset management implications on the architecture 

 Prospective projects  

 Existing staffing requirements 

 Future staffing requirements 

It should be a dynamic model with best estimates being used initially for prospective 
initiatives. The cost model should be updated as costs are refined as projects move 
through initial definition, design, deployment and to live operation.   

Page 18



Epping Forest District Council 

ICT Review 

Commercial in Confidence  

© Capita Business Services Ltd., 2008 

Draft Report          Page 11 

13
th

 April 2008, Version 2 

Table 3 - Example ICT Cost Model 

2008/9 2009/10 5 yr Total

Capital Revenue Capital Revenue Capital Revenue

Business Applications

Cedar Financials

Upgrade X

Support & Maintenance X X X

Enterprise Wide Applications

Anite@Work

Upgrade X

Roll Out X X X

Support & Maintenance X X X

Infrastructure

PC’s X X X X X X

Servers X X X X X X

Network X X X X X X

Telephony X X X X X X

IT Services

Management X X X

Application Support X X X

X X X

Total X X X X X X

Funding Available X X X X X X

Funding Gap Y Y Y Y Y Y

Overview

The development plan is in its infancy and is not being used as resource planning tool and 
it does not include all ICT related activity. Without this being able to communicate to the 
Directorates the resource constraints on service and project delivery is difficult and has 
lead to promises being made, not being delivered with consequent poor user perception of 
the service.  

Key Issues 

 Development Plan only covers one year 
 There are limited asset management plans for the IT infrastructure 
 Resource planning is reactive 
 There is not a comprehensive cost model 
 The impact of general and specific resource constraints is not consistently 

assessed 
 Assets and projects are not managed as a portfolio balancing contribution to 

outcomes with resource constraints and risk 

Page 19



Epping Forest District Council 

ICT Review 

Commercial in Confidence  

© Capita Business Services Ltd., 2008 

Draft Report          Page 12 

13
th

 April 2008, Version 2 

2.6.5 Cost Benchmarks  

The overall costs of the service were examined and benchmarked where possible to other 
ICT services across local government, the costs of the switchboard function were 
excluded to aid comparison. The breakdown of costs is detailed in Appendix A. 

Figure 6 - Costs per 1000 population   Figure 7 - Costs per User 

Although only a guide the EFDC’s ICT costs are comparable with other district councils 
and enjoys some of the benefits of economies of scale enjoyed by unitary councils when 
comparing costs by user. It would be useful to go into more depth particularly looking at 
the costs of the various elements of the service particularly the total cost of ownership of 
applications. Consideration should be given to joining a benchmarking service such as 
SOCITM. 

Key Issues  

 Costing information is limited and cannot be allocated to specific activities 
 The management costs are relatively high but on closer review the managers in 

place are performing dual roles with a large proportion of their time being allocated 
to service and project delivery. 

 The management overhead of the switchboard function is carried by ICT 
 ICT infrastructure and application assets are not costed over their whole life 
 Future forecasts of costs are not maintained   

0

5,000

10,000

15,000

20,000

25,000

30,000

EFDC District

Ave

LG Ave

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

3,000

EFDC District

Ave

LG Ave

Page 20



Epping Forest District Council 

ICT Review 

Commercial in Confidence  

© Capita Business Services Ltd., 2008 

Draft Report          Page 13 

13
th

 April 2008, Version 2 

2.6.6 Options Appraisal 

The options considered together with their advantages and disadvantages are 
summarised in the table below, staying the same was not seen as a option: 

Table 4 - Options for Service Delivery 

Advantages Disadvantages 

Externalise the ICT Service to a specialist provider 

Access to the resources of a larger organisation Difficult to respond to business and 

organisational changes without increasing costs 

Potential to achieve some economies of scale 

although limited 

Difficult to specify service requirements in a 

regularly changing environment requires a 

strong client function 

Reduced overhead in terms of supplier 

management 

Size is very low for most outsourcers so market 

would be limited 

Enhanced development opportunities for some 

existing staff 

Access to enhanced Disaster Recovery services  

Invest in the current ICT Service 

Service tailored to the needs of the Council Has limited impact on capacity 

Builds on the improved user perception of ICT  Will still require external skills to by procured  

Continuity of service  

Maintains a good knowledge of the Council, its 

priorities and users  

Fully devolve the service to Directorates 

Closer direction of ICT resources by 

Directorates 

Harder to maintain corporate standards 

 Difficult to control costs 

 Increased management overhead and 

duplication of roles 

 The requirement to maintain corporate systems 

remains 

Fully centralise the service 

Consolidates management arrangements for 

ICT development and support 

Perceived loss of direct access to IT experts in 

the Directorates 

Supports the corporate development of ICT  

Reinforces the objective to develop contingency 

for key personnel by developing back up 

contingency 

Page 21



Epping Forest District Council 

ICT Review 

Commercial in Confidence  

© Capita Business Services Ltd., 2008 

Draft Report          Page 14 

13
th

 April 2008, Version 2 

2.6.7 Exploit existing investments 

Overview

EFDC has made a number of key corporate investments over the last few years and has 
plans to review some of its other key elements of its IT architecture. Like most Councils 
EFDC has not maximised the benefits from its investment in ICT. The e-government 
investment has resulted in the introduction of technology but has failed so far to deliver 
the required business change and ultimately the business benefits (in efficiencies or 
significant service improvements) on which the investment was justified.  

Key Issues 

There are key reasons for this: 

 the lack of clear ownership and therefore responsibility for the delivery of benefits 

 the Council has not re-engineered the business to take advantage of the new IT 
investment but incorporated it into how it conducted business previously 

 the deferment of a coherent strategy to change the way that the Council manages 
its customer contact  

The review identified some potential areas for improvement that would bear further 
scrutiny, affording the opportunity to:  

 Rationalise by making greater use of existing applications already in use in the 
Council, such as: 

o Anite@Work – Electronic Document Management 
o Cedar Financials 

 Standardise on a common GIS and LLPG platform 

 Rationalise some smaller IT applications, particularly desktop databases, removing 
them altogether through re-engineering and utilising other IT applications 

 Potential to rationalise further through the use of targeted IT investments, justified 
in business case terms by the reduction in small scale systems, support, 
infrastructure and licensing costs. 

 Effect targeted integration of some specialist smaller systems to support the prime 
IT architecture. 

 The current number of servers is large given the size of the organisation; 
virtualisation and server consolidation will not only reduce costs but will enhance 
business continuity and resilience.  

These are potential enabling opportunities, however, without a business change 
programme to take advantage of them then EFDC will not deliver the benefits that are 
possible or that will support the outcomes that EFDC is striving to deliver. Re-engineering 
EFDC to take advantage of these enablers can appear daunting but a pragmatic approach 
concentrating on the existing IT investments should be adopted particularly Anite@work 
and Cedar, key elements of which are: 

 Challenge current processes (Why do we do this?)  

 Catalyst for challenge and agreed improvement 

 An incremental approach to minimise change impact 

To deliver these there is a need for strong programme management to deliver specific 
benefits and portfolio management to ensure that investments deliver the maximum 
benefit. 

Page 22



Epping Forest District Council 

ICT Review 

Commercial in Confidence  

© Capita Business Services Ltd., 2008 

Draft Report          Page 15 

13
th

 April 2008, Version 2 

2.6.8 Customer Contact Strategy 

EFDC has intended to initiate a new Customer Contact Strategy for the last few years but 
this has been deferred. During the review it was clear that there is a need and a desire 
within EFDC to improve its customer contact. In formulating the strategy the council may 
like to consider the current context of customer contact within local government.     

Key Issues 

The current challenges that customer services face: 

 Customer at the heart of services in an outcome focussed world 

 Customer Insight and segmentation – Need for granular demographic information. 
Time and cost of building single view of customer 

 Brand - Perception is always linked to promises 

 Increasing assessments concentrate on evidence of need – CAA so need better 
information

 Desire to understand customers both their interactions – demand management 
(NI14) and the assessment of need 

 Widening access whilst managing demand 

 Poor integration - Not just technology but managing the hand off to delivery 

 Efficiency not being delivered 

 Cashed Savings 

 Service Improvement 

 Limited funds – Funding already exhausted need efficiencies to spend to save 

 Lack of capability - Information Management is a new discipline  

Approaches to meeting these challenges 

There are mature models for which can be delivered through new contact layer and IT 
architecture to support it with organisations concentrating on: 

 Re-engineering processes 

 New and improved information technology 

 Infrastructure changes 

 Training 

However, these are tools and enablers in order to effect real change the more successful 
organisations concentrate on increasing satisfaction as their key outcome and satisfying 
customers is about: 

 Making and managing promises 

 Building relationships 

 Building trust 

Their businesses are networks of people making and managing promises to satisfy 
customers. It would be relatively easy to develop a strategy taking the best from other 
organisations experiences once EFDC has decides on what it wants to achieve for its 
customers.    

Page 23



Epping Forest District Council 

ICT Review 

Commercial in Confidence  

© Capita Business Services Ltd., 2008 

Draft Report          Page 16 

13
th

 April 2008, Version 2 

3 SERVICE MANAGEMENT REVIEW 

3.1 Objectives:

 Review EDHC service management procedures, processes and policies 

 Review EFDC current helpdesk operations 

 Compare EFDC service management against ITIL and ISO 20000 for Best 
Practice comparison 

 Produce an Options Appraisal identifying opportunities for improvement in ICT 
Service Management, for further development by EFDC. 

3.2 Background

The review took place with a series of meetings with David Newton, Chris Askew and 
Angelo Stephen. The approach was to take a general view of the delivery of IT services 
evaluated against ITIL and ISO20000 which are industry standards for good practice 
within IT service delivery. 

EDFC ITC have are number of initiatives in place focussing on establishing and 
maintaining closer working relationships between ITC and business users. Examples of 
this are the User Group Forum to be initiated shortly and the implementation maintenance 
of ICT service action plans. This is a purposeful move to help to ensure that business 
requirements and technological initiatives are both understood and shared across the 
organisation. However, in terms of day-to-day IT service delivery, Capita’s view is that 
there is a consistent lack of formal customer engagement and whilst there are some 
examples of good practice undertaken by ICT there is little evidence of good practice 
processes rolled out in a joined-up way across the ICT Division.  

3.3 Findings

3.3.1 ITIL

When an organisation does not have ITIL-based processes aligned to its service delivery 
objectives, then it can only be expected that comparison to an ITIL model will result in 
many more non-compliance areas than compliance areas. In terms of EFDC’s alignment 
with ITIL good practice guidelines the following table sets out the % alignment measured 
against the key ITIL processes: The following tables present a summary of the ITIL 
assessment ratings for each ITIL process. The ratings for each process was determined 
by a Yes/No response to a number of set questions (around 50 per process) using 
standard criteria in gauging the responses. 

An ITIL definition of each process along with Capita’s evaluation and key issues noted are 
set out in Appendix A and was ascertained by relating EFDC ICT’s current processes 
against ITIL good practice guidelines.  

The overall view shown in Figure 8 illustrates that EFDC ITC is some way from embracing 
a fully-compliant ITIL model, but it does show that in some areas, there is a sound basis 
from which these processes can emerge of which particular examples are Financial 
Management, Service Level Management, Capacity Management and Release 
Management. Particular weaknesses include Service Level Management, Incident, 
Problem Management and Availability and Configuration Management. Capita accepts 
that EFDC has already acknowledged that the Service Continuity Plan (DR) is in need of 
review but a major concern is that business risk to service unavailability has not been fully 
established and these needs to be reviewed along with the SC plan.  

Page 24



Epping Forest District Council 

ICT Review 

Commercial in Confidence  

© Capita Business Services Ltd., 2008 

Draft Report          Page 17 

13
th

 April 2008, Version 2 

Figure 8 - ITIL EFDC Comparison with Benchmark 

Although only from a small sample of district councils Figure 9 shows that EFDC 
compares favourably with the average except in the key areas highlighted in the 
benchmark review. 

Figure 9 - ITIL Comparison with other Districts 

0 20 40 60 80 100

Service Level Management

ProblemManagement

Configuration Management

Availability Management

Service Continuity

Incident Management

Release Management

Capacity Management

Change Management

Service Desk

Financial Management

Pass Benchmark
EFDC

0 20 40 60 80 100

Service Level Management

ProblemManagement

Configuration Management

Availability Management

Service Continuity

Incident Management

Release Management

Capacity Management

Change Management

Service Desk

Financial Management

DC Ave
EFDC

Page 25



Epping Forest District Council 

ICT Review 

Commercial in Confidence  

© Capita Business Services Ltd., 2008 

Draft Report          Page 18 

13
th

 April 2008, Version 2 

3.3.2 Customer focused service 

A key element is the culture within an organisation and if EFDC ICT wish to move to a 
more customer focussed and service orientated delivery approach then a culture shift is 
required. Under the management of David Newton and there is a definite emphasis on 
ICT service improvement, but in our experience, the change to a more formal approach to  
service delivery needs to be nurtured and buy-in obtained before it can easily accepted 
within an organisation. Both this element of the review and the strategic element suggest 
that EFDC ITC and the Directorates would welcome such a move but without knowing the 
exact details of any previous customer-focused initiatives/culture, it is difficult to estimate 
the total effort required. 

3.3.3 Areas of strength 

With regard to Capita’s findings the following positive areas within ICT were noted: 

 Strong financial process 

 Service Desk functionality 

 Good process detail in the areas of Capacity Management, Release Management, 
and to a certain extent Change Management 

 The staff appear committed to an overall Service Management Improvement Plan  

 A willingness to engage more with the Business Users and move towards a more 
formal approach to day to day IT service delivery 

3.3.4 Areas that need attention 

The following key issues were noted: 

 A lack of formal day-to-day engagement  with Business Users  

 No Service Level Agreements in a place 

 A slow and cumbersome Service Desk tool 

 A somewhat confused Change Management process 

 A lack of key good practice processes but in particular 

o Incident Management 

o Problem Management 

o Service Level Management 

 Very limited ICT management service reporting/information 

 Very limited customer service reporting/information 

 A Service Desk that acts as a switchboard for general calls 

 Service Continuity plans may not meet business requirements. 

Page 26



Epping Forest District Council 

ICT Review 

Commercial in Confidence  

© Capita Business Services Ltd., 2008 

Draft Report          Page 19 

13
th

 April 2008, Version 2 

3.4 Recommendations

Table 5 Recommendations – Service Improvements 

3.4.1
Gain senior management commitment to establish ITIL-based processes 
throughout ICT. 

3.4.2
Set up a programme to ready ITC and implement ITIL-based processes  

3.4.3
Initiate an awareness campaign aimed at ICT staff and business users 

3.4.4
Introduce formal ITIL training for all staff and key business users 

3.4.5
A phased implementation is recommended with Incident Management, Problem 
management, Change Management, Service Level management, a realignment of 
the Service Desk function plus a review of the Service Continuity (DR) Plan is 
included in the initial phase.  

3.4.6
The structure of ICT is reviewed in line with the ITIL implementation programme as 
different disciplines will involve modified responsibilities. 

3.4.7
Communicate approach to Directorates. 

3.5 Quick Wins 

Although Capita’s recommendations are set out above, some quick wins could also be 
achieved, whether an ITIL programme is formally initiated or not and Capita recommend 
the following recommendations to enable a more immediate service-centred ICT delivery: 

Table 6 Recommendations - Quick Wins 

3.5.1
ITIL training is introduced to at least team leader level 

3.5.2
Basic Service Level Agreements are established with key Directorates/business 
users

3.5.3
The change process is reviewed and streamlined  

3.5.4
A change manager function is introduced to act as an ICT focal point for all 
requested changes 

3.5.5
An ITC wide Incident Management process is introduced  

3.5.6
Service reporting requirements are established 

3.5.7
The Help Desk tool is upgraded (We understand that this is already planned for 
April 2008) 

3.5.8
The IT Desk is re-developed and re-launched (along with the ICT Incident 
management process) to promote it as the key interface for IT customer related IT 
service incidents (i.e. not a Departmental switchboard)  

Page 27



Epping Forest District Council 

ICT Review 

Commercial in Confidence  

© Capita Business Services Ltd., 2008 

Draft Report          Page 20 

13
th

 April 2008, Version 2 

3.6 ICT Service Management Baseline Review 

3.6.1 Approach 

The review took place with a series of meetings with David Newton Chris Askew and 
Angelo Stephen and the approach was to take a high level overview of the delivery of IT 
services evaluated against ITIL and/or ISO20000 which are industry standards for good 
practice within the IT industry. 

Capita would like to thank the above named individuals for all their input plus the 
enthusiasm and courteousness shown. 

3.6.2 ITIL processes and guidelines 

Although ITIL is currently undergoing a review and Version 3 of the standard is now. For 
the purposes of the review of EFDC, ITIL V2 was uses as the benchmark and the good 
practice processes are grouped as follows within ITIL V2 and were used as the basis for 
the review: 

Service Support

 Service Desk (function) 

 Incident management 

 Problem Management 

 Change Management 

 Configuration Management 

 Release management 

Service Delivery

 Service Level Management  

 Availability Management 

 Capacity management 

 Service Continuity Management 

 Financial Management 

Note: the Financial Management of EFDC ITC Division was not discussed during the 
interviews but was scored on the ITIL compliance questionnaire. 

3.6.3 Service Desk 

Provides a single point of contact between ICT and its customers to enable the reporting 
and recording of Customer service incidents and queries and to manage the allocation of 
incidents to other IT Service lines for investigation and resolution 

Capita Review 

The Service Desk (SD) provides the interface into ITC for all business user ICT service 
incidents and enquiries, The Help Desk Assistant generally takes the telephone calls 
although users can email “calls” and some calls emanate from emails and from certain 
standard forms. Calls are logged by the Service Desk on the QSM system (QSM was not 

Page 28



Epping Forest District Council 

ICT Review 

Commercial in Confidence  

© Capita Business Services Ltd., 2008 

Draft Report          Page 21 

13
th

 April 2008, Version 2 

evaluated for this review). A call waiting system was introduced in 2008 due to counter the 
“line busy” tone.

Calls taken 

The SD takes on average an estimated 120 service calls per week. At least 50% are 
closed at the time of the call by the SD and these types of calls are the fast fix types for 
example, resetting of user passwords. In addition, an estimated 60 “cold” calls are 
received per week and these come from various sources such as EFDC users wishing to 
speak with an individual in ICT or telesales calls from suppliers. The Service Desk does 
have its own procedures for logging and the handling of calls, but there is no overall ICT 
encompassing Incident Management process to fulfil an end-to-end call handling process. 

Key Performance Indicators 

There are two Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) currently established: 

To respond a call within one business day of it being logged - “respond” in this sense is 
understood to be any activity dealing with active call investigation for example, contacting 
the caller or logging investigative activity. Note: calls can have a status of open, 
responded or fixed 

Call target resolution time of 5 days - each call has this standard priority attached to it. 

Call Allocation

After the call is verified and logged, the SD undertakes 1st  line analysis of the call it 
cannot be  resolved by the SD, the SD  will allocate the call to ICT service lines i.e. 
Business Analysts, Technical Support or Network Support. Calls may also be handed off 
to other Directorates at this point, for example, Housing marketplace calls. If the SD has 
resolved a call itself then the call is closed at this point. 

Urgent calls 

If a particularly urgent call is detected, the CS Supervisor tends to get actively involved in 
the call resolution activity and typically provides progress updates to users via email. 

Call monitoring 

The CS Supervisor monitors calls on a daily basis (approx 16:00) and chases ICT 
supervisors or individuals if a call response has not been actioned. 

Issues noted 

 High staff turnaround of Help Desk Assistant (3 in 18 months) 

 The SD acting as a switchboard type operation for non service delivery calls 

 The poor performance of the SD s/w tool in terms of functionality and performance 

 The self-service aspect of the upgraded SD system may impact SD staff activity  
(assuming self-service will be used) 

 Relative call priority levels are not used within the call handling process 

 Lack of MI reporting from the SD system data 

 No link to an end-to-end incident management process. 

 Limited MI reporting 

Page 29



Epping Forest District Council 

ICT Review 

Commercial in Confidence  

© Capita Business Services Ltd., 2008 

Draft Report          Page 22 

13
th

 April 2008, Version 2 

3.6.4 Incident Management 

The main objective of the Incident Management process is to restore normal service 
operation as quickly as possible. 

Overview

EFDC have a partial incident management (IM) process. It is partial in the sense that the 
incidents are reported to and logged by the Service Desk and some initial first line 
investigation and resolution is undertaken by the SD and any incident not resolved by the 
SD is allocated to the ITS Service Lines. The overriding issue is that the Incident 
Management process needs to be end-to-end with responsibilities and ownership 
established for the complete incident life-cycle. 

Key issues 

 No end-end-end IM process for ICT 

 A lack of incident ownership 

 No formal incident reporting 

 No relative prioritisation of incoming incidents 

 No formal Major Incident handling sub-process 

3.6.5 Problem Management  

The goal of Problem Management is to prevent the recurrence of incidents by establishing 
the root cause of incidents, and initiating the necessary preventative actions. 

Overview

There is no formal Problem Management process within EFDC ITC, although some root 
cause investigation is carried under the existing call handling process which constitutes 
Problem Management activity. 

Key Issues 

 Root cause of all incidents is not always be formally established 

 Preventative measures are put in place at the discretion of Service lines 

 Trend analysis of incidents is not routinely undertaken. 

 No ITC owned “known errors” log  

 No ITC managed problem log of all open problems 

Page 30



Epping Forest District Council 

ICT Review 

Commercial in Confidence  

© Capita Business Services Ltd., 2008 

Draft Report          Page 23 

13
th

 April 2008, Version 2 

3.6.6 Change Management  

The key objective of Change Management is to ensure that standard methods and 
procures are used for the efficient and prompt handling of infrastructure changes and to 
minimise the impact of change-related incidents on service quality.  

Overview

EDFC have a change process in place and is in line to an extent with good practice 
guidelines. The process does however appear to be somewhat cumbersome and 
bureaucratic and the fact that there are five change forms evidences this. To a certain 
extent, the bureaucracy comment is to be expected due to the nature of change 
management, but the overriding issue is that there is no formal ITC Change Management 
function that owns and manages the end-to-end change process i.e. from the receipt of a 
change request to its assessment, approval, implementation and closure. The concept of 
a Change Advisory Board (CAB) which is a regular forum to assess and approve changes 
from within the business and ITC perspectives was not a known concept.  

Key Issues 

 Unclear ownership of the current change process. 

 No ITC Change Manager function 

 No trending or reporting of change implementations 

 No formal change forum to review and approve changes 

 A large number of change request forms are in use. 

3.6.7 Configuration Management 

Configuration Management provides a logical model of the infrastructure/service by 
identifying, controlling, maintaining and verifying versions of Configuration items (CIs). In 
the physical sense the Configuration Management Database (CMDB) contains all 
information about each CI and including relationships with other CIs. The CMDB would 
also be used by the incident, problem and change processes. 

Overview

EFDC ICT does not have an ITIL-aligned configuration management process or a   
Configuration Management Database (CMDB). An Asset register comprising of server and 
PC provides a layer of management information enabling those assets listed to have a 
known status. Tools such as Express Metrics are used to monitor the hardware and 
software estate and provide regular reports. 

Configuration Management in its complete guise is perhaps the most difficult and time 
consuming process to set up, however, when it is in place and the CMDB has been 
designed and implemented, this brings with greater integration between other Service 
Management processes such as Incident, Problem and Change Management for 
example.  

Key Issues 

 No formal Configuration Management process 

Page 31



Epping Forest District Council 

ICT Review 

Commercial in Confidence  

© Capita Business Services Ltd., 2008 

Draft Report          Page 24 

13
th

 April 2008, Version 2 

3.6.8 Release Management  

The goal of Release Management is the successful rollout of software and related 
hardware by ensuring that planning, design, build and testing of software to create 
a set of release components for a live environment.  

Overview

EFDC ITC have a number of good practices in place for Release Management such as 
the use of the Shavlik tool to deploy OS patches and definite links with the existing 
change system to manage the roll-out of OS changes. Application changes are managed 
by the Business Analysts. In addition security hardening is a standard for initial releases of 
hardware. A number of S/w release are governed by the package suppliers. 

Key issues 

 Release Management processes need to be more formalised  

 Review the “test bed” server base in that it is sufficient for business needs 

3.6.9 Service Level Management  

Ensures that service providers know what is expected of them and that customers have a 
clearer view of ITS capability. This is achieved by the existence of formally agreed Service 
Level Agreements (SLAs) and Operational Level Agreements (OLAs). 

Overview

There is no formal Service Level Management within EFDC ICT and there is little formality 
about describing, agreeing and documenting services. The result is that the business 
users maybe unclear of what ITC services they are receiving and to what performance 
levels (SLA) and that ITC maybe unclear about the service quality measures and targets 
that services need to delivered against (OLA). Capita suggest that this is a priority area for 
EFDC ITC to invest in to a) enable service quality improvements and b) improve its day-
to-day customer relationships.  

Key issues 

 No documented and agreed SLAs 

 No documented and agreed OLAs 

 Unclear Service delivery targets for ICT 

 Directorates unclear what ICT services they receive and to what quality 

 No regular formal mechanism for ICT to review the service with its customers. 

 Lack of formal service reporting  

Page 32



Epping Forest District Council 

ICT Review 

Commercial in Confidence  

© Capita Business Services Ltd., 2008 

Draft Report          Page 25 

13
th

 April 2008, Version 2 

3.6.10Availability Management (AM) 

This process is concerned with the design, implementation measurement and 
management of IT services to ensure the stated business requirements for availability are 
consistently met.  

Overview

Availability Management has been deployed by EFDC to a certain extent as the inherent 
infrastructure features availability and resilience within its design. What is unclear is the 
level of understanding by ICT that the availability provided by the infrastructure does 
support Directorates in the delivery of their services. Service availability is a key business 
requirement which the underlying IT infrastructure should support (and the DR 
infrastructure). Formal engagement between ICT and Directorates with regard to value-
for-money and business-fit solutions should be pursued. Service availability targets would 
need to be included in a SLA. 

Key Issues 

 Service availability offered may not meet business needs 

 Availability requirements not fully established  

 Availability requirements not documented  

 DR availability requirements not fully realised 

3.6.11Capacity management 

This process is responsible for ensuring that adequate capacity is available to meet the 
needs of the business. Note this process is related to business requirements and is not 
solely about the performance of a system’s components. 

Overview

There a number of Capacity monitoring processes in place covering the monitoring of 
server file-systems, CPU and memory using a variety of software tools and reports are 
produced and bi-weekly meetings take place to review any issues raised. Table space is 
monitored by DBA and manual MI reports are constructed.  

Key Issues 

 Capacity planning with business needs/growth as a key input is not undertaken.   

 Business aligned capacity plans are not produced  

 Capacity reports not generally shared with users. 

Page 33



Epping Forest District Council 

ICT Review 

Commercial in Confidence  

© Capita Business Services Ltd., 2008 

Draft Report          Page 26 

13
th

 April 2008, Version 2 

3.6.12ITS Service Continuity Management 

The key focus of Continuity Management is to support the overall Business Continuity 
management process but ensuring that the required IT services and facilities (e.g. 
servers, applications and networks) can be recovered within agreed business timescales.   

Overview

It was acknowledged that the DR plan is out of date and in need or review. Daily backups 
to tape are held offsite via a 3rd party contract so that data is secured at a system level 
and the second computer suite is more robust in terms of fire prevention, but there is no 
off-site DR facility.  The Business Continuity Plan (BCP) has been discussed with ITC but 
the involvement of ITC in this overall corporate plan is unclear. One area that needs 
confirmation is the level of risk assessment undertaken to determine the risks to EFDC's 
business (including IT systems) and to realise the impact on the Council and its citizens if 
key IT services become unavailable. If for example, the site had a major fire and the site 
was out of action for a period of time as a result, does the service continuity plan 
adequately document roles, responsibilities, activities to achieve full or partial service 
restoration and the impact on the Council to function without key IT systems. Capita 
recommends this a priority activity.  

Key issues 

 Service continuity ownership 

 Unknown business risk if key IT systems are unavailable 

 ICT customer’s understanding of current service continuity arrangements 

 Lack of off-site back-up IT facility 

 Lack of testing of recovery plans 

3.6.13ITS Financial Management 

This process is concerned with the accounting and budgeting and charging principles for 
all IT services including the processes for allocating expenditure for these services and 
cost recovery. 

Overview

This process was not reviewed by Capita, and the ITIL assessment questionnaire was 
undertaken by David Newton. Not surprisingly EFCD ITC has mature financial processes 
in place.  

Key Issues 

None at this time. 

Page 34



Epping Forest District Council 

ICT Review 

Commercial in Confidence  

© Capita Business Services Ltd., 2007 

Page 27 

3
rd

 April 2008, Version 0.2 

4 APPENDICES 

Appendix A – ICT Budget 

Figure 10 - ICT Revenue Budget 

Figure 11 - % Costs by Function

1,117,840

114,800

344,100

153,930

36,600 164,980
142,160

ICT Budget

Staff Costs

Equipment New

Equipment Maintenance

ICT

Subscriptions

Recharges

Financing Charges

20%

11%

11%
30%

13%

15%

Breakdown by Function

Business System Team

Customer Support Team

Desktop Support Team

ICT Management

Network Support Team

Technical Support Team

Page 35



Epping Forest District Council 

ICT Review 

Commercial in Confidence  

© Capita Business Services Ltd., 2007 

Page 28 

3
rd

 April 2008, Version 0.2 

Appendix B  - ITIL Assessment ratings 
Service Desk Rating Pass Service Level Management Rating Pass

Pre-requisites 75 75 Pre-requisites 50 75

Management intent 77 77 Management intent 0 75

Process capability 80 84 Process capability 3 82

Internal integration 71 71 Internal integration 0 75

Products 50 81 Products 0 80

Quality control 50 87 Quality control 0 83

Management information 37 87 Management information 33 75

External integration 0 83 External integration 0 85

Customer interface 40 100 Customer interface 20 100

     

Incident Management Rating Pass Financial Management Rating Pass

Pre-requisites 75 75 Pre-requisites 100 75

Management intent 66 83 Management intent 60 80

Process capability 42 89 Process capability 100 82

Internal integration 0 75 Internal integration 75 75

Products 50 83 Products 66 66

Quality control 12 87 Quality control 100 83

Management information 0 83 Management information 94 76

External integration 0 84 External integration 16 86

Customer interface 20 100 Customer interface 20 100

Problem Management Rating Pass Capacity Management Rating Pass

Pre-requisites 16 66 Pre-requisites 100 75

Management intent 42 71 Management intent 75 62

Process capability 5 82 Process capability 26 84

Internal integration 10 80 Internal integration 16 66

Products 20 80 Products 20 80

Quality control 0 83 Quality control 83 83

Management information 0 83 Management information 46 80

External integration 0 66 External integration 9 81

Customer interface 20 100 Customer interface 20 100

     

Change Management Rating Pass Availability Management Rating Pass

Pre-requisites 75 75 Pre-requisites 66 66

Management itent 75 75 Management intent 25 75

Process capability 76 82 Process capability 35 55

Internal integration 77 77 Internal integration 14 71

Products 50 83 Products 0 80

Quality control 66 83 Quality control 0 83

Management information 6 80 Management information 15 84

External integration 0 87 External integration 18 87

Customer interface 20 100 Customer interface 20 100

     

Configuration Management Rating Pass Service Continuity Rating Pass

Pre-requisites 50 83 Pre-requisites 25 75

Management itent 16 66 Management intent 30 80

Process capability 0 80 Process capability 33 76

Internal integration 0 62 Internal integration 57 71

Products 16 66 Products 0 75

Quality control 0 83 Quality control 33 83

Management information 22 77 Management information 36 81

External integration 0 82 External integration 7 88

Customer interface 20 100 Customer interface 20 100

     

Release Management Rating Pass

Pre-requisites 83 66

Management intent 25 75

Process capability 25 87

Internal integration 33 77

Products 33 88

Quality control 66 83

Management information 12 81

External integration 23 82

Customer interface 20 100

Page 36



A
pp

en
di

x 
2 

Fi
nd

in
g 

R
es

po
ns

e 
R

es
ou

rc
es

 
Ti

m
es

ca
le

 
A

ss
es

se
d 

ag
ai

ns
t r

ec
og

ni
se

d 
fra

m
ew

or
ks

, t
he

 
cu

rr
en

t I
C

T 
re

sp
on

se
 is

 ra
te

d 
as

 ‘f
ire

-fi
gh

tin
g’

, 
w

hi
ch

 is
 ty

pi
ca

l o
f m

os
t D

is
tri

ct
 C

ou
nc

ils
. T

he
 

ai
m

 f
or

 t
he

 f
ut

ur
e 

sh
ou

ld
 b

e 
to

 m
ov

e 
to

 a
 

m
or

e 
pr

oa
ct

iv
e 

ap
pr

oa
ch

.  
 

Th
e 

ad
op

tio
n 

of
 a

n 
in

du
st

ry
 a

pp
ro

ve
d 

fr
am

ew
or

k 
pr

oc
es

s 
w

ill
 i

m
pr

ov
e 

th
is

 i
ss

ue
, 

re
su

lti
ng

 i
n 

a 
m

or
e 

pr
oa

ct
iv

e 
ap

pr
oa

ch
. 

A
lre

ad
y,

 a
ll 

lin
e 

m
an

ag
er

s 
ha

ve
 

at
te

nd
ed

 a
n 

IT
IL

 (
qu

al
ity

 a
ss

ur
an

ce
 s

ys
te

m
 f

or
 t

he
 

IC
T 

in
du

st
ry

) 
co

ur
se

 i
n 

pr
ep

ar
at

io
n 

fo
r 

th
is

 c
ha

ng
e,

 
w

hi
ch

 is
 s

ch
ed

ul
ed

 to
 b

e 
ad

op
te

d 
w

ith
in

 th
is

 fi
na

nc
ia

l 
ye

ar
.  

 

W
ith

in
 e

xi
st

in
g 

re
so

ur
ce

s.
 

M
ar

ch
 ‘0

9 

La
ck

 o
f c

on
si

st
en

t c
us

to
m

er
 e

ng
ag

em
en

t a
nd

 
th

e 
fa

ilu
re

 
to

 
fu

lly
 

ex
pl

oi
t 

th
e 

be
ne

fit
s 

of
 

ex
is

tin
g 

in
ve

st
m

en
ts

 
su

ch
 

as
 

E
R

D
M

S
 

(E
le

ct
ro

ni
c 

R
ec

or
ds

 
an

d 
D

oc
um

en
t 

M
an

ag
em

en
t 

S
ys

te
m

), 
eF

in
an

ci
al

s 
(F

in
an

ce
 

sy
st

em
) 

an
d 

th
e 

LL
P

G
 

(lo
ca

l 
la

nd
 

an
d 

pr
op

er
ty

 G
az

et
te

er
). 

 
 

M
ee

tin
gs

 b
et

w
ee

n 
IC

T 
st

af
f 

an
d 

ke
y 

us
er

s 
in

 e
ac

h 
D

ire
ct

or
at

e 
ar

e 
be

in
g 

es
ta

bl
is

he
d.

 
A

 
ne

w
 

IC
T 

he
lp

de
sk

 s
ys

te
m

 a
nd

 p
ro

ce
du

re
s 

ha
ve

 a
ls

o 
be

en
 

im
pl

em
en

te
d.

 T
he

 a
dd

iti
on

 o
f 

a 
se

lf-
se

rv
ic

e 
m

od
ul

e 
sc

he
du

le
d 

fo
r i

m
pl

em
en

ta
tio

n 
la

te
r t

hi
s 

fin
an

ci
al

 y
ea

r, 
w

ill
 a

ls
o 

im
pr

ov
e 

ac
ce

ss
ib

ili
ty

 to
 in

fo
rm

at
io

n.
   

 ER
D

M
S 

is
 b

ei
ng

 r
ev

ie
w

ed
 b

y 
th

e 
H

ou
si

ng
 D

ire
ct

or
at

e 
an

d 
a 

pl
an

 w
ill

 b
e 

co
ns

tr
uc

te
d 

to
 a

ch
ie

ve
 C

ou
nc

il 
w

id
e 

im
pl

em
en

ta
tio

n.
  

 

W
ith

in
 e

xi
st

in
g 

re
so

ur
ce

s.
 

     W
ill

 re
qu

ire
 s

om
e 

ex
te

rn
al

 
co

ns
ul

ta
nc

y.
 

M
ar

ch
 ‘0

9 
      O

ng
oi

ng
 

Th
e 

cu
rr

en
t n

um
be

r o
f s

er
ve

rs
 (a

pp
ro

x 
10

0)
 is

 
co

ns
id

er
ed

 e
xc

es
si

ve
. 

Th
e 

IC
T 

te
am

 h
ad

 a
lre

ad
y 

st
ar

te
d 

a 
pr

oj
ec

t 
on

 t
he

 
po

ss
ib

ili
ty

 o
f 

re
du

ci
ng

 t
he

 n
um

be
r 

of
 s

er
ve

rs
 b

y 
us

in
g 

vi
rt

ua
lis

at
io

n 
te

ch
no

lo
gy

 (
us

in
g 

se
rv

er
s 

th
at

 
ca

n 
ru

n 
m

or
e 

th
an

 a
 s

in
gl

e 
sy

st
em

). 
A

n 
as

se
ss

m
en

t 
ha

s 
be

en
 s

ch
ed

ul
ed

 fo
r 

27
th

 M
ay

 a
nd

 it
 is

 h
op

ed
 t

ha
t 

if 
th

is
 o

pt
io

n 
is

 fe
as

ib
le

, t
he

 n
um

be
r 

of
 s

er
ve

rs
 c

ou
ld

 
be

 r
ed

uc
ed

 b
y 

ap
pr

ox
im

at
el

y 
75

%
. 

Th
is

 t
ec

hn
ol

og
y 

ha
s 

th
e 

po
te

nt
ia

l t
o 

re
du

ce
 c

os
ts

 (b
ot

h 
in

 s
up

po
rt

 a
nd

 
en

er
gy

 u
sa

ge
) a

nd
 a

ls
o 

si
m

pl
ify

 d
is

as
te

r r
ec

ov
er

y.
  

 

It 
sh

ou
ld

 b
e 

po
ss

ib
le

 to
 fu

nd
 

th
e 

pu
rc

ha
se

 o
f 

ne
w

 s
er

ve
rs

 fr
om

 
ex

is
tin

g 
ca

pi
ta

l 
bu

dg
et

s.
 If

 it
 is

 
po

ss
ib

le
 to

 
im

pl
em

en
t 

vi
rtu

al
is

at
io

n,
 

re
ve

nu
e 

sa
vi

ng
s 

w
ill

 a
ris

e.
 

 

Ju
ne

 ‘0
9 

Page 37



A
pp

en
di

x 
2 

Fi
nd

in
g 

R
es

po
ns

e 
R

es
ou

rc
es

 
Ti

m
es

ca
le

 
Th

e 
op

tio
ns

 
fo

r 
se

rv
ic

e 
de

liv
er

y 
w

er
e 

in
ve

st
ig

at
ed

 a
nd

 a
lth

ou
gh

 i
t 

is
 a

pp
ar

en
t 

th
at

 
th

e 
se

rv
ic

e 
ca

nn
ot

 s
ta

y 
th

e 
sa

m
e,

 t
he

 2
 k

ey
 

fa
ct

or
s 

fo
r 

co
ns

id
er

in
g 

ou
ts

ou
rc

in
g 

(c
os

t 
re

du
ct

io
n 

an
d 

ris
k 

m
an

ag
em

en
t) 

ar
e 

no
w

he
re

 
ne

ar
 

st
ro

ng
 

en
ou

gh
 

fo
r 

ou
ts

ou
rc

in
g 

to
 

be
 

co
ns

id
er

ed
 v

ia
bl

e.
 

 S
er

vi
ce

 
M

an
ag

em
en

t 
w

as
 

id
en

tif
ie

d 
as

 
a 

pr
io

rit
y 

ar
ea

. T
hi

s 
pa

rt 
of

 th
e 

re
vi

ew
 c

om
pa

re
d 

th
e 

cu
rr

en
t 

po
si

tio
n 

of
 

IC
T 

w
ith

in
 

E
FD

C
, 

ag
ai

ns
t 

a 
fu

lly
 c

om
pl

ia
nt

 I
TI

L 
an

d 
IS

O
 2

00
00

 
fra

m
ew

or
k.

 C
ap

ita
 i

de
nt

ifi
ed

 s
om

e 
ex

am
pl

es
 

of
 g

oo
d 

pr
ac

tic
e,

 b
ut

 i
n 

th
e 

m
ai

n 
th

e 
m

od
el

 
id

en
tif

ie
d 

w
ea

kn
es

se
s 

in
 i

nc
id

en
t, 

pr
ob

le
m

, 
av

ai
la

bi
lit

y 
an

d 
co

nf
ig

ur
at

io
n 

m
an

ag
em

en
t. 

 

A
 r

es
tr

uc
tu

re
 i

s 
re

qu
ire

d 
w

ith
in

 I
C

T 
to

 f
ac

ili
ta

te
 t

he
 

be
st

 p
os

si
bl

e 
ad

op
tio

n 
of

 t
he

 I
TI

L 
fr

am
ew

or
k 

w
ith

in
 

cu
rr

en
tly

 a
va

ila
bl

e 
bu

dg
et

 a
nd

 re
so

ur
ce

s.
 

 C
ap

ita
 t

oo
k 

a 
pr

ag
m

at
ic

 a
pp

ro
ac

h,
 t

ak
in

g 
ac

co
un

t 
of

 
th

e 
si

ze
 a

nd
 r

es
ou

rc
es

 a
va

ila
bl

e 
to

 E
FD

C
, 

so
m

e 
of

 
th

e 
re

co
m

m
en

da
tio

ns
 m

ad
e,

 p
ar

tic
ul

ar
ly

 in
 re

la
tio

n 
to

 
Se

rv
ic

e 
M

an
ag

em
en

t, 
ca

nn
ot

 b
e 

im
pl

em
en

te
d 

fu
lly

 
w

ith
ou

t 
ad

di
tio

na
l 

re
so

ur
ce

s.
 

H
ow

ev
er

, 
IT

IL
 

is
 

a 
‘fr

am
ew

or
k’

 a
nd

 th
e 

ad
op

tio
n 

of
 e

ve
n 

sm
al

l p
ar

ts
 o

f i
t 

w
ou

ld
 im

pr
ov

e 
so

m
e 

of
 th

e 
is

su
es

 id
en

tif
ie

d.
  

 
EF

D
C

 
st

ill
 

ha
s 

so
m

e 
w

ay
 

to
 

go
 

to
 

m
at

ch
 

IT
IL

 
be

nc
hm

ar
ks

. 
H

ow
ev

er
, 

co
m

pa
ris

on
s 

w
ith

 
ot

he
r 

D
is

tr
ic

t 
C

ou
nc

ils
 h

ig
hl

ig
ht

ed
 r

el
at

iv
e 

st
re

ng
th

s 
as

 
w

el
l a

s 
ar

ea
s 

fo
r i

m
pr

ov
em

en
t. 

 

E
ve

ry
 e

ffo
rt 

w
ill

 
be

 m
ad

e 
to

 
pr

ov
id

e 
th

e 
ne

ce
ss

ar
y 

re
so

ur
ce

s 
fro

m
 

w
ith

in
 e

xi
st

in
g 

bu
dg

et
s.

 T
hi

s 
w

ill
 

be
 d

on
e 

as
 p

ar
t 

of
 th

e 
re

st
ru

ct
ur

in
g 

ex
er

ci
se

 b
ut

 th
e 

re
qu

ire
m

en
t f

or
 

ad
di

tio
na

l 
re

so
ur

ce
 c

an
no

t 
be

 ru
le

d 
ou

t a
t 

th
is

 s
ta

ge
. 

D
ec

em
be

r ‘
08

 

Th
e 

ab
se

nc
e 

of
 a

 lo
ng

 te
rm

 d
ev

el
op

m
en

t p
la

n 
an

d 
co

st
 m

od
el

 w
as

 h
ig

hl
ig

ht
ed

. 
It 

w
as

 a
ls

o 
id

en
tif

ie
d 

th
at

 I
C

T 
m

an
ag

er
s 

ar
e 

pe
rfo

rm
in

g 
du

al
 r

ol
es

 w
ith

 l
ar

ge
 a

m
ou

nt
s 

of
 t

im
e 

st
ill

 
be

in
g 

al
lo

ca
te

d 
to

 
se

rv
ic

e 
an

d 
pr

oj
ec

t 
de

liv
er

y.
 T

hi
s 

is
 a

 s
ym

pt
om

 o
f 

th
e 

ob
so

le
te

 
st

ru
ct

ur
e 

w
ith

in
 I

C
T 

an
d 

pr
ev

en
ts

 m
an

ag
er

s 
fro

m
 

co
nc

en
tra

tin
g 

on
 

lo
ng

-te
rm

 
is

su
es

. 
D

es
pi

te
 

th
es

e 
pr

ob
le

m
s 

IC
T 

co
st

s 
w

ith
in

 
E

FD
C

 a
re

 l
ow

er
 t

ha
n 

th
e 

D
is

tri
ct

 a
ve

ra
ge

 i
n 

bo
th

 c
os

ts
 p

er
 1

00
0 

po
pu

la
tio

n 
an

d 
co

st
s 

pe
r 

us
er

.  
  

Th
e 

pr
op

os
ed

 re
st

ru
ct

ur
e,

 s
ee

 a
bo

ve
, w

ill
 p

ut
 a

 m
or

e 
ap

pr
op

ria
te

 m
an

ag
em

en
t s

tr
uc

tu
re

 in
 p

la
ce

. O
nc

e 
th

is
 h

as
 b

ee
n 

ac
hi

ev
ed

 th
e 

cr
ea

tio
n 

of
 m

ed
iu

m
 a

nd
 

lo
ng

-te
rm

 p
la

ns
 w

ill
 b

e 
pr

io
rit

is
ed

. 
  

W
ith

in
 e

xi
st

in
g 

re
so

ur
ce

s.
 

M
ar

ch
 ‘0

9 
   

Page 38



A
pp

en
di

x 
2 

Fi
nd

in
g 

R
es

po
ns

e 
R

es
ou

rc
es

 
Ti

m
es

ca
le

 
O

th
er

 k
ey

 p
oi

nt
s 

id
en

tif
ie

d 
w

er
e;

 
 A

 la
ck

 o
f f

or
m

al
 d

ay
-to

-d
ay

 e
ng

ag
em

en
t. 

O
bs

ol
et

e 
se

rv
ic

e 
de

sk
 to

ol
. 

A
 c

on
fu

se
d 

ch
an

ge
 m

an
ag

em
en

t p
ro

ce
ss

. 
N

o 
en

d-
to

-e
nd

 in
ci

de
nt

 m
an

ag
em

en
t p

ro
ce

ss
. 

V
er

y 
lim

ite
d 

m
an

ag
em

en
t 

re
po

rti
ng

 
in

fo
rm

at
io

n.
 

A
 la

ck
 o

f S
er

vi
ce

 L
ev

el
 A

gr
ee

m
en

ts
 (S

LA
’s

). 
S

er
vi

ce
 C

on
tin

ui
ty

 P
la

n 
(D

is
as

te
r 

R
ec

ov
er

y)
 

in
 n

ee
d 

of
 re

vi
ew

. 

M
an

y 
of

 th
e 

is
su

es
 h

ad
 a

lre
ad

y 
be

en
 r

ec
og

ni
se

d 
an

d 
w

er
e 

be
in

g 
ad

dr
es

se
d.

 T
he

 o
bs

ol
et

e 
se

rv
ic

e 
to

ol
 h

as
 

be
en

 
re

pl
ac

ed
 

w
ith

 
a 

ne
w

 
ve

rs
io

n 
ca

pa
bl

e 
of

 
pr

od
uc

in
g 

m
an

ag
em

en
t r

ep
or

ts
 a

nd
 th

e 
de

ve
lo

pm
en

t 
of

 a
 s

im
pl

ifi
ed

 e
le

ct
ro

ni
c 

ch
an

ge
 c

on
tr

ol
 p

ro
ce

ss
 i

s 
cu

rr
en

tly
 u

nd
er

 w
ay

. T
he

 n
ee

d 
fo

r 
SL

A
’s

 is
 c

ur
re

nt
ly

 
be

in
g 

di
sc

us
se

d 
w

ith
 t

he
 s

er
vi

ce
s.

 T
he

 o
th

er
 i

ss
ue

s 
hi

gh
lig

ht
ed

 w
ill

 b
e 

ad
dr

es
se

d 
fo

llo
w

in
g 

th
e 

ad
op

tio
n 

of
 th

e 
IT

IL
 fr

am
ew

or
k.

  
 Th

e 
is

su
e 

co
nc

er
ni

ng
 t

he
 s

er
vi

ce
 c

on
tin

ui
ty

 w
ill

 b
e 

ad
dr

es
se

d 
as

 a
 p

rio
rit

y 
fo

llo
w

in
g 

th
e 

re
su

lts
 o

f 
th

e 
vi

rt
ua

lis
at

io
n 

as
se

ss
m

en
t, 

as
 

th
es

e 
re

su
lts

 
w

ill
 

he
av

ily
 in

flu
en

ce
 th

e 
m

et
ho

do
lo

gy
 a

do
pt

ed
. 

 

W
ith

in
 e

xi
st

in
g 

re
so

ur
ce

s.
 

M
ar

ch
 ‘0

9 
         S

ep
t ‘

09
 

C
ap

ita
’s

 
di

sc
us

si
on

s 
w

ith
 

th
e 

co
rp

or
at

e 
m

an
ag

em
en

t 
te

am
 i

de
nt

ifi
ed

 t
ha

t 
si

gn
ifi

ca
nt

 
st

ep
s 

ha
ve

 a
lre

ad
y 

be
en

 ta
ke

n 
to

 c
on

so
lid

at
e 

bu
si

ne
ss

 
an

d 
de

ve
lo

pm
en

t 
pl

an
s 

al
th

ou
gh

 
E

FD
C

 
is

 
st

ill
 

so
m

e 
w

ay
 

aw
ay

 
fro

m
 

be
st

 
pr

ac
tic

e.
 T

he
 c

re
at

io
n 

of
 a

n 
IC

T 
M

an
ag

em
en

t 
G

ro
up

 w
as

 r
ec

om
m

en
de

d 
to

 f
ur

th
er

 a
ss

is
t 

w
ith

 c
us

to
m

er
 e

ng
ag

em
en

t. 
 

 

Th
e 

su
gg

es
tio

n 
in

 
th

e 
re

po
rt

 
of

 
a 

se
pa

ra
te

 
IC

T 
st

ee
rin

g 
co

m
m

itt
ee

 a
nd

 a
n 

IC
T 

m
an

ag
em

en
t g

ro
up

 is
 

fe
lt 

to
 b

e 
ov

er
ly

 b
ur

ea
uc

ra
tic

 fo
r 

an
 a

ut
ho

rit
y 

th
e 

si
ze

 
of

 E
FD

C
. 

It 
sh

ou
ld

 b
e 

po
ss

ib
le

 t
o 

cr
ea

te
 a

 s
in

gl
e 

gr
ou

p 
ca

pa
bl

e 
of

 d
is

ch
ar

gi
ng

 th
es

e 
fu

nc
tio

ns
. 

 

W
ith

in
 e

xi
st

in
g 

re
so

ur
ce

s.
 

D
ec

em
be

r ‘
08

 

 

Page 39



Page 40

This page is intentionally left blank



Report to the Finance and Performance 
Management Cabinet Committee 

 
Report Reference: FPM-002-2008/09. 
Date of meeting:  16 June 2008. 
 
Portfolio:  Finance and Performance Management. 
 
Subject:  Risk Management – Updated Corporate Risk Register. 
 
Responsible Officer:   Brian Moldon  (01992  564606). 
                                                                        
Democratic Services Officer:  Gary Woodhall  (01992  564470). 
 
Recommendations/Decisions Required: 
 

1.    To agree the proposed amendments to the Corporate Risk Register;  
 
2. To consider whether there are any new risks that are not on the current 
Corporate Risk Register: and  
 
3. To consider whether the tolerance line on the risk matrix should be 
amended. 

 
Executive Summary: 
 
The last meeting of this Committee on 17 March 2008 received an update to the Corporate 
Risk Register. Management Board considered this version of the register on 21 May and a 
number of amendments and updates were made. The Corporate Governance Group then 
approved these changes on 28 May. 
 
A schedule detailing the most significant changes is attached at Appendix 1. 
  
Reasons for Proposed Decisions: 
 
It is essential that the Corporate Risk Register is regularly reviewed and kept upto date. The 
decisions are a necessary part of this well-established process. 
 
Other Options for Action: 
 
Members may not agree with the suggested changes to risk scores and could ask for the 
risks to be rated differently. 
 
Report: 
 
1. At the Management Board meeting on 21 May 2008, the risks and their scores were 
reviewed to take account of any changes since 17 March. It was felt that to reflect recent 
experience the scores for the risks on recruitment and sickness could be reduced. It was also 
felt that, following the elections, the risk relating to decision-making and the political balance 
of the authority could be removed from the register. For completeness, the review involved 
the consideration and updating of a number of the action plans.  
 
2. The summary of changes, attached at Appendix 1, includes the addition of an action 
plan for the new risk on data loss. At the previous meeting of this Committee Members 

Agenda Item 7

Page 41



determined that this risk should be scored as D2 (Low Likelihood, Critical Impact) placing it 
above the risk tolerance line. 
 
3. Members are now asked to consider the attached updated Corporate Risk Register 
(Appendix 2) and whether the risks listed are scored appropriately, whether there are any 
additional risks that should be included and whether the tolerance line needs to be amended.   

 
Resource Implications: 
 
No additional resource requirements. 
 
Legal and Governance Implications: 
 
No legal implications. The Corporate Risk Register is an important part of the Council’s 
overall governance arrangements and that is why this Committee considers it on a regular 
basis. 
 
Safer, Cleaner, Greener Implications: 
 
None. 
 
Consultation Undertaken: 
 
Management Board conducted the review and the Corporate Governance Group then 
approved their proposals. 
 
Background Papers: 
 
None. 
 
Impact Assessments: 
 
No equalities impacts. 
 
If the Corporate Risk Register was not regularly reviewed and updated a risk that threatened 
the achievement of corporate objectives might either not be managed or be managed 
inappropriately. 
 
 

Page 42



A
pp

en
di

x 
1 

S
um

m
ar

y 
of

 p
ro

po
se

d 
ch

an
ge

s 
to

 th
e 

C
or

po
ra

te
 R

is
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 

R
is

k 
C

ur
re

nt
 S

co
re

 
 

P
ro

po
se

d 
S

co
re

 
C

om
m

en
ts

 

1 
&

 1
3 

– 
R

ec
ru

itm
en

t i
n 

ke
y 

ar
ea

s 
B

2 
H

ig
h 

Li
ke

lih
oo

d 
/C

rit
ic

al
 Im

pa
ct

 

C
3 

S
ig

ni
fic

an
t L

ik
el

ih
oo

d 
 

/M
ar

gi
na

l I
m

pa
ct

 

R
ed

uc
tio

n 
in

 s
co

rin
g 

ap
pr

op
ria

te
 fo

llo
w

in
g 

co
rp

or
at

e 
re

st
ru

ct
ur

e 
an

d 
gi

ve
n 

cu
rr

en
t p

os
iti

on
 o

n 
re

cr
ui

tm
en

t. 
R

is
ks

 a
re

 n
ow

 b
el

ow
 th

e 
to

le
ra

nc
e 

lin
e.

 
 

6 
– 

P
ol

iti
ca

l b
al

an
ce

 o
f a

ut
ho

rit
y 

af
fe

ct
in

g 
de

ci
si

on
 m

ak
in

g 
E

2 
V

er
y 

lo
w

 L
ik

el
ih

oo
d 

/C
rit

ic
al

 Im
pa

ct
 

 
N

/A
 

G
iv

en
 a

 m
aj

or
ity

 n
ow

 e
xi

st
s 

an
d 

th
er

e 
ar

e 
no

 e
le

ct
io

ns
 

ne
xt

 y
ea

r t
hi

s 
ris

k 
is

 n
o 

lo
ng

er
 re

le
va

nt
 a

nd
 s

ho
ul

d 
be

 
re

m
ov

ed
 fr

om
 th

e 
re

gi
st

er
. 

 
15

 –
 S

ic
kn

es
s 

ab
se

nc
e 

D
3 

Lo
w

 L
ik

el
ih

oo
d/

 
M

ar
gi

na
l I

m
pa

ct
 

E
3 

V
er

y 
lo

w
 L

ik
el

ih
oo

d/
 

M
ar

gi
na

l I
m

pa
ct

 
 

R
ed

uc
tio

n 
re

fle
ct

s 
th

e 
su

cc
es

s 
in

 lo
w

er
in

g 
av

er
ag

e 
ab

se
nc

e 
le

ve
ls

 b
y 

tw
o 

da
ys

 in
 2

00
7/

08
. 

18
 –

 L
os

s 
or

 th
ef

t o
f d

at
a 

D
2 

Lo
w

 L
ik

el
ih

oo
d/

 
C

rit
ic

al
 Im

pa
ct

 

 
N

o 
ch

an
ge

 
M

em
be

rs
 d

et
er

m
in

ed
 th

at
 th

is
 ri

sk
 s

ho
ul

d 
be

 s
co

re
d 

at
 D

2 
at

 th
e 

la
st

 m
ee

tin
g 

of
 th

is
 C

om
m

itt
ee

. T
hi

s 
pl

ac
ed

 th
e 

ris
k 

ab
ov

e 
th

e 
to

le
ra

nc
e 

lin
e 

an
d 

so
 a

n 
ac

tio
n 

pl
an

 to
 m

an
ag

e 
th

e 
ris

k 
ha

s 
be

en
 a

dd
ed

 to
 th

e 
R

eg
is

te
r. 

Page 43



Page 44

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 Page 1 of 17 

Appendix 2 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Epping Forest District Council 
 

Corporate Risk Register 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Date: 16 June 2008 
 

Page 45



 

 Page 2 of 17 

Contents 
 

Page 
 

1. Introduction......................................................................................................................3 
 
2. The Process ....................................................................................................................3 

 
2.1 Risk identification .....................................................................................................3 
2.2 Risk analysis and prioritisation.................................................................................4 
2.3 Risk management and monitoring ...........................................................................4 

 
3. Results ............................................................................................................................5 

 
3.1 Risk profile ...............................................................................................................5 
3.2 Above the line Risk clusters .....................................................................................5 

 
Appendix 1 – Risk Register ....................................................................................................6 
 
Appendix 2 – Action Plans ...................................................................................................14 
 
 

Page 46



 

 Page 3 of 17 

1. Introduction  
 
Risk Management is the process of identifying risks, evaluating their potential 
consequences and determining the most effective methods of controlling them and/or 
responding to them.  It is not an end in itself.  Rather, risk management is a means of 
minimising the costs and disruption to the organisation caused by undesired events. 
 
The aim is to reduce the frequency of risk events occurring (where possible) and minimise 
the severity of their consequences if they do occur. 
 
 

2. The Process 
 
To manage risk effectively, the risk associated with each policy option or service delivery 
method needs to be systematically identified, analysed, prioritised, controlled and 
monitored.  This process is referred to as the risk management cycle, which can be seen 
below. 
 

 

The Risk Management Cycle

RISK IDENTIFICATION

RISK ANALYSIS

PRIORITISATION
RISK MANAGEMENT

MONITORING

Page 47



 

 Page 4 of 17 

2.1 Risk identification 
 
The first of five stages of the risk management cycle requires risk identification. This is 
achieved through standing items on Corporate Governance Group and Management Board 
and from discussions at the Risk Management Group, which is held quarterly.  Risk is 
covered under 13 categories of risk as shown below. 
 

` 

Political

Economic Social

Legislative/ 
Regulatory 

Environ-
mental

Competitive Customer/

Citizen

Managerial/ 
Professional 

Financial Legal Partnership/
Contractual

Physical

Techno-

logical

Step 1:Identification 

RISK IDENTIFICATION 

RISK ANALYSIS 

PRIORITISATION 
RISK MANAGEMENT

MONITORING

 
 

2.2 Risk analysis and prioritisation 
 
Once the risks are identified, these are then assessed for impact and likelihood and plotted 
onto a matrix.  The impact, compared against the objectives of the Authority, (Council Policy 
Themes and Aims), was measured as being negligible, marginal, critical or catastrophic.  
The likelihood, of the risks occurring over the next three years, was measured as being 
almost impossible, very low, low, significant, high or very high. 
 
A group of Members and Senior Officers originally set the risk tolerance line, which involved 
considering each of the squares on the matrix and deciding if they were prepared to tolerate 
a risk in that box or if they wanted to actively manage it. This theoretical tolerance line 
effectively splits the risks on the matrix, with those risks above the line requiring further 
scrutiny and those below the line not requiring high-level intervention at this time.  The 
Finance and Performance Management Cabinet Committee now review this twice a year. 
 

Page 48



 

 Page 5 of 17 

2.3 Risk management and monitoring 
 
The next stage is to complete management action plans.  These plans frame the risk 
management actions that are required.  They map out the target for each risk i.e. to reduce 
the likelihood, impact or both.  They also include targets and critical success factors to allow 
the risk management action to be monitored.  
 
The monitoring of these action plans will take place at Corporate Governance Group, 
Management Board and the Risk Management Group.  The action plans are also reported 
to Members quarterly.  

 

3. Results 
 

3.1 Risk profile 
 
The risk profile and priority are given below. 
 
 
 
 

Likelihood: 
A Very High 
B High 
C Significant 
D Low 
E Very Low 
F Almost Impossible 
 
 
Impact: 
1 Catastrophic 
2 Critical 
3 Marginal 
4 Negligible 

                               
Appendix 1 shows all the risks that were rated on the profile. 

A  11   

B   4 3 

C  1, 13 8  

D 12, 22 2, 16, 
24 

17, 18, 
20  

 

E  5, 7b, 
14, 15, 
21, 23 

7a, 9, 
10, 19 

 

   
   

Li
ke

lih
oo

d 

F     

  4 3 2 1 
  Impact     

Page 49



 

 Page 6 of 17 

3.2 Above the line Risk clusters 
 
The 7 above the line risks have been grouped into 6 clusters that will help to streamline the 
action planning process. These are shown below: 
 
Cluster name Risk 

Scenarios 
 

Executive Priority/ 
Council Plan Objective 

East of England Plan 3, 4 ExP iv, Green & Unique 1 
 

Business Continuity Planning 8 Improving Performance 4 
& 5 
 

Local housing needs 11 ExP iii, Homes & 
Neighbourhoods 1 
 

Capital receipts spent on non revenue 
generating assets 

17 ExP i, Economic 
Prosperity 1 
 

Loss or theft of data 18 Improving Performance 4  
 

Key Contracts 20 ExP v, Green & Unique 2, 
Fit for Life 1 
 

 
 
The action plans can be seen at Appendix 2 
 
Relevant Executive Priorities (ExP) 2007/08 (to be updated once 2008/09 priorities agreed) 
 
(i) To maintain a sound financial position; 
(iii) To investigate new proposals for affordable housing in the district; 
(iv) To work with other LA’s in respect of the Green Belt and the final published version of 
the East of England Plan; 
(v) To monitor the new waste contract. 
 
 
Council Plan Objectives 
 
The Council Plan objectives referred to above are contained in the Action Plan of the 
Council Plan 2006-2010, which can be found on pages 74 to 87 of that document.

Page 50



 

Ve
rs

io
n 

9 
– 

16
/0

6/
08

 
 

 
Pa

ge
 7

 o
f 

A
pp

en
di

x 
1 

– 
R

is
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 Ri

sk
s m

ar
ke

d 
“ *

 ” 
ar

e a
bo

ve
 to

ler
an

ce
 an

d 
re

qu
ire

 m
an

ag
in

g 
No

 
Ra

tin
g 

 
Sh

or
t n

am
e 

Vu
ln

er
ab

ilit
y 

Tr
ig

ge
r 

Co
ns

eq
ue

nc
e 

3 
B1

 
* 

Ea
st 

of 
En

gla
nd

 
Pl

an
 – 

ho
us

ing
 bu

ilt 
wi

tho
ut 

inf
ra

str
uc

tur
e 

Th
e E

as
t o

f E
ng

lan
d p

lan
 w

ill 
me

an
 a 

sig
nif

ica
ntl

y i
nc

re
as

ed
 le

ve
l o

f h
ou

sin
g i

n 
the

 di
str

ict
.  

 Th
e i

nc
re

as
ed

 nu
mb

er
 of

 ho
us

es
 w

ill 
re

qu
ire

 an
 ac

co
mp

an
yin

g l
ev

el 
of 

inf
ra

str
uc

tur
e i

mp
ro

ve
me

nts
 (t

ra
ns

po
rt,

 
sc

ho
ols

, h
os

pit
als

)  
 

Ho
us

es
 bu

ilt 
wi

tho
ut 

ac
co

mp
an

yin
g 

im
pr

ov
em

en
ts 

in 
inf

ra
str

uc
tur

e 

• 
De

ma
nd

s o
n s

er
vic

es
 in

cre
as

e 
• 

Inf
ra

str
uc

tur
e i

s p
ut 

un
de

r p
re

ss
ur

e 
• 

Tr
an

sp
or

t s
ys

tem
 un

de
r p

re
ss

ur
e 

• 
Ar

ea
 be

co
me

s l
es

s a
ttr

ac
tiv

e t
o e

mp
loy

er
s 

• 
Ar

ea
 be

co
me

s l
es

s a
ttr

ac
tiv

e p
lac

e t
o l

ive
 

   

4 
B2

 
* 

Ea
st 

of 
En

gla
nd

 
Pl

an
 – 

un
ab

le 
to 

ag
re

e j
oin

ed
 up

 
pla

n 

Th
e E

as
t o

f E
ng

lan
d p

lan
 m

ea
ns

 a 
ma

jor
 

am
ou

nt 
of 

gr
ow

th 
is 

pla
nn

ed
 fo

r t
he

 
dis

tric
t, b

oth
 in

 te
rm

s o
f h

ou
sin

g a
nd

 
inf

ra
str

uc
tur

e. 
Th

is 
is 

pa
rt 

of 
a n

ati
on

al 
Go

ve
rn

me
nt 

ag
en

da
 

 Th
is 

is 
se

en
 by

 so
me

 as
 an

 op
po

rtu
nit

y t
o 

de
ve

lop
 a 

sig
nif

ica
nt 

ar
ea

 of
 th

e d
ist

ric
t 

 

Co
un

cil
 un

ab
le 

to 
ag

re
e a

 jo
ine

d u
p 

pla
n w

ith
 al

l o
the

r 
inv

olv
ed

 pa
rtie

s 

• 
So

lut
ion

 (U
RC

) f
or

ce
d o

n C
ou

nc
il 

• 
Co

un
cil

 no
t p

ro
pe

rly
 re

co
mp

en
se

d f
or

 C
ou

nc
il l

an
d 

• 
Inc

re
as

ed
 am

ou
nt 

of 
de

ve
lop

me
nt 

/ h
ou

se
s 

• 
Un

ab
le 

to 
ma

xim
ise

 op
po

rtu
nit

y t
o d

ev
elo

p a
re

as
 of

 
dis

tric
t 

• 
Po

ss
ibl

e b
ou

nd
ar

y c
ha

ng
es

 
   

8 
C2

  
* 

Bu
sin

es
s 

Co
nti

nu
ity

 
Ma

na
ge

me
nt 

Th
e C

ou
nc

il i
s r

eq
uir

ed
 to

 de
ve

lop
 an

d 
im

ple
me

nt 
ro

bu
st 

Bu
sin

es
s C

on
tin

uit
y 

Pl
an

s i
n l

ine
 w

ith
 th

e r
eq

uir
em

en
ts 

of 
the

 
Ci

vil
 C

on
tin

ge
nc

ies
 A

ct 
 

  

Un
ab

le 
to 

re
sp

on
d 

eff
ec

tiv
ely

 to
 a 

bu
sin

es
s c

on
tin

uit
y 

inc
ide

nt 
(e

.g.
 IT

 
vir

us
 / f

lu 
pa

nd
em

ic)
 

 

• 
Se

rvi
ce

s d
isr

up
ted

 / L
os

s o
f s

er
vic

e 
• 

Po
ss

ibl
e l

os
s o

f in
co

me
 

• 
St

aff
 ab

se
nc

e 
• 

Ha
rd

sh
ip 

for
 so

me
 of

 th
e c

om
mu

nit
y 

• 
Co

un
cil

 cr
itic

ise
d f

or
 no

t r
es

po
nd

ing
 ef

fec
tiv

ely
 

 

Page 51



 

Ve
rs

io
n 

9 
– 

16
/0

6/
08

 
 

 
Pa

ge
 8

 o
f 

No
 

Ra
tin

g 
 

Sh
or

t n
am

e 
Vu

ln
er

ab
ilit

y 
Tr

ig
ge

r 
Co

ns
eq

ue
nc

e 
11

 
A3

 
* 

Un
ab

le 
to 

pr
ov

ide
 

su
ffic

ien
t h

ou
sin

g 
for

 lo
ca

l p
eo

ple
 

Th
e C

ou
nc

il h
as

 ta
rg

ets
 in

 te
rm

s o
f k

ey
 

ho
us

ing
 ne

ed
s a

nd
 af

for
da

ble
 ho

us
ing

, 
ho

we
ve

r, 
the

re
 is

 a 
sh

or
tag

e o
f a

va
ila

ble
 

lan
d i

n t
he

 di
str

ict
 fo

r h
ou

sin
g a

nd
 

ec
on

om
ic 

de
ve

lop
me

nt,
 w

ith
 hi

gh
 ho

us
e 

pr
ice

s. 
 

 

Un
ab

le 
to 

pr
ov

ide
 

su
ffic

ien
t h

ou
sin

g f
or

 
loc

al 
pe

op
le 

• 
Un

ab
le 

to 
ac

hie
ve

 ta
rg

ets
 fo

r a
ffo

rd
ab

le 
ho

us
ing

 
• 

Co
un

cil
 se

en
 as

 fa
ilin

g 
• 

Di
str

ict
 be

co
me

s m
or

e s
ub

ur
ba

n 
• 

Yo
un

g p
eo

ple
 le

av
e a

re
a/I

nc
re

as
ed

 el
de

rly
 po

pu
lat

ion
 

• 
Ch

ar
ac

ter
 of

 di
str

ict
 ch

an
ge

s 

17
 

D2
 

* 
Si

gn
ific

an
t a

mo
un

t 
of 

ca
pit

al 
re

ce
ipt

s 
sp

en
t o

n n
on

 
re

ve
nu

e g
en

er
ati

ng
 

as
se

ts 

Th
e a

uth
or

ity
 is

 cu
rre

ntl
y d

eb
t fr

ee
, 

ho
we

ve
r m

uc
h o

f th
e b

ud
ge

t is
 re

lia
nt 

on
 

ca
pit

al 
re

ce
ipt

s g
ain

ed
 fr

om
 sa

le 
of 

as
se

ts 
an

d i
nte

re
st 

inc
om

e f
ro

m 
inv

es
tm

en
t. 

Th
er

e i
s a

 5-
ye

ar
 ca

pit
al 

pr
og

ra
mm

e 
pla

nn
ed

, w
ith

 a 
no

ted
 de

cli
ne

 in
 th

e s
ale

 
of 

co
un

cil
 as

se
ts,

 pa
rtic

ula
rly

 ho
us

ing
 

sto
ck

.  
 

Au
tho

rity
 sp

en
ds

 a 
sig

nif
ica

nt 
am

ou
nt 

of 
ca

pit
al 

re
ce

ipt
s o

n 
no

n r
ev

en
ue

 
ge

ne
ra

tin
g a

ss
ets

 
e.g

.  h
ou

sin
g g

ra
nt 

 

• 
Lo

ss
 of

 in
ter

es
t 

• 
Lo

ss
 of

 co
ve

r f
or

 co
nti

ng
en

cie
s 

• 
Fin

an
cia

l s
tra

teg
y b

ec
om

es
 un

ten
ab

le 
in 

the
 lo

ng
 te

rm
 

• 
Se

rvi
ce

 re
du

cti
on

s r
eq

uir
ed

 
• 

La
rg

e C
ou

nc
il T

ax
 in

cre
as

es
 re

qu
ire

d 
 

18
 

D2
 

* 
Lo

ss
 or

 th
eft

 of
 

da
ta 

Th
e A

uth
or

ity
 ha

nd
les

 a 
lar

ge
 am

ou
nt 

of 
da

ta.
 E

ith
er

 th
ro

ug
h h

ac
kin

g o
r 

ca
re

les
sn

es
s s

ec
ur

ity
 of

 th
e d

ata
 co

uld
 be

 
co

mp
ro

mi
se

d. 
 

Da
ta 

he
ld 

by
 th

e 
Co

un
cil

 en
ds

 up
 in

 
ina

pp
ro

pr
iat

e h
an

ds
. 

• 
Br

ea
ch

 of
 co

rp
or

ate
 go

ve
rn

an
ce

 
• 

Inc
re

as
ed

 co
sts

 an
d l

eg
al 

im
pli

ca
tio

ns
 

• 
Re

pu
tat

ion
 da

ma
ge

d 

20
 

D2
 

* 
Ke

y c
on

tra
ct 

co
lla

ps
es

 or
 

se
rvi

ce
 le

ve
ls 

de
ter

ior
ate

  

So
me

 ke
y c

ou
nc

il s
er

vic
es

 ar
e b

ein
g 

pr
ov

ide
d b

y c
on

tra
cto

rs.
 T

he
re

 ha
ve

 be
en

 
ch

an
ge

s i
n t

er
ms

 of
 se

rvi
ce

 de
liv

er
y a

nd
 

the
re

 ar
e c

on
ce

rn
s a

ro
un

d t
he

 ab
ilit

y o
f  

co
ntr

ac
tor

s t
o m

ee
t s

er
vic

e c
ha

ng
es

 an
d 

de
liv

er
 th

e r
eq

uir
ed

 le
ve

l o
f p

er
for

ma
nc

e. 

Co
ntr

ac
tor

 co
lla

ps
es

 
/ is

 un
ab

le 
to 

pr
ov

ide
 

se
rvi

ce
 

or
 

Se
rvi

ce
 le

ve
l 

de
ter

ior
ate

s 
 

• 
Se

rvi
ce

 fa
ils

 / a
dv

er
se

ly 
aff

ec
ted

 
• 

Al
ter

na
tiv

e a
rra

ng
em

en
ts 

ne
ed

 to
 be

 m
ad

e 
• 

Inc
re

as
ed

 co
sts

 an
d l

eg
al 

im
pli

ca
tio

ns
 

• 
He

alt
h r

isk
s 

• 
Di

ss
ati

sfi
ed

 cu
sto

me
rs 

• 
Ce

ns
ur

e b
y a

ud
it/i

ns
pe

cti
on

 
 

1 
C3

 
 

Re
cru

itm
en

t in
 ke

y 
ar

ea
s 

Th
e a

uth
or

ity
 is

 cu
rre

ntl
y c

ar
ryi

ng
 

va
ca

nc
ies

 an
d f

ind
ing

 it 
dif

fic
ult

 to
 re

cru
it 

in 
se

ve
ra

l p
ro

fes
sio

na
l a

re
as

, e
sp

. 
bu

ild
ing

 co
ntr

ol,
 en

vir
on

me
nta

l h
ea

lth
 an

d 
to 

jun
ior

 m
an

ag
em

en
t r

ole
s. 

Ke
y p

os
ts 

re
ma

in 
un

fill
ed

/ta
ke

 
un

ac
ce

pta
ble

 
len

gth
s o

f ti
me

 to
 fil

l  
 

• 
Pr

es
su

re
s o

n e
xis

tin
g s

taf
f 

• 
Di

ffic
ult

ies
 in

 su
cc

es
sio

n p
lan

nin
g 

• 
Re

lia
nc

e o
n a

ge
nc

y s
taf

f / 
co

ns
ult

an
ts 

• 
Ad

ve
rse

 im
pa

ct 
on

 se
rvi

ce
 de

liv
er

y 
 

Page 52



 

Ve
rs

io
n 

9 
– 

16
/0

6/
08

 
 

 
Pa

ge
 9

 o
f 

No
 

Ra
tin

g 
 

Sh
or

t n
am

e 
Vu

ln
er

ab
ilit

y 
Tr

ig
ge

r 
Co

ns
eq

ue
nc

e 
13

 
C3

 
 

Ke
y o

bje
cti

ve
s n

ot 
de

liv
er

ed
 du

e t
o 

ca
pa

cit
y i

ss
ue

s 

Th
e C

ou
nc

il i
s f

ac
ing

 a 
ch

all
en

gin
g 

ag
en

da
 w

ith
 a 

nu
mb

er
 of

 in
itia

tiv
es

 an
d 

pr
oje

cts
.  

 Th
er

e i
s a

 co
nc

er
n t

he
 co

rp
or

ate
 co

re
, in

 
pa

rtic
ula

r, 
is 

lig
ht 

in 
ter

ms
 of

 st
aff

ing
, 

re
so

ur
ce

 an
d c

ap
ac

ity
. A

nd
 w

hil
e t

he
 

Co
un

cil
 ha

s t
he

 fin
an

cia
l re

so
ur

ce
s t

o 
de

liv
er

 on
 ke

y p
rio

riti
es

, it
 m

ay
 no

t h
av

e 
su

ffic
ien

t H
R 

ca
pa

cit
y 

 Th
er

e a
re

 co
nc

er
ns

 ar
ou

nd
 ov

er
loa

d a
nd

 
a r

ec
og

nis
ed

 ne
ed

 to
 se

t a
ch

iev
ab

le 
ag

en
da

s a
nd

 no
t m

ak
e u

na
ch

iev
ab

le 
pr

om
ise

s. 
 

Co
un

cil
 fa

ils
 to

 
de

liv
er

 ke
y 

ob
jec

tiv
es

 on
 tim

e 

• 
Sl

ipp
ag

e o
n k

ey
 pr

oje
cts

 / i
nit

iat
ive

s 
• 

De
ad

lin
es

 an
d t

ar
ge

ts 
no

t m
et 

• 
La

ck
 of

 fo
cu

s 
• 

W
or

klo
ad

s i
nc

re
as

e 
• 

St
aff

 de
mo

tiv
ate

d 

7a
 

E2
 

 
Co

mp
lia

nc
e w

ith
 

re
gu

lat
ion

s 
Th

e C
ab

ine
t s

ys
tem

 le
ad

s t
o g

re
ate

r 
inv

olv
em

en
t o

f m
em

be
rs 

in 
the

 da
y t

o d
ay

 
ru

nn
ing

 of
 th

e A
uth

or
ity

. It
 is

 im
po

rta
nt 

tha
t m

em
be

rs 
inv

olv
ed

 in
 op

er
ati

on
al 

iss
ue

s u
nd

er
sta

nd
 th

e p
ro

ce
ss

es
. 

 Co
un

cil
lor

s a
tte

mp
t to

 de
liv

er
 ch

an
ge

, 
ho

we
ve

r t
he

re
 is

 a 
pe

rce
pti

on
 th

at 
thi

s 
ma

y n
ot 

alw
ay

s b
e d

on
e i

n f
ull

 
ac

co
rd

an
ce

 w
ith

 pr
op

er
 pr

oc
es

se
s a

nd
 

pr
oc

ed
ur

es
, w

ith
 po

ss
ibl

e c
or

po
ra

te 
go

ve
rn

an
ce

 an
d l

eg
al 

im
pli

ca
tio

ns
. 

 

A 
de

cis
ion

 is
 m

ad
e /

 
ac

tio
n t

ak
en

 w
hic

h 
br

ea
ch

es
 

re
gu

lat
ion

s 
   

• 
Br

ea
ch

 of
 co

rp
or

ate
 go

ve
rn

an
ce

 
• 

Pr
ofe

ss
ion

al 
op

ini
on

s c
ha

lle
ng

ed
 

• 
Pr

ob
ity

 of
 de

cis
ion

 an
d d

ec
isi

on
 m

ak
ing

 pr
oc

es
s 

qu
es

tio
ne

d 
• 

Ad
ve

rse
 ef

fec
t o

n p
er

for
ma

nc
e 

• 
Co

un
cil

 cr
itic

ise
d 

9 
E2

 
 

De
po

t 
Ac

co
mm

od
ati

on
 

Th
at 

the
 C

ou
nc

il i
s u

na
ble

 to
 pr

ov
ide

 
ad

eq
ua

te 
ac

co
mm

od
ati

on
 fo

r a
ll 

co
ntr

ac
ted

 de
po

t u
se

rs.
 

De
po

t s
ite

s 
dis

po
se

d o
f p

rio
r t

o 
re

pla
ce

me
nt 

fac
ilit

ies
 be

ing
 

av
ail

ab
le.

 

• 
Ad

ve
rse

 im
pa

ct 
on

 se
rvi

ce
 de

liv
er

y 
• 

Inc
re

as
ed

 co
sts

 an
d l

eg
al 

im
pli

ca
tio

ns
 

• 
Co

un
cil

 cr
itic

ise
d 

Page 53



 

Ve
rs

io
n 

9 
– 

16
/0

6/
08

 
 

 
Pa

ge
 1

0 
of

 1

No
 

Ra
tin

g 
 

Sh
or

t n
am

e 
Vu

ln
er

ab
ilit

y 
Tr

ig
ge

r 
Co

ns
eq

ue
nc

e 
10

 
E2

 
 

Re
vis

ed
 

Or
ga

nis
ati

on
al 

St
ru

ctu
re

 

Th
e s

tru
ctu

re
 of

 th
e C

ou
nc

il h
as

 be
en

 
re

vis
ed

 an
d w

ill 
ne

ed
 to

 be
d d

ow
n o

ve
r a

 
pe

rio
d o

f ti
me

. T
he

re
 ar

e c
on

ce
rn

s, 
tha

t 
re

du
cti

on
s i

n t
he

 nu
mb

er
 of

 po
sts

 m
ay

 
re

du
ce

 ca
pa

cit
y a

t s
en

ior
 le

ve
ls.

  
 It i

s i
mp

or
tan

t to
 en

su
re

 th
e A

uth
or

ity
 is

 
no

t to
o i

nte
rn

all
y f

oc
us

se
d, 

wi
th 

too
 m

uc
h 

co
nc

en
tra

tio
n o

n o
pe

ra
tio

na
l is

su
es

, to
 

the
 de

trim
en

t o
f s

tra
teg

ic 
dir

ec
tio

n. 
  

La
ck

 of
 di

re
cti

on
 on

 
ke

y i
nit

iat
ive

s /
 

str
ate

gie
s 

• 
Un

cle
ar

 pr
ior

itie
s a

nd
 ob

jec
tiv

es
 

• 
Di

ffic
ult

 to
 ta

ck
le 

ma
jor

 is
su

es
 lik

e c
ha

ng
ing

 cu
ltu

re
 

• 
La

ck
 of

 co
rp

or
ate

 w
or

kin
g 

• 
Co

un
cil

 do
es

 no
t m

ov
e f

or
wa

rd
 

• 
Ex

ter
na

l c
riti

cis
m 

of 
Co

un
cil

 

19
 

E2
 

 
Pl

an
nin

g s
er

vic
e 

do
es

 no
t im

pr
ov

e 
Pl

an
nin

g w
as

 a 
po

or
ly 

pe
rfo

rm
ing

 ar
ea

 
wi

th 
so

me
 bo

tto
m 

qu
ar

tile
 pe

rfo
rm

an
ce

. 
Ho

we
ve

r, 
sig

nif
ica

nt 
im

pr
ov

em
en

ts 
in 

pe
rfo

rm
an

ce
 ha

ve
 be

en
 se

en
. 

  

Pl
an

nin
g s

er
vic

e 
do

es
 no

t m
ain

tai
n 

im
pr

ov
em

en
t 

• 
La

ck
 of

 m
em

be
r c

on
fid

en
ce

 
• 

CP
A 

sc
or

e a
ffe

cte
d 

• 
Re

pu
tat

ion
 da

ma
ge

d 

2 
D3

 
 

Inc
on

sis
ten

t 
ap

pr
oa

ch
 to

 
pr

oc
ur

em
en

t 

Pr
oc

ur
em

en
t is

 in
co

ns
ist

en
t a

cro
ss

 th
e 

au
tho

rity
, w

ith
 th

e s
tra

teg
y s

till
 ne

ed
ing

 to
 

be
 em

be
dd

ed
 an

d s
om

e r
es

ist
an

ce
 to

 
ini

tia
tiv

es
. 

  

Inc
on

sis
ten

t 
ap

pr
oa

ch
 to

 
pr

oc
ur

em
en

t 
co

nti
nu

es
 

  

• 
Au

tho
rity

 fu
rth

er
 be

hin
d i

n t
er

ms
 of

 e-
pr

oc
ur

em
en

t 
• 

Ef
fic

ien
cy

 sa
vin

gs
 no

t m
ad

e o
r c

on
tra

cts
 fa

il 
• 

Be
ne

fits
 of

 pr
oc

ur
em

en
t a

pp
ro

ac
he

s n
ot 

ac
hie

ve
d 

• 
Pr

oc
ur

ed
 se

rvi
ce

 po
or

/no
t v

alu
e f

or
 m

on
ey

 
•  

   C
riti

cis
m 

by
 in

sp
ec

tio
n 

16
 

D3
 

 
Pe

rfo
rm

an
ce

 
ma

na
ge

me
nt 

A 
pe

rfo
rm

an
ce

 m
an

ag
em

en
t fr

am
ew

or
k 

an
d s

ys
tem

s a
re

 in
 pl

ac
e b

ut 
ar

e n
ot 

ye
t 

ful
ly 

em
be

dd
ed

 w
ith

in 
the

 au
tho

rity
, w

ith
 

no
 re

al 
cu

ltu
re

 of
 pe

rfo
rm

an
ce

. 
 Pe

rfo
rm

an
ce

 in
for

ma
tio

n i
s s

ee
n a

s a
 

me
an

s r
ath

er
 th

an
 an

 en
d. 

Pe
rfo

rm
an

ce
 

ma
na

ge
me

nt 
no

t 
ap

pli
ed

 co
ns

ist
en

tly
 

ac
ro

ss
 th

e C
ou

nc
il 

• 
Pe

rfo
rm

an
ce

 m
an

ag
em

en
t tr

ea
ted

 as
 a 

co
mp

lia
nc

e 
ex

er
cis

e  
• 

Im
pr

ov
em

en
t d

oe
s n

ot 
oc

cu
r 

• 
Se

rvi
ce

 de
liv

er
y a

dv
er

se
ly 

aff
ec

ted
 

• 
Cr

itic
ism

 fr
om

 in
sp

ec
tio

n /
 au

dit
 

• 
Im

ag
e o

f C
ou

nc
il d

am
ag

ed
 

 

Page 54



 

Ve
rs

io
n 

9 
– 

16
/0

6/
08

 
 

 
Pa

ge
 1

1 
of

 1

No
 

Ra
tin

g 
 

Sh
or

t n
am

e 
Vu

ln
er

ab
ilit

y 
Tr

ig
ge

r 
Co

ns
eq

ue
nc

e 
24

 
D3

 
 

Ca
sh

 ba
lan

ce
s 

Re
ten

tio
n o

f la
rg

e r
es

er
ve

s a
nd

 ba
lan

ce
s 

fai
ls 

to 
pr

ov
ide

 be
st 

va
lue

 an
d r

es
tric

ts 
the

 
de

ve
lop

me
nt 

of 
ke

y s
er

vic
es

. 
 

Ke
y s

er
vic

e 
de

ter
ior

ate
s d

ue
 to

 
lac

k o
f r

es
ou

rce
s. 

• 
Se

rvi
ce

 de
liv

er
y a

dv
er

se
ly 

aff
ec

ted
 

• 
Cr

itic
ism

 fr
om

 in
sp

ec
tio

n /
 au

dit
 

• 
Sl

ipp
ag

e o
n k

ey
 pr

oje
cts

 
• 

Di
ss

ati
sfi

ed
 cu

sto
me

rs 
 

5 
E3

 
 

Lo
ca

l G
ov

er
nm

en
t 

Re
or

ga
nis

ati
on

 
wh

ich
 is

 
de

trim
en

tal
 to

 th
e 

Co
un

cil
 an

d 
Co

mm
un

ity
 

Ev
en

 th
ou

gh
 th

er
e a

re
 no

 cu
rre

nt 
pr

op
os

als
 to

 ch
an

ge
 bo

un
da

rie
s i

n E
ss

ex
, 

the
re

 re
ma

ins
 a 

co
nc

er
n t

ha
t th

is 
mi

gh
t 

ch
an

ge
.  

 EF
DC

 is
 cu

rre
ntl

y d
eb

t-f
re

e a
nd

 an
y r

e-
or

ga
nis

ati
on

 m
ay

 in
vo

lve
 ne

igh
bo

ur
ing

 
au

tho
riti

es
 w

ho
 ar

e n
ot 

as
 fin

an
cia

lly
 

se
cu

re
. 

 

Re
or

ga
nis

ati
on

 
wh

ich
 is

 de
trim

en
tal

 
to 

the
 C

ou
nc

il a
nd

 
Co

mm
un

ity
 

• 
Ou

tflo
w 

of 
re

so
ur

ce
s f

ro
m 

dis
tric

t 
• 

Ch
an

ge
 of

 fo
cu

s t
o w

ide
r f

oc
us

 
• 

Ex
ist

ing
 pr

ior
itie

s s
top

pe
d 

• 
Pr

oje
cts

 st
op

pe
d /

 de
lay

ed
 

• 
Ch

an
ge

 in
 di

re
cti

on
 

 

7b
 

E3
 

 
Pu

bli
c c

om
me

nts
 at

 
me

mb
er

 le
ve

l m
ay

 
co

mm
it t

he
 C

ou
nc

il 
to 

po
lic

ies
 or

 
ac

tio
ns

  

Th
e C

ab
ine

t s
ys

tem
 le

ad
s t

o g
re

ate
r 

inv
olv

em
en

t o
f m

em
be

rs 
in 

the
 da

y t
o d

ay
 

ru
nn

ing
 of

 th
e A

uth
or

ity
. 

 Th
er

e i
s a

 co
nc

er
n, 

ho
we

ve
r, 

at 
wh

at 
co

uld
 be

 pe
rce

ive
d a

s a
 ‘s

ca
tte

rg
un

 
ap

pr
oa

ch
’, p

ar
tic

ula
rly

 ar
ou

nd
 in

div
idu

al 
ini

tia
tiv

es
, i.

e. 
tha

t d
ec

isi
on

s a
re

 
so

me
tim

es
 m

ad
e o

n t
he

 ba
sis

 of
 pu

bli
c 

po
pu

lar
ity

, w
ith

ou
t p

ro
pe

r e
va

lua
tio

n a
nd

 
tha

t c
om

me
nts

 m
ad

e c
ou

ld 
be

 se
en

 as
 

co
mm

itm
en

ts 
no

t o
pin

ion
s. 

 
 

Pr
om

ise
s m

ad
e t

o 
pu

bli
c w

ith
ou

t fi
rm

 
we

igh
t o

f C
ou

nc
il 

be
hin

d t
he

m 
 

• 
Co

un
cil

 po
lic

y ‘
ma

de
 on

 th
e h

oo
f’ 

• 
Co

un
cil

 se
nd

s o
ut 

mi
xe

d m
es

sa
ge

s 
• 

Po
lic

ies
 no

t d
eli

ve
re

d 
• 

Pu
bli

c o
pin

ion
 tu

rn
s a

ga
ins

t th
e C

ou
nc

il 
• 

Po
ss

ibl
e l

eg
al 

im
pli

ca
tio

ns
 of

 de
cis

ion
 

 

Page 55



 

Ve
rs

io
n 

9 
– 

16
/0

6/
08

 
 

 
Pa

ge
 1

2 
of

 1

No
 

Ra
tin

g 
 

Sh
or

t n
am

e 
Vu

ln
er

ab
ilit

y 
Tr

ig
ge

r 
Co

ns
eq

ue
nc

e 
14

 
E3

 
 

Ke
y i

nit
iat

ive
s 

re
sis

ted
 / d

ela
ye

d 
by

 cu
ltu

re
 of

 
au

tho
rity

 

Th
er

e i
s a

 vi
ew

 th
at 

the
 au

tho
rity

 ne
ed

s t
o 

sig
nif

ica
ntl

y c
ha

ng
e m

ea
ns

 of
 se

rvi
ce

 
de

liv
er

y t
o m

ee
t th

e e
ve

r-c
ha

ng
ing

 
de

ma
nd

s o
f th

e w
ide

r c
om

mu
nit

y, 
an

d t
he

 
re

qu
ire

me
nts

 of
 th

e t
-g

ov
 ag

en
da

.  
 Im

ple
me

nti
ng

 th
is 

wi
ll r

eq
uir

e a
 si

gn
ific

an
t 

cu
ltu

re
 ch

an
ge

 ac
ro

ss
 th

e a
uth

or
ity

, a
nd

 
str

on
g c

on
sis

ten
t le

ad
er

sh
ip 

fro
m 

se
nio

r 
lev

els
 of

 th
e A

uth
or

ity
. 

 

Ke
y i

nit
iat

ive
s e

.g.
 

sh
ar

ed
 se

rvi
ce

s 
re

sis
ted

 / d
ela

ye
d b

y 
cu

rre
nt 

cu
ltu

re
 w

ith
in 

the
 au

tho
rity

 

• 
Ini

tia
tiv

es
 / p

lan
s n

ot 
ac

hie
ve

d 
• 

Fa
ilu

re
 to

 m
ak

e s
av

ing
s, 

re
du

ce
 du

pli
ca

tio
ns

 an
d m

ak
e 

co
nti

nu
ou

s i
mp

ro
ve

me
nts

 
• 

Ad
ve

rse
 ef

fec
t o

n p
er

for
ma

nc
e 

• 
Ce

ns
ur

e b
y a

ud
it/i

ns
pe

cti
on

 
• 

Im
ag

e o
f c

ou
nc

il d
am

ag
ed

 

15
 

E3
 

 
Si

ck
ne

ss
 ab

se
nc

e 
Le

ve
ls 

of 
sic

kn
es

s a
bs

en
ce

 ar
e n

ow
 

co
ns

ist
en

tly
 re

po
rte

d a
nd

 m
an

ag
ed

 
ac

ro
ss

 th
e a

uth
or

ity
. T

he
re

 ha
s b

ee
n 

co
ns

ide
ra

ble
 su

cc
es

s i
n 2

00
7/0

8 i
n 

re
du

cin
g o

ve
ra

ll l
ev

els
 of

 si
ck

ne
ss

. 
 

Si
ck

ne
ss

 ab
se

nc
e 

no
t e

ffe
cti

ve
ly 

ma
na

ge
d 

• 
St

aff
 ab

se
nc

e i
mp

ac
ts 

on
 ab

ilit
y t

o d
eli

ve
r 

• 
Inc

re
as

ed
 co

sts
 of

 us
ing

 ag
en

cy
 st

aff
 

• 
Ef

fic
ien

cy
 sa

vin
gs

 af
fec

ted
 

• 
Im

pa
ct 

on
 st

aff
 m

or
ale

 
• 

Po
ss

ibl
e l

itig
ati

on
 / c

lai
ms

 
 

21
 

E3
 

 
Us

e o
f C

ou
nc

il 
as

se
ts 

Th
e c

or
po

ra
te 

ap
pr

oa
ch

 to
 

ac
co

mm
od

ati
on

 an
d I

T 
inf

ra
str

uc
tur

e i
s 

no
t a

lw
ay

s u
nd

er
sto

od
 an

d e
nfo

rce
d. 

Co
un

cil
 fa

ils
 to

 m
ak

e 
be

st 
us

e o
f it

’s 
as

se
ts 

• 
Co

un
cil

 ca
nn

ot 
eff

ec
tiv

ely
 re

sp
on

d t
o i

nit
iat

ive
s 

• 
Un

ab
le 

to 
jus

tify
 ac

co
mm

od
ati

on
 ne

ed
s 

• 
Ins

uff
ici

en
t a

ss
ets

 to
 m

ee
t n

ee
ds

 in
 so

me
 ar

ea
s 

• 
Ov

er
 pr

ov
isi

on
 in

 ot
he

r a
re

as
 

 
23

 
E3

 
 

Fr
au

d 
A 

we
ak

ne
ss

 in
 in

ter
na

l c
on

tro
ls 

or
 th

e 
ap

pli
ca

tio
n o

f in
ter

na
l c

on
tro

ls 
or

 cr
im

ina
l 

co
llu

sio
n s

uc
h t

ha
t fr

au
d i

s e
ith

er
 no

t 
pr

ev
en

ted
 or

 no
t d

ete
cte

d. 
 

Si
gn

ific
an

t fr
au

d 
oc

cu
rs 

• 
Lo

ss
 of

 re
so

ur
ce

s 
• 

Da
ma

ge
 to

 C
ou

nc
il’s

 re
pu

tat
ion

 
• 

Ef
fec

t o
n s

taf
f m

or
ale

 
• 

Ha
rm

 U
se

 of
 R

es
ou

rce
s/C

PA
 sc

or
es

 

Page 56



 

Ve
rs

io
n 

9 
– 

16
/0

6/
08

 
 

 
Pa

ge
 1

3 
of

 1

No
 

Ra
tin

g 
 

Sh
or

t n
am

e 
Vu

ln
er

ab
ilit

y 
Tr

ig
ge

r 
Co

ns
eq

ue
nc

e 
12

 
D4

 
 

Ge
rsh

on
 – 

ru
le 

ch
an

ge
s 

Th
er

e i
s a

 re
qu

ire
me

nt,
 th

ro
ug

h t
he

 
Ge

rsh
on

 re
vie

w 
to 

ma
ke

 ef
fic

ien
cy

 
sa

vin
gs

 of
 3%

 fo
r e

ac
h o

f th
e n

ex
t 3

 
ye

ar
s. 

 Cu
rre

ntl
y, 

the
 sa

vin
gs

 w
ill 

be
 m

ad
e, 

ho
we

ve
r, 

thi
s i

s p
rim

ar
ily

 th
ro

ug
h c

ur
re

nt 
ru

les
 al

low
ing

 in
ter

es
t o

n s
ale

s o
f a

ss
ets

 
to 

be
 in

clu
de

d. 
 

Ru
les

 ch
an

ge
d t

o 
pr

ec
lud

e t
his

 
• 

Sa
vin

gs
 ne

ed
 to

 be
 m

ad
e f

ro
m 

oth
er

 ar
ea

s 
• 

Se
rvi

ce
s s

uff
er

 fr
om

 la
ck

 of
 re

so
ur

ce
s 

• 
Pu

bli
c d

iss
ati

sfa
cti

on
 w

ith
 C

ou
nc

il s
er

vic
es

 
• 

Co
un

cil
 re

pu
tat

ion
 da

ma
ge

d 
• 

Ce
ns

ur
e b

y a
ud

it a
nd

 in
sp

ec
tio

n 
 

22
 

D4
 

 
Ke

y p
ar

tne
rsh

ip 
fai

ls 
Th

e C
ou

nc
il i

s i
nv

olv
ed

 in
 a 

ple
tho

ra
 of

 
mu

lti 
ag

en
cy

 pa
rtn

er
sh

ips
 e.

g. 
LS

P,
 bu

t 
the

se
 do

n’t
 al

wa
ys

 ha
ve

 cl
ea

r g
ov

er
na

nc
e 

ar
ra

ng
em

en
ts 

wi
th 

re
lat

ed
 do

cu
me

nta
tio

n 
thi

n o
n t

he
 gr

ou
nd

. 
   

Ke
y p

ar
tne

rsh
ip 

fai
ls 

• 
Re

lat
ion

sh
ips

 w
ith

 ot
he

r b
od

ies
 de

ter
ior

ate
 

• 
Cl

aw
ba

ck
 of

 gr
an

ts 
• 

Un
for

es
ee

n a
cc

ou
nta

bil
itie

s a
nd

 lia
bil

itie
s f

or
 th

e C
ou

nc
il 

• 
Ce

ns
ur

e b
y a

ud
it/i

ns
pe

cti
on

 
• 

Ad
ve

rse
 im

pa
ct 

on
 pe

rfo
rm

an
ce

 
 

 

Page 57



 

Ve
rs

io
n 

9 
– 

16
/0

6/
08

 
 

 
Pa

ge
 1

4 
of

 1

A
pp

en
di

x 
2 

– 
A

ct
io

n 
Pl

an
s 

 
R

IS
K

 N
O

. 
C

U
R

R
EN

T 
R

IS
K

 S
C

O
R

E 
TA

R
G

ET
 R

IS
K

 
SC

O
R

E 
C

LU
ST

ER
 N

A
M

E 

3,
 4

 
B

 1
/B

 2
 

C
 3

 
E

as
t o

f E
ng

la
nd

 P
la

n 
8 

C
 2

 
C

 3
 

B
us

in
es

s 
C

on
tin

ui
ty

 P
la

nn
in

g 
11

 
A

 3
 

A
 4

 
Lo

ca
l h

ou
si

ng
 n

ee
ds

 
17

 
D

 2
 

E
 2

 
C

ap
ita

l r
ec

ei
pt

s 
sp

en
t o

n 
no

n 
re

ve
nu

e 
ge

ne
ra

tin
g 

as
se

ts
 

18
 

D
 2

 
E

 2
 

Lo
ss

 o
r t

he
ft 

of
 d

at
a 

20
 

D
 2

 
E

 2
 

K
ey

 C
on

tra
ct

s 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
     

Page 58



 

Ve
rs

io
n 

9 
– 

16
/0

6/
08

 
 

 
Pa

ge
 1

5 
of

 1

R
is

k 
N

o.
 

Ex
is

tin
g 

co
nt

ro
ls

/a
ct

io
ns

 to
 

ad
dr

es
s 

ris
k 

Ef
fe

ct
iv

en
es

s 
of

 
co

nt
ro

ls
/a

ct
io

ns
 

R
eq

ui
re

d 
fu

rt
he

r 
m

an
ag

em
en

t a
ct

io
n 

R
es

po
ns

ib
ili

ty
 fo

r 
ac

tio
n 

C
rit

ic
al

 s
uc

ce
ss

 
fa

ct
or

s 
an

d 
m

ea
su

re
s 

R
ev

ie
w

 
fr

eq
ue

nc
y

K
ey

 d
at

e 

3,
 4

 
In

fo
rm

al
 jo

in
t w

or
ki

ng
 

to
 p

ur
su

e 
fu

nd
in

g 
fo

r 
in

fra
st

ru
ct

ur
e;

 a
nd

 
ap

pr
op

ria
te

 p
la

nn
in

g 
w

ith
 s

ta
ke

ho
ld

er
s.

 
  

W
ill

 o
nl

y 
be

co
m

e 
ap

pa
re

nt
 w

he
n 

ap
pl

ic
at

io
ns

 a
re

 
re

ce
iv

ed
 a

nd
 

de
ve

lo
pm

en
t 

co
m

m
en

ce
s.

 

D
ec

is
io

ns
 a

nd
 a

ct
io

ns
 

to
 c

om
m

en
ce

 fo
rm

al
 

in
te

r-
au

th
or

ity
 

w
or

ki
ng

; p
lu

s 
pr

og
re

ss
 

w
ith

 p
ol

ic
y 

on
 

C
om

m
un

ity
 

In
fra

st
ru

ct
ur

e 
Le

vy
. 

P
la

nn
in

g 
&

 
E

co
no

m
ic

 
D

ev
el

op
m

en
t 

P
or

tfo
lio

 H
ol

de
r 

 D
ire

ct
or

 o
f 

P
la

nn
in

g 
&

 
E

co
no

m
ic

 
D

ev
el

op
m

en
t 

 

Th
e 

C
ou

nc
il 

re
ta

in
s 

co
nt

ro
l o

f t
he

 
de

liv
er

y 
ar

ra
ng

em
en

ts
 a

nd
 

th
e 

pr
ov

is
io

n 
of

 
im

pr
ov

ed
 

in
fra

st
ru

ct
ur

e.
 

Q
ua

rte
rly

 
31

/0
9/

08
 

8 
M

os
t s

er
vi

ce
s 

al
re

ad
y 

ha
ve

 b
us

in
es

s 
co

nt
in

ui
ty

 p
la

ns
 in

 
pl

ac
e 

an
d 

a 
se

pa
ra

te
 

flu
 p

an
de

m
ic

 p
la

n 
is

 
cu

rr
en

tly
 b

ei
ng

 
de

ve
lo

pe
d.

 

A
 C

or
po

ra
te

 P
la

n 
is

 
no

w
 in

 p
la

ce
 a

nd
 

ar
ra

ng
em

en
ts

 fo
r 

m
as

s 
va

cc
in

at
io

n 
 

ha
ve

 b
ee

n 
de

ve
lo

pe
d 

w
ith

 th
e 

P
C

T.
 

Fu
rth

er
 d

ev
el

op
 fl

u 
pa

nd
em

ic
 p

la
n 

an
d 

ke
ep

 o
th

er
 b

us
in

es
s 

co
nt

in
ui

ty
 p

la
ns

 u
p 

to
 

da
te

. 

C
om

m
un

ity
 

W
el

lb
ei

ng
 P

or
tfo

lio
 

H
ol

de
r 

 D
ep

ut
y 

C
hi

ef
 

E
xe

cu
tiv

e 
  

H
av

in
g 

pl
an

s 
in

 
pl

ac
e 

w
hi

ch
 a

re
 

pr
ov

ed
 fi

t f
or

 
pu

rp
os

e 
ei

th
er

 b
y 

ev
en

ts
 o

r e
xt

er
na

l 
sc

ru
tin

y.
 

Q
ua

rte
rly

 
N

on
e 

11
 

R
eq

ui
re

m
en

t f
or

 4
0%

 
af

fo
rd

ab
le

 h
ou

si
ng

 o
n 

al
l l

ar
ge

 s
ite

s.
 

D
ev

el
op

m
en

ts
 o

n 
gr

ee
n 

be
lt 

ca
n 

re
su

lt 
in

 m
or

e 
af

fo
rd

ab
le

 
ho

us
in

g.
 C

ou
nc

il 
co

ns
id

er
s 

an
nu

al
 

pr
ov

is
io

n 
of

 g
ra

nt
 to

 
ho

us
in

g 
as

so
ci

at
io

ns
. 

  

M
ee

tin
g 

al
l h

ou
si

ng
 

ne
ed

 w
ill

 n
ot

 b
e 

ad
dr

es
se

d 
by

 
ex

is
tin

g 
co

nt
ro

l, 
bu

t 
w

ill
 h

el
p.

 G
ra

nt
 fr

om
 

th
e 

C
ou

nc
il 

al
so

 
as

si
ts

. 
 

E
ar

ly
 id

en
tif

ic
at

io
n 

of
 

ne
w

 s
ite

s 
re

qu
ire

d 
by

 
th

e 
E

as
t o

f E
ng

la
nd

 
P

la
n,

 w
hi

ch
 w

ill
  

pr
ov

id
e 

as
so

ci
at

ed
 

af
fo

rd
ab

le
 h

ou
si

ng
. 

H
ou

si
ng

 P
or

tfo
lio

 
H

ol
de

r 
 D

ire
ct

or
 o

f H
ou

si
ng

 

W
he

th
er

 h
ou

si
ng

 
ne

ed
 is

 s
ig

ni
fic

an
tly

 
re

du
ce

d.
 

Q
ua

rte
rly

 
31

/0
9/

08
 

Page 59



 

Ve
rs

io
n 

9 
– 

16
/0

6/
08

 
 

 
Pa

ge
 1

6 
of

 1

R
is

k 
N

o.
 

Ex
is

tin
g 

co
nt

ro
ls

/a
ct

io
ns

 to
 

ad
dr

es
s 

ris
k 

Ef
fe

ct
iv

en
es

s 
of

 
co

nt
ro

ls
/a

ct
io

ns
 

R
eq

ui
re

d 
fu

rt
he

r 
m

an
ag

em
en

t a
ct

io
n 

R
es

po
ns

ib
ili

ty
 fo

r 
ac

tio
n 

C
rit

ic
al

 s
uc

ce
ss

 
fa

ct
or

s 
an

d 
m

ea
su

re
s 

R
ev

ie
w

 
fr

eq
ue

nc
y

K
ey

 d
at

e 

17
 

Fi
ve

 y
ea

r c
ap

ita
l 

pr
og

ra
m

m
e 

pr
ep

ar
ed

 
w

hi
ch

 in
cl

ud
es

 
re

so
ur

ce
s.

 S
ur

pl
us

 
as

se
ts

 c
on

tin
ue

 to
 b

e 
id

en
tif

ie
d 

an
d 

di
sp

os
ed

 o
f. 

E
ffe

ct
iv

e 
to

 d
at

e 
as

 
ev

en
 w

ith
 £

50
M

 
ca

pi
ta

l p
ro

gr
am

m
e 

ov
er

 5
 y

ea
rs

 m
or

e 
th

an
 £

17
M

 o
f u

sa
bl

e 
re

ce
ip

ts
 a

nt
ic

ip
at

ed
 

at
 e

nd
 o

f p
er

io
d.

 
  

C
on

tin
ue

 to
 h

ig
hl

ig
ht

 
re

ve
nu

e 
co

ns
eq

ue
nc

es
 o

f a
ll 

ne
w

 c
ap

ita
l s

ch
em

es
 

an
d 

co
nt

in
ue

 to
 

di
sp

os
e 

of
 s

ur
pl

us
 

as
se

ts
. 

Fi
na

nc
e 

&
 

P
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 
M

an
ag

em
en

t  
P

or
tfo

lio
 H

ol
de

r 
 C

hi
ef

 E
xe

cu
tiv

e 
 

M
ai

nt
en

an
ce

 o
f 

ad
eq

ua
te

 c
ap

ita
l 

an
d 

re
ve

nu
e 

ba
la

nc
es

. 

Q
ua

rte
rly

 
31

/0
9/

08
 

18
 

S
ec

ur
ity

 O
ffi

ce
r i

s 
co

nt
in

ua
lly

 m
on

ito
rin

g 
E

FD
C

 s
itu

at
io

n 
an

d 
po

te
nt

ia
l r

is
ks

. M
os

t 
sy

st
em

s 
ha

ve
 in

 b
ui

lt 
co

nt
ro

ls
 to

 p
re

ve
nt

 
un

au
th

or
is

ed
 a

cc
es

s.
 

R
eg

ul
ar

 li
ai

so
n 

w
ith

 
A

ss
is

ta
nt

 D
ire

ct
or

 o
f 

IC
T 

an
d 

Te
ch

ni
ca

l 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

M
an

ag
er

. 

E
ffe

ct
iv

e 
to

 d
at

e.
 

R
ep

la
ce

m
en

t o
f 

ob
so

le
te

 h
ar

dw
ar

e,
 

ad
op

tio
n 

of
 

G
ov

er
nm

en
t C

on
ne

ct
 

to
 e

ns
ur

e 
se

cu
re

 d
at

a 
tra

ns
fe

rs
. E

nc
ry

pt
io

n 
of

 la
pt

op
 h

ar
d-

dr
iv

es
. 

A
ct

iv
at

io
n 

of
 

D
E

V
IC

E
W

A
LL

 s
ys

te
m

 
to

 p
re

ve
nt

 
un

au
th

or
iz

ed
 e

xp
or

t o
f 

da
ta

 u
si

ng
 U

S
B

 p
or

ts
, 

C
D

 R
W

 a
nd

 F
lo

pp
y 

dr
iv

es
.  

 

C
or

po
ra

te
 S

up
po

rt 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

&
 IC

T 
P

or
tfo

lio
 H

ol
de

r 
 D

ire
ct

or
 o

f F
in

an
ce

 
&

 IC
T 

 

N
o 

da
ta

 lo
ss

 o
r 

sy
st

em
 d

ow
nt

im
e 

du
e 

to
 u

na
ut

ho
riz

ed
 

ac
ce

ss
 o

f E
FD

C
 

sy
st

em
s 

or
 d

at
a.

 

Q
ua

rte
rly

 
N

on
e 

Page 60



 

Ve
rs

io
n 

9 
– 

16
/0

6/
08

 
 

 
Pa

ge
 1

7 
of

 1

R
is

k 
N

o.
 

Ex
is

tin
g 

co
nt

ro
ls

/a
ct

io
ns

 to
 

ad
dr

es
s 

ris
k 

Ef
fe

ct
iv

en
es

s 
of

 
co

nt
ro

ls
/a

ct
io

ns
 

R
eq

ui
re

d 
fu

rt
he

r 
m

an
ag

em
en

t a
ct

io
n 

R
es

po
ns

ib
ili

ty
 fo

r 
ac

tio
n 

C
rit

ic
al

 s
uc

ce
ss

 
fa

ct
or

s 
an

d 
m

ea
su

re
s 

R
ev

ie
w

 
fr

eq
ue

nc
y

K
ey

 d
at

e 

20
 

S
ys

te
m

s 
fo

r c
on

tra
ct

 
m

on
ito

rin
g 

in
 p

la
ce

.  
C

on
tin

ge
nc

y 
pl

an
s 

ex
is

t t
o 

de
al

 w
ith

 
co

nt
ra

ct
 fa

ilu
re

. 

C
on

tra
ct

 m
on

ito
rin

g 
es

ta
bl

is
he

d.
 

B
us

in
es

s 
co

nt
in

ui
ty

 
pl

an
ni

ng
 h

as
 p

ro
ve

d 
ef

fe
ct

iv
e 

in
 w

as
te

 
m

an
ag

em
en

t. 

B
ot

h 
co

nt
ra

ct
s 

fo
r 

le
is

ur
e 

an
d 

w
as

te
 

m
an

ag
em

en
t r

eq
ui

re
 

cl
os

e 
m

on
ito

rin
g.

  

Le
is

ur
e 

&
 Y

ou
ng

 
P

eo
pl

e 
P

or
tfo

lio
 

H
ol

de
r 

 E
nv

iro
nm

en
t 

P
or

tfo
lio

 H
ol

de
r 

 D
ire

ct
or

 o
f 

E
nv

iro
nm

en
t a

nd
 

S
tre

et
 S

ce
ne

 
 

A
 b

as
ke

t o
f k

ey
 P

I’s
 

ar
e 

in
 p

la
ce

 fo
r t

he
 

le
is

ur
e 

co
nt

ra
ct

. 
    Im

pr
ov

in
g 

pu
bl

ic
 

sa
tis

fa
ct

io
n 

an
d 

ac
hi

ev
in

g 
re

cy
cl

in
g 

ta
rg

et
s.

 

Q
ua

rte
rly

 
      Q

ua
rte

rly
 

N
on

e 
      N

on
e 

 

Page 61



Page 62

This page is intentionally left blank



Report to the Finance and Performance 
Management Cabinet Committee 

 
 Report Reference:  FPM-003-2008/09. 
Date of meeting:   16 June 2008. 
 
Portfolio:   Finance and Performance Management. 
 
Subject:   Provisional Revenue Outturn 2007/08.  
 
Responsible Officer:   Peter Maddock  (01992  564602). 
 
Democratic Services Officer:  Gary Woodhall  (01992  564470). 
 
Recommendations: 
 

(1) That the overall 2007/08 revenue outturn for the General Fund and 
Housing Revenue Accounts (HRA) be noted; and 

  
(2) That, as detailed in Appendix 2, the carry forward of £469,000 District 
Development Fund expenditure be approved  

 
Executive Summary: 
 
This report provides an overall summary of the revenue outturn for the financial year 
2007/08.  
 
Reasons for Proposed Decision: 
 
To note the provisional revenue outturn. 
 
Other Options for Action: 
 
No other options available. 
 
Report: 
 
General Fund 
 
1. The table below summarises the revenue outturn for the General Fund and the 
consequential movement in balances for 2007/08.  
 
 
 
 
General Fund 

 
Original
Estimate

£000 

 
Revised
Estimate

£000 

 
Actual 
Expend 

£000 

Variance 
from 

Original 
£000 

Variance 
from 

Revised 
£000 

      
Net Expenditure after 
Adjustments 16,980 16,543 15,958 (1,022) (585) 

      
Government Grants and Local 
Taxation 16,659 16,659 16,659 - - 
      
(Contribution to)/from Balances 321 (116) (701) (1,022) (585) 
      
Opening Balances – 1/4/07 (6,761) (6,761) (6,761) - - 
      

Agenda Item 8

Page 63



 
 
 
General Fund 

 
Original
Estimate

£000 

 
Revised
Estimate

£000 

 
Actual 
Expend 

£000 

Variance 
from 

Original 
£000 

Variance 
from 

Revised 
£000 

      
(Contribution to)/from Balances  321 (116) (701) (1,022) (585) 
      
Closing Balances – 31/3/08 (6,440) (6,877) (7,462) (1,022) (585) 
 
2. Net expenditure for 2007/08 totalled £15.958 million, which was £1,022,000 (6.5%) 
below the original estimate and £585,000 (4.0%) below the revised. When compared to a 
gross expenditure budget of approximately £64 million, the variances can be restated as 
1.6% and under 1% respectively.  
 
3. An analysis of the changes between Continuing Services Budget (CSB) and District 
Development Fund (DDF) expenditure illustrates where the main variances in revenue 
expenditure have occurred. 
 
 
 
 
General Fund 

 
Original 
Estimate

£000 

 
Revised
Estimate

£000 

 
Actual 
Expend 

£000 

Variance 
from 

Original 
£000 

Variance 
from 

Revised
£000 

    
Opening CSB 16,842 16,706 16,180  (662) (526) 
In Year Growth 374 504 460  86 (44) 
In Year Savings (236) (667) (682)  (446) (15) 
       
Total Continuing Services Budget 16,980 16,543 15,958  (1,022) (585) 
       
DDF – Expenditure 1,264 2,802 2,558  1,294 (244) 
DDF – One Off Savings (705) (1,839) (2,293)  (1,588) (454) 
       
Total DDF  559 963 265  (294) (698) 
       
Appropriations (559) (963) (265)  294 698 
       
Net Expenditure 16,980 16,543 15,958  (1,022) (585) 
 
Continuing Services Budget 
 
4. CSB expenditure was £1,022,000 below the original estimate and £585,000 lower 
than the revised. The variances have arisen on both the opening CSB, £526,000 lower than 
the revised estimate and the in year figures, £59,000 lower than the revised estimate.  
 
5. Of the savings on the opening CSB over half relates to staff savings due to vacancies. 
Actual salary spending for the authority in total, including agency costs, was some £18.544 
million compared against an original estimate of £18.926 million. Although the saving of 
£382,000 is rather lower than in recent years it is still substantial and much of this saving has 
fallen on the General Fund as opposed to the Housing Revenue Account and the Housing 
Repairs Fund as was the case in 2006/07. Of the remaining savings of £280,000, £82,000 
relates to Housing Benefits with a further four areas seeing savings of £20,000 plus, these 
are Abandoned Vehicles, Electoral Registration, Grounds Maintenance and Environmental 
Co-ordination.  
 
6. The in year CSB growth figure of £138,000 became an in year saving of £222,000. 
Much of this was recognised in the revised estimates, as a saving from the first phase of the 
top management restructure produced £78,000 and £102,000 of the increased investment 
income was assessed as being of an ongoing nature. There was also a CSB reduction in the 
cost of placing people in bed and breakfast accommodation of £85,000 and a number of 
other items of additional income. Full details of items within the CSB growth figures can be 
found at Appendix 1.  

Page 64



 
District Development Fund 
 
7. Net DDF expenditure was £294,000 below the original estimate and £698,000 below 
the revised. There are requests for carry forwards totalling £469,000 and therefore the 
variation actually equates to a £229,000 net under spend on the DDF items undertaken. 
These one-off projects are akin to capital, in that there is regular slippage and carry forward 
of budgetary provision. Therefore the only reasonable variance analysis that can be done is 
against the revised position. 
 
8. The DDF increased between the Original and Revised position by some £404,000, 
this was due to a mixture of items brought forward from 2006/07 and new items identified 
during 2007/08, the major item in the latter category being in relation to Waste Mangement. 
There were also items of income to the General Fund totalling £1,407,000 which have been 
appropriated to the DDF (see other items on appendix B). The largest variation was seen on 
the Local Authority Business Growth Incentive Scheme (LABGI) grant, though the final 
allocation has still to be confirmed. This amounted to an increse of £205,000 on the original 
figure, though £41,000 related to an adjustment to 2006/07 which did not become apparent 
until well into 2007/08. 
 
9. Two portfolios saw variations in excess of £100,000 on their DDF when compared to 
the revised estimate. Finance, Performance Management and Corporate Support Services 
saw an underspend of £244,000. The three main elements of this relate to unspent Local 
Housing Allowance set up grant, being able to contain increased costs as a result of 
maternity cover in Housing Benefits within the existing salaries budget and slippage on the 
implementation of the new Revenues and Benefits system. Environmental Protection saw an 
overspend of £186,000, which was made up of a £216,000 overspend on Waste 
Management, a report on which was made to Cabinet on 9 June. This was offset slightly by 
additional licensing income. Having said that because the overall position was a net 
underspend this overspend has in effect been financed by the various underspends on the 
DDF. Full details of the DDF are shown on appendix B.  
 
10. The appropriation of additional income items and the underspend mean the balance 
on the DDF has reduced slightly to £2.916 million. Assuming that all the carried forward items 
are agreed and spent, the DDF is still in a better position than was predicted in the revised 
estimates. The 2008/09 estimate process allocated all of the DDF to projects including a 
large amount to the Local Development Framework (LDF). It is unclear at this stage whether 
the amounts allocated to the LDF so far are sufficient so the additional DDF monies may be 
required for this, however a full review of the DDF will take place as usual during the budget 
making process for 2009/10 in the autumn of 2008.  
 
Appropriations 

 
11. The only variation on appropriations arises from the underspend on the DDF. 

 
Housing Revenue Account 
 
12. The table below summarises the revenue outturn for the Housing Revenue Account. 
 

 
 
 
Housing Revenue Account 

 
Original 
Estimate

£000 

 
Revised 
Estimate 

£000 

 
Actual 
Expend

£000 

Variance 
from 

Original 
£000 

Variance 
from 

Revised 
£000 

      
Revenue Expenditure 13,647 13,758 13,321 (326) (437) 
HRA Subsidy Payable 8,868 8,842 8,842 (26) - 
Depreciation 7,667 8,527 8,528 861 1 

      
Total Expenditure 30,182 31,127 30,691 509 (436) 
      

Page 65



 
 
 
Housing Revenue Account 

 
Original 
Estimate

£000 

 
Revised 
Estimate 

£000 

 
Actual 
Expend

£000 

Variance 
from 

Original 
£000 

Variance 
from 

Revised 
£000 

      
      
Gross Dwelling Rents 23,467 23,390 23,396 71 (6) 
Other Rents and Charges 4,295 4,315 4,498       (203) (183) 
      
Total Income 27,762 27,705 27,894 (132) (189) 
      
Net Cost of Service 2,420 3,422 2,797 377       (625) 
      
Interest and Other Transfers 1,740 2,164 2,165 (425) (1) 
Transfer from Major Repairs Reserve 3,077 3,939 3,954 (877) (15) 
      
Net Operating Income (2,397) (2,681) (3,322) (925) (641) 
      
Appropriations      
Capital Expenditure  
Charged to Revenue 

1,985 2,142 2,628        643 486 

Other 45 (29) 125 80 154 
      
Deficit/(Surplus) for Year       (367) (568) (569) (202) (1) 
      
Opening Balance – ¼/07 (5,632) (5,632) (5,632) - - 
Deficit/(Surplus) for year (367) (568) (569) (202) (1) 
      
Closing Balance – 31/3/08 (5,999) (6,200) (6,201) (202) (1) 

 
13. A Surplus within the HRA of £367,000 and £568,000 was expected within its original 
and revised revenue budgets respectively, the actual surplus was £569,000 which is in line 
with the revised position. This occurred due to a substantial increase to Capital Expenditure 
Charged to Revenue (RCCO) that offset savings on Management and Maintenance costs of 
£436,000 and additional income from other rents and charges. 
 
14. When the Revised Estimates were compiled it was noted that the balance on the HRA 
should not exceed £6.209 million at 1 April 2008, if the Council wished to capitalise additional 
pension contributions in 2008/09 as a result of the latest triennial valuation. The increased 
RCCO figure is countered by an equivalent decrease in usage of the Major Repairs Reserve 
to avoid the HRA balance increasing beyond £6.209 million. 
 
15. The savings on Management and Maintenance arose in a number of areas including 
Grounds maintenance, Housing Land Cleansing, Piper Alarms and Minor Sewerage Works. 
There was also some salary savings on the HRA however there was a slight salary 
overspend on the Repairs Fund.  
 
Resource implications:  
 
As set out in report, it is clear that the Cabinet priority to maintain a sound financial position 
has been achieved. 
 
Legal and Governance Implications:  
 
Reporting on the financial outturn for the previous financial year is recognised as a key 
element of the Council’s Governance Framework. 
 
Safer, Cleaner, Greener Implications: 
 
The Council’s revenue budgets contain spending related to the Safer, Cleaner, Greener 
initiative.  

Page 66



 
Consultation undertaken: 
 
None. 
 
Background Papers:  
 
Final Accounts working papers held in Accountancy. 
 
Impact Assessments:  
 
No equalities or risk management impacts. 
 

Page 67



Page 68

This page is intentionally left blank



A
p

p
e
n

d
ix

 A
C

O
N

T
IN

U
IN

G
S

E
R

V
IC

E
S

B
U

D
G

E
T

- 
G

R
O

W
T

H
 /
 (

S
A

V
IN

G
S

)
L

IS
T

O
ri

g
in

a
l

R
e

v
is

e
d

A
c

tu
a

l
V

a
ri

a
n

c
e

2
0

0
7

/0
8

2
0

0
7

/0
8

2
0

0
7

/0
8

fr
o

m
R

e
v

is
e

d

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

S
e

rv
ic

e
£

0
0

0
's

£
0

0
0

's
£

0
0

0
's

£
0

0
0

's

L
e

a
d

e
rs

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

C
o
rp

o
ra

te
 P

o
lic

y
M

a
k
in

g
T

o
p

M
a
n
 S

tr
u
c
tu

re
 S

a
la

ry
 S

a
v
in

g
s

(7
8
)

(7
8
)

0

S
u
b
s
c
ri
p
ti
o
n
s

D
is

b
a
n
d
in

g
o
f 
th

e
 E

s
s
e
x

L
o
c
a
l
G

o
v
t 

A
s
s
o
c
ia

ti
o
n

(6
)

0
6

C
iv

ic
a
n
d

M
e
m

b
e
r

M
e
m

b
e
r 

E
le

c
tr

o
n
ic

 S
e
rv

ic
e
s

(T
ra

n
s

fr
o
m

 I
E

G
)

(1
2
)

(1
2
)

(1
4
)

(2
)

C
iv

ic
C

e
re

m
o
n
ia

l
C

a
r

H
ir
e
/

C
iv

ic
 A

w
a
rd

s
2

2
1

(1
)

C
iv

ic
C

e
re

m
o
n
ia

l
A

d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
S

u
p
p
o
rt

fo
r

C
h
a
ir
m

a
n

5
5

5
0

E
le

c
ti
o
n
s

R
u
n
n
in

g
C

o
s
ts

o
f
N

e
w

 S
o
ft
w

a
re

3
3

3
0

T
o

ta
l
L

e
a

d
e

rs
(2

)
(8

6
)

(8
3

)
3

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y

C
o
n
c
e
s
s
io

n
a
ry

F
a
re

s
T

ra
n
s
p
o
rt

fo
r

L
o
n
d
o
n

re
d
u
c
ti
o
n

in
p
a
s
s
e
s

is
s
u
e
d

(1
2
)

(1
2
)

0

S
a
fe

r
C

o
m

m
u
n
it
ie

s
G

ra
ff
it
i
R

e
m

o
v
a
l

1
5

3
(1

2
)

S
a
fe

r
C

o
m

m
u
n
it
ie

s
G

ra
ff
it
i
R

e
m

o
v
a
l
H

R
A

C
o
n
tr

ib
u
ti
o
n

(1
5
)

(2
7
)

(1
2
)

T
o

ta
l
C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y
W

e
ll
b

e
in

g
-

(1
2

)
(3

6
)

(2
4

)

L
o
c
a
l
T

a
xa

ti
o
n

N
D

R
R

e
d
u
c
ti
o
n

in
C

o
u
rt

C
o
s
t

F
e
e
s

(2
)

1
3

3
(1

0
)

L
o
c
a
l
T

a
xa

ti
o
n

C
o
u
n
c
il

T
a
x

(I
n
c
re

a
s
e
)/

D
e
c
re

a
s
e

in
C

o
u
rt

C
o
s
ts

F
e
e
s

(2
1
)

0

F
in

a
n
c
e

M
is

c
e
lla

n
e
o
u
s

B
u
ild

in
g

M
a
in

te
n
a
n
c
e

- 
In

fl
a
ti
o
n

4
4

4
0

H
o
u
s
in

g
 B

e
n
e
fi
ts

/L
o
c
a
l
T

a
xa

ti
o
n

R
e
p
la

c
e
m

e
n
t

R
e
v
e
n
u
e
s
 &

 B
e
n
e
fi
ts

 S
y
s
te

m
1
6

1
6

0
(1

6
)

H
o
u
s
in

g
 B

e
n
e
fi
ts

N
o
n

H
R

A
R

e
n
t

R
e
b
a
te

s
(8

5
)

(8
5
)

0

O
ff
ic

e
 A

c
c
o
m

m
o
d
a
ti
o
n

A
d
d
it
io

n
a
l
c
o
s
ts

o
f
re

le
tt

in
g

o
ff
ic

e
c
le

a
n
in

g
c
o
n
tr

a
c
t

7
7

8
1

In
d
u
s
tr

ia
l 
E

s
ta

te
s

L
a
n
g
s
to

n
R

o
a
d
 I

n
d
u
s
tr

ia
l 
E

s
ta

te
-

T
e
m

p
o
ra

ry
C

a
r 

P
a
rk

in
g

2
3

1

In
d
u
s
tr

ia
l 
E

s
ta

te
s

O
a
k
w

o
o
d

H
ill

 I
n
d
u
s
tr

ia
l 
E

s
ta

te
-

re
n
ts

7
7

0

In
d
u
s
tr

ia
l 
E

s
ta

te
s

O
a
k
w

o
o
d

H
ill

W
o
rk

s
h
o
p

U
n
it
s

-
re

n
ts

(1
7
)

(9
)

8

In
d
u
s
tr

ia
l 
E

s
ta

te
s

B
ro

o
k
e
r

R
o
a
d
 I

n
d
u
s
tr

ia
l 
E

s
ta

te
-

re
n
ts

(6
)

(1
0
)

(4
)

D
a
v
id

L
lo

y
d

C
e
n
tr

e
C

o
m

m
is

s
io

n
 &

 r
e
n
t

re
v
ie

w
s

(8
)

(1
3
)

(5
)

A
ll 

S
e
rv

ic
e
s

C
o
m

p
u
te

r 
E

q
u
ip

m
e
n
t

N
e
w

 P
ro

c
u
re

m
e
n
t 

A
rr

a
n
g
e
m

e
n
ts

(3
8
)

(3
8
)

(3
8
)

0

A
ll 

S
e
rv

ic
e
s

N
e
w

M
o
b
ile

 P
h
o
n
e

C
o
n
tr

a
c
t

(3
5
)

(3
0
)

(3
0
)

0

A
ll 

S
e
rv

ic
e
s

N
e
w

 P
h
o
to

c
o
p
ie

r
C

o
n
tr

a
c
t

(4
)

(4
)

(4
)

0

E
n
e
rg

y
 S

it
e
s

E
n
e
rg

y
C

o
s
ts

4
4

2
6

2
6

0

T
o

ta
l
F

in
a

n
c

e
,P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

M
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t

a
n

d
C

o
rp

o
ra

te
S

u
p

p
o

rt
S

e
rv

ic
e

s
(2

9
)

(1
1

3
)

(1
3

8
)

(2
5

)

H
o

u
s

in
g

P
ri
v
a
te

 S
e
c
to

r
H

o
u
s
in

g
E

n
v
.

H
e
a
lt
h
. 

P
ra

c
ti
ti
o
n
e
r

fo
r

H
M

O
's

1
9

1
6

1
9

3

P
ri
v
a
te

 S
e
c
to

r
H

o
u
s
in

g
E

n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
ta

l
H

e
a
lt
h
 P

ra
c
ti
ti
o
n
e
r

4
1

1
1

1
1

0

P
ri
v
a
te

 S
e
c
to

r
H

o
u
s
in

g
F

in
d
e
rs

F
e
e
 S

c
h
e
m

e
5

5
0

(5
)

R
e
in

s
ta

te
m

e
n
t

G
ra

n
ts

E
n
d

o
f 
S

u
b
s
id

y
1
1
3

1
1
3

1
1
3

0

T
o

ta
l
H

o
u

s
in

g
1

7
8

1
4

5
1

4
3

(2
)

L
e
is

u
re

M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t

L
e
is

u
re

C
e
n
tr

e
 I

n
c
o
m

e
 S

h
a
re

(5
0
)

(1
4
)

(1
1
)

3

W
a
lt
h
a
m

 A
b
b
e
y

L
e
is

u
re

C
e
n
tr

e
R

e
v
is

io
n

o
f
J
o
in

t
U

s
e
 A

g
re

e
m

e
n
t

(1
0
)

(1
0
)

0
1
0

L
e
is

u
re

 S
e
rv

ic
e
s

In
c
re

a
s
e
d
 E

n
e
rg

y
C

o
s
ts

1
0

6
1
1

5

T
o

ta
l
L

e
is

u
re

(5
0

)
(1

8
)

0
1

8

F
in

a
n

c
e

,

P
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c

e

M
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t

a
n

d

C
o

rp
o

ra
te

S
u

p
p

o
rt

S
e

rv
ic

e
s

L
e

is
u

re

Page 69



A
p

p
e
n

d
ix

 A
C

O
N

T
IN

U
IN

G
S

E
R

V
IC

E
S

B
U

D
G

E
T

- 
G

R
O

W
T

H
 /
 (

S
A

V
IN

G
S

)
L

IS
T

O
ri

g
in

a
l

R
e

v
is

e
d

A
c

tu
a

l
V

a
ri

a
n

c
e

2
0

0
7

/0
8

2
0

0
7

/0
8

2
0

0
7

/0
8

fr
o

m
R

e
v

is
e

d

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

S
e

rv
ic

e
£

0
0

0
's

£
0

0
0

's
£

0
0

0
's

£
0

0
0

's

P
o
llu

ti
o
n

C
o
n
tr

o
l

B
o
b
b
in

g
w

o
rt

h
T

ip
M

a
in

te
n
a
n
c
e

1
1

1
1

2
(9

)

L
ic

e
n
s
in

g
 &

 R
e
g
is

tr
a
ti
o
n

In
c
re

a
s
e
d

in
c
o
m

e
(2

6
)

(2
6
)

0

H
a
c
k
n
e
y

C
a
rr

ia
g
e

L
ic

e
n
s
in

g
In

c
re

a
s
e
d

in
c
o
m

e
(2

5
)

(2
5
)

0

T
o

ta
l
E

n
v

ir
o

n
m

e
n

ta
l
P

ro
te

c
ti

o
n

1
1

(4
0

)
(4

9
)

(9
)

T
o
u
ri
s
m

E
n
d

o
f 
S

e
c

1
0
6

c
o
n
tr

ib
u
ti
o
n
 t

o
W

 A
b
b
e
y

T
IC

5
5

5
0

B
u
ild

in
g

C
o
n
tr

o
l

A
d
d
it
io

n
a
l
C

o
n
s
u
lt
a
n
c
y

F
e
e
s

2
5

2
7

2

B
u
ild

in
g

C
o
n
tr

o
l

B
u
ild

in
g

C
o
n
tr

o
l
R

in
g

F
e
n
c
e

(2
5
)

(2
7
)

(2
)

B
u
ild

in
g

C
o
n
tr

o
l

A
d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
In

c
o
m

e
(9

)
(7

0
)

(4
3
)

2
7

B
u
ild

in
g

C
o
n
tr

o
l

B
u
ild

in
g

C
o
n
tr

o
l
R

in
g

F
e
n
c
e

9
7
0

4
3

(2
7
)

B
u
ild

in
g

C
o
n
tr

o
l

T
ra

in
in

g
 E

xp
e
n
s
e
s

(1
0
)

0
1
0

B
u
ild

in
g

C
o
n
tr

o
l

B
u
ild

in
g

C
o
n
tr

o
l
R

in
g

F
e
n
c
e

1
0

0
(1

0
)

D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t

C
o
n
tr

o
l

C
o
n
ta

m
in

a
te

d
L
a
n
d

C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
n
ts

F
e
e
s

2
0

1
4

(6
)

D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t

C
o
n
tr

o
l

In
c
o
m

e
fr

o
m

 P
re

-a
p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n

D
is

c
u
s
s
io

n
s

(2
0
)

(1
1
)

9

T
o

ta
l
P

la
n

n
in

g
&

E
c

o
n

o
m

ic
D

e
v

e
lo

p
m

e
n

t
5

5
8

3

O
ff
 S

tr
e
e
t

C
a
r 

P
a
rk

in
g

F
re

e
 S

a
tu

rd
a
y
 P

a
rk

in
g

7
5

8
8

8
8

0

O
ff
 S

tr
e
e
t

C
a
r 

P
a
rk

in
g

In
c
re

a
s
e
d
 I

n
c
o
m

e
(4

5
)

(4
5
)

(4
5
)

0

O
ff
 S

tr
e
e
t

C
a
r 

P
a
rk

in
g

A
d
d
it
io

n
a
l
s
ta

ff
in

g
c
o
s
ts

7
3

(4
)

O
n
 S

tr
e
e
t

C
a
r 

P
a
rk

in
g

A
d
d
it
io

n
a
l
s
ta

ff
in

g
c
o
s
ts

6
2

(4
)

O
n
 S

tr
e
e
t

C
a
r 

P
a
rk

in
g

A
d
d
it
io

n
a
l
s
ta

ff
in

g
c
o
s
ts

(6
)

(2
)

4

O
ff
 S

tr
e
e
t

C
a
r 

P
a
rk

in
g

A
d
d
it
io

n
a
l
c
o
s
ts

o
f
n
e
w

c
o
n
tr

a
c
t

9
(2

4
)

(3
3
)

O
n
 S

tr
e
e
t

C
a
r 

P
a
rk

in
g

A
d
d
it
io

n
a
l
c
o
s
ts

o
f
n
e
w

c
o
n
tr

a
c
t

1
0

(2
3
)

(3
3
)

O
n
 S

tr
e
e
t

C
a
r 

P
a
rk

in
g

A
d
d
it
io

n
a
l
c
o
s
ts

o
f
n
e
w

c
o
n
tr

a
c
t

(1
0
)

2
3

3
3

O
ff
 S

tr
e
e
t

C
a
r 

P
a
rk

in
g

R
e
d
u
c
e
d
 P

e
n
a
lt
y

N
o
ti
c
e
 I

n
c
o
m

e
1
3

3
2

1
9

G
ro

u
n
d
s

M
a
in

te
n
a
n
c
e
/C

a
r 

P
a
rk

in
g

In
c
re

a
s
e
d
 E

n
e
rg

y
C

o
s
ts

5
4

4
0

T
o

ta
l
C

iv
il

E
n

g
in

e
e

ri
n

g
&

M
a

in
te

n
a

n
c

e
3

5
7

6
5

8
(1

8
)

O
th

e
r 

It
e

m
s

In
c
re

a
s
e
d
 I

n
v
e
s
tm

e
n
t 

In
te

re
s
t

(1
0
2
)

(1
0
2
)

0

C
a
r

L
e
a
s
in

g
A

m
e
n
d
m

e
n
ts

 t
o
 S

c
h
e
m

e
(1

0
)

(1
8
)

(2
3
)

(5
)

T
o

ta
l
C

S
B

1
3

8
(1

6
3

)
(2

2
2

)
(5

9
)

O
v
e
rs

p
e
n

d
s
/I
n

c
o

m
e

n
o

t
a
c
h

ie
v
e
d

7
5

U
n

d
e
rs

p
e
n

d
s
/

In
c
o

m
e

O
v
e
ra

c
h

ie
v
e
m

e
n

t
(1

3
4

)

N
e
t

U
n

d
e
rs

p
e
n

d
(5

9
)

C
iv

il
E

n
g

in
e

e
ri

n
g

&
M

a
in

te
n

a
n

c
e

E
n

v
ir

o
n

m
e

n
ta

l

P
ro

te
c

ti
o

n

P
la

n
n

in
g

&

E
c

o
n

o
m

ic

D
e

v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t

Page 70



A
p

p
e

n
d

ix
 B

D
is

tr
ic

t
D

e
v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t

F
u

n
d

C
o

m
m

it
te

e
 /

 S
e
rv

ic
e

D
e
s
c
ri

p
ti

o
n

2
0
0
9
/1

0
2
0
1
0
/1

1

O
ri

g
in

a
l

R
e
v
is

e
d

A
c
tu

a
l

D
if

fe
re

n
c
e

C
/F

w
d

o
v
e
r

u
n

d
e
r

E
s
ti

m
a
te

R
e
v
is

e
d

E
s
ti

m
a
te

E
s
ti

m
a
te

£
0
0
0
's

£
0
0
0
's

£
0
0
0
's

£
0
0
0
's

£
0
0
0
's

£
0
0
0
's

£
0
0
0
's

£
0
0
0
's

£
0
0
0
's

£
0
0
0
's

£
0
0
0
's

L
e
a
d

e
rs

C
o
r p

o
ra

te
P

o
lic

y
 M

a
k
in

g
D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t

o
f 
C

o
m

m
u
n
it
y

S
tr

a
te

g
y

1
0

1
0

1
0

C
o
rp

o
ra

te
P

o
lic

y
 M

a
k
in

g
R

e
ti
re

m
e
n
t

o
f
J
o
in

t 
C

h
ie

f
E

xe
c
u
ti
v
e

(C
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
)

1
6
3

1
6
3

C
o
r p

o
ra

te
P

o
lic

y
 M

a
k
in

g
R

e
ti
re

m
e
n
t

o
f
J
o
in

t 
C

h
ie

f
E

xe
c
u
ti
v
e

(C
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
)H

R
A

E
le

m
e
n
t

(3
3
)

(3
3
)

E
le

c
ti
o
n
s

B
y
-E

le
c
ti
o
n
s

A
ld

e
rt

o
n

W
a
rd

4
4

C
iv

ic
a
n
d
 M

e
m

b
e
r

A
u
d
it

&
G

o
v
e
rn

a
n
c
e
 C

o
m

m
it
te

e
T

ra
in

in
g

2
1

1

C
iv

ic
a
n
d
 M

e
m

b
e
r

W
e
b
c
a
s
ti
n
g

P
ro

je
c
t

4
4

P
u
b
lic

 R
e
la

ti
o
n
s

Im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
ts

 t
o
 M

a
in

 R
e
c
e
p
ti
o
n

A
re

a
3
1

3
1

3
1

T
o

ta
l 

L
e
a
d

e
rs

4
3

1
4
5

1
4
5

0
0

0
0

3
5

3
5

0
0

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y

W
e
ll

b
e
in

g

C
o
n
c
e
s
s
io

n
a
ry

 F
a
re

s
C

o
u
n
ty

W
id

e
S

c
h
e
m

e
2
1

0
(2

1
)

C
o
n
c
e
s
s
io

n
a
ry

 F
a
re

s
N

a
ti
o
n
a
l
B

u
s
 C

o
n
c
e
s
s
io

n
- 

s
e
t

u
p
 c

o
s
ts

5
3

1
9

(3
4
)

5
2

5
2

C
o
n
c
e
s
s
io

n
a
ry

 F
a
re

s
N

a
ti
o
n
a
l
B

u
s
 C

o
n
c
e
s
s
io

n
-

G
ra

n
t

(5
3
)

(5
0
)

3

C
o
n
c
e
s
s
io

n
a
ry

 F
a
re

s
N

e
w

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l
S

c
h
e
m

e
-

G
ra

n
t

(2
3
5
)

(2
3
5
)

(2
4
1
)

(2
4
7
)

C
o
n
c
e
s
s
io

n
a
ry

 F
a
re

s
N

e
w

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l
S

c
h
e
m

e
- 

C
o
s
ts

2
3
5

2
3
5

2
4
1

2
4
7

C
o
n
c
e
s
s
io

n
a
ry

 F
a
re

s
B

u
s

P
e
rm

it
s

S
a
v
in

g
(2

5
)

(2
5
)

2
5

C
o
n
c
e
s
s
io

n
a
r y

 F
a
re

s
T

ra
n
s
p
o
rt

fo
r

L
o
n
d
o
n

re
d
u
c
ti
o
n

in
p
a
s
s
e
s

is
s
u
e
d

(1
7
)

(1
7
)

1
7

S
a
fe

r 
C

o
m

m
u
n
it
ie

s
A

S
B

 I
n
v
e
s
ti
g
a
to

r 
tr

a
in

in
g

2
2

S
a
fe

r 
C

o
m

m
u
n
it
ie

s
P

ro
te

c
ti
v
e
 c

lo
th

in
g

5
5

S
a
fe

r 
C

o
m

m
u
n
it
ie

s
P

o
lic

e
 c

o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 s

a
fe

ty
a
c
c
re

d
it
a
ti
o
n

2
2

S
a
fe

r 
C

o
m

m
u
n
it
ie

s
U

n
s
p
e
n
t

H
o
m

e
O

ff
ic

e
G

ra
n
t

(1
6
)

(1
6
)

1
6

1
6

T
o

ta
l 

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y

W
e
ll

b
e
in

g
0

2
1

(8
9
)

(1
1
0
)

6
8

0
4
2

9
7
7

0
0

F
in

a
n

c
e

a
n

d
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

M
a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t
a
n

d
 C

o
rp

o
ra

te
S

u
p

p
o

rt
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

A
c
c
o
u
n
ta

n
c
y

V
A

T
 C

o
n
s
u
lt
a
n
c
y

3
3

F
in

a
n
c
e
 M

is
c
e
lla

n
e
o
u
s

A
s
s
e
t 

R
e
g
is

te
r

2
0

0
(2

0
)

2
0

2
0

F
in

a
n
c
e
 M

is
c
e
lla

n
e
o
u
s

F
in

a
n
c
e

S
y
s
te

m
O

u
ts

ta
n
d
in

g
 C

o
m

m
it
m

e
n
ts

2
0

2
0

1
5

(5
)

5
1
4

1
9

H
o
u
s
in

g
B

e
n
e
fi
ts

C
o
v
e
r

fo
r 

M
a
te

rn
it
y

le
a
v
e

4
0

4
0

0
(4

0
)

4
0

4
0

H
o
u
s
in

g
B

e
n
e
fi
ts

H
o
u
s
in

g
B

e
n
e
fi
t

A
d
m

in
G

ra
n
t

(N
e
w

 F
o
rm

u
la

)
(1

6
7
)

(1
6
7
)

(1
6
7
)

H
o
u
s
in

g
B

e
n
e
fi
ts

W
e
lf
a
re

 R
e
fo

rm
S

ta
rt

u
p
 c

o
s
ts

6
(2

)
(8

)
8

8

H
o
u
s
in

g
B

e
n
e
fi
ts

E
le

c
tr

o
n
ic

 D
o
c
u
m

e
n
t

m
a
n
a
g
e

m
e

n
t

8
8

7
7

H
o
u
s
in

g
B

e
n
e
fi
ts

L
o
c
a
l
H

o
u
s
in

g
A

llo
w

a
n
c
e
 I

m
p
le

m
e
n
ta

ti
o
n

g
ra

n
t

(1
0
8
)

(1
2
1
)

(1
3
)

H
o
u
s
in

g
B

e
n
e
fi
ts

L
o
c
a
l
H

o
u
s
in

g
A

llo
w

a
n
c
e
 I

m
p
le

m
e
n
ta

ti
o
n
 C

o
s
ts

1
0
8

5
6

(5
2
)

6
5

6
5

H
o
u
s
in

g
B

e
n
e
fi
ts

H
B

S
D

/I
A

D
S

c
a
n
 F

u
n
d
in

g
G

ra
n
t

(1
4
)

1
4

(1
4
)

(1
4
)

H
o
u
s
in

g
B

e
n
e
fi
ts

H
B

S
D

/I
A

D
S

c
a
n
 F

u
n
d
in

g
 C

o
s
ts

1
4

(1
4
)

1
4

1
4

H
o
u
s
in

g
B

e
n
e
fi
ts

/L
o
c
a
l
T

a
xa

ti
o
n

R
e
p
la

c
e
m

e
n
t 

R
e
v
e
n
u
e
s

&
B

e
n
e
fi
ts

 s
y
s
te

m
8
0

1
0
6

2
4

(8
2
)

8
2

4
0

1
2
2

In
d
u
s
tr

ia
l
E

s
ta

te
s

L
a
n
g

s
to

n
 R

o
a
d
 I

n
d
u
s
tr

ia
l
E

s
ta

te
- 

D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t

P
ro

p
o
s
a
ls

3
9

3
9

In
s
u
ra

n
c
e
/R

is
k
 M

a
n
a
g
e

m
e

n
t

Im
p
le

m
e
n
ta

ti
o
n

o
f 
R

is
k
 M

a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t

S
tr

a
te

g
y

9
3

0
(3

)
3

3

L
e
g
a
l
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

D
a
ta

 c
a
p
tu

re
re

L
a
n
d

T
e
rr

ie
r

9
1
1

1
1

L
e
g
a
l
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

C
o
m

p
u
te

ri
s
a
ti
o
n

o
f
L
a
n
d

T
e
rr

ie
r

re
c
o
rd

s
1
7

1
7

1
7

L
e
g
a
l
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

R
e
g
is

tr
a
ti
o
n

o
f
U

n
re

g
is

te
re

d
T

it
le

s
4
1

1
1

(1
)

4
2

4
1

L
e
g
a
l
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

O
ff
ic

e
E

q
u
ip

m
e
n
t

1
1

(1
)

3
2

L
a
n
d
 C

h
a
r g

e
s

R
e
d
u
c
e
d
 I

n
c
o
m

e
5
7

7
3

1
6

1
6

L
a
n
d
 C

h
a
r g

e
s

R
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n

in
 s

e
a
rc

h
 c

o
s
ts

p
a
y
a
b
le

 t
o

E
C

C
(2

0
)

(2
6
)

(6
)

6

O
ff
ic

e
A

c
c
o
m

m
o
d
a
ti
o
n

E
s
s
e
n
ti
a
l
W

o
rk

 t
o
 C

iv
ic

O
ff
ic

e
s

6
6

7
1

7
2

1
(1

)
7
7

7
6

3
1

2
0

O
ff
ic

e
A

c
c
o
m

m
o
d
a
ti
o
n

C
iv

ic
O

ff
ic

e
s

A
tr

iu
m

w
o
rk

s

O
ff
ic

e
A

c
c
o
m

m
o
d
a
ti
o
n

P
o
te

n
ti
a
l
A

c
c
o
m

m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 C

h
a
n
g
e
s

1
3

1
3

1
0
0

1
0
0

O
ff
ic

e
A

c
c
o
m

m
o
d
a
ti
o
n

 C
iv

ic
O

ff
ic

e
s

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
ta

l 
Im

p
s
 C

o
m

fo
rt

 C
o
o
lin

g
1
0

2
(8

)
8

1
0
0

1
0
8

O
ff
ic

e
A

c
c
o
m

m
o
d
a
ti
o
n

N
e
w

t
P

o
n
d

B
o
u
n
d
r y

W
a
ll 

R
e
p
a
ir

5
5

U
n
a
p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

d
L
a
n
d

C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
n
t`

s
 F

e
e
s

- 
D

e
v

P
o
te

n
ti
a
l
o
f 
C

o
u
n
c
il 

 C
a
r

P
a
rk

s
2
6

1
3

(1
3
)

1
3

1
3

U
n
a
p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

d
L
a
n
d

C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
n
t`

s
 F

e
e
s

&
 s

it
e
 s

u
rv

e
y
s

L
a
n
g

s
to

n
 R

d
 D

e
p
o
t

2
0

7
(1

3
)

1
3

1
3

N
o
n

H
R

A
B

u
ild

in
g

 M
a
in

te
n
a
n
c
e

P
la

n
n
e
d

B
u
ild

in
g

 M
a
in

te
n
a
n
c
e

P
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
1
3
0

1
3
0

T
o

ta
l 

F
in

a
n

c
e
,P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

M
a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t
a
n

d
 C

o
rp

o
ra

te
S

u
p

p
o

rt
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

1
1
5

2
6
0

1
6

(2
4
4
)

2
5
4

1
6

6
5
4
1

7
9
5

3
1

2
0

2
0
0
7
/0

8
2
0
0
8
/0

9

Page 71



A
p

p
e

n
d

ix
 B

D
is

tr
ic

t
D

e
v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t

F
u

n
d

C
o

m
m

it
te

e
 /

 S
e
rv

ic
e

D
e
s
c
ri

p
ti

o
n

2
0
0
9
/1

0
2
0
1
0
/1

1

O
ri

g
in

a
l

R
e
v
is

e
d

A
c
tu

a
l

D
if

fe
re

n
c
e

C
/F

w
d

o
v
e
r

u
n

d
e
r

E
s
ti

m
a
te

R
e
v
is

e
d

E
s
ti

m
a
te

E
s
ti

m
a
te

£
0
0
0
's

£
0
0
0
's

£
0
0
0
's

£
0
0
0
's

£
0
0
0
's

£
0
0
0
's

£
0
0
0
's

£
0
0
0
's

£
0
0
0
's

£
0
0
0
's

£
0
0
0
's

2
0
0
7
/0

8
2
0
0
8
/0

9

H
o

u
s
in

g

H
o
m

e
le

s
s
n
e
s
s

H
o
m

e
le

s
s
n
e
s
s

P
re

v
e
n
ti
o
n

O
ff
ic

e
rs

9
1
8

1
0

(8
)

8
8

H
o
u
s
in

g
B

e
n
e
fi
ts

N
o
n

H
R

A
 R

e
n
t 

R
e
b
a
te

s
(2

8
)

(2
8
)

2
8

P
ri
v
a
te

S
e
c
to

r
H

o
u
s
in

g
H

o
u
s
in

g
 s

tr
a
te

g
y

a
n
d

e
m

p
ty

h
o
m

e
s
 s

u
rv

e
y
s

4
8

8

P
ri
v
a
te

S
e
c
to

r
H

o
u
s
in

g
C

o
n
s
u
lt
a
n
c
y

P
ri
v
a
te

S
e
c
to

r
A

s
s
is

ta
n
c
e

P
o
lic

y
1
0

5
6

1
(1

)
1
5

1
4

P
ri
v
a
te

S
e
c
to

r
H

o
u
s
in

g
H

a
n
d
y
p
e
rs

o
n

S
c
h
e
m

e
3

2
1

(1
)

1
1

2

T
o

ta
l 

H
o

u
s
in

g
2
6

2
5

(1
1
)

(3
6
)

8
0

2
8

2
4

3
2

0
0

L
e
is

u
re

L
e
is

u
re

 M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t

A
lt
e
rn

a
ti
v
e
 M

a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t

1
5
1

1
6
8

1
6
5

(3
)

3

L
o
u
g
h
to

n
L
e
is

u
re

 C
e
n
tr

e
M

e
d
ia

ti
o
n

1
5

0
(1

5
)

1
5

1
5

C
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t

P
ro

v
is

io
n

o
f
P

o
rt

a
k
a
b
in

7
4

0
(4

)
4

4

O
p
e
n

S
p
a
c
e
s

N
u
rs

e
ry

 M
a
in

te
n
a
n
c
e

7
7

N
o
rt

h
W

e
a
ld

A
ir
fi
e
ld

H
ig

h
V

o
lt
a
g
e
 D

is
tr

ib
u
ti
o
n

N
e
tw

o
rk

5
 y

r
P

ro
g
ra

m
m

e
2

2
(2

)
5

3

N
o
rt

h
W

e
a
ld

A
ir
fi
e
ld

S
c
o
u
ts

J
a
m

b
o
re

e
A

d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
In

c
o
m

e
(5

0
)

(7
3
)

(7
3
)

N
o
rt

h
W

e
a
ld

A
ir
fi
e
ld

M
a
in

te
n
a
n
c
e

1
1

9
(2

)
2

2

M
u
s
e
u
m

C
o
m

m
u
n
it
y

V
e
n
u
e
s

O
u
tr

e
a
c
h

P
ilo

t
P

ro
je

c
t

1
0

1
0

C
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t

A
d
d
it
io

n
a
l
P

ro
je

c
ts

2
0

2
0

2
4

4

C
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t

A
d
d
it
io

n
a
l
P

ro
je

c
ts

(2
0
)

(2
0
)

(2
4
)

(4
)

C
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t

Y
o
u
th

 C
o
u
n
c
il

5
4

(1
)

1
1

S
p
o
rt

s
 D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t

A
d
d
it
io

n
a
l
P

ro
je

c
ts

3
0

3
9

3
8

(1
)

S
p
o
rt

s
 D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t

A
d
d
it
io

n
a
l
P

ro
je

c
ts

(3
0
)

(3
9
)

(3
8
)

1

T
o

ta
l 

L
e
is

u
re

1
0
8

1
4
7

1
2
4

(2
3
)

2
0

0
3

5
2
5

0
0

E
n

v
ir

o
n

m
e
n

ta
l

P
ro

te
c
ti

o
n

W
a
s
te

 M
a
n
a
g
e

m
e

n
t

R
e
c
y
c
lin

g
 M

e
a
s
u
re

s
5
6

5
6

5
6

W
a
s
te

 M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t

M
a
in

ta
in

in
g

w
a
s
te

 s
e
rv

ic
e

w
h
ils

t
p
ro

c
u
re

m
e
n
t

u
n
d
e
rt

a
k
e
n

7
1
7

9
3
3

2
1
6

2
1
6

W
a
s
te

 M
a
n
a
g
e

m
e

n
t

S
u

b
s
c
ri
p
ti
o
n

 t
o

p
ro

c
u
re

m
e
n
t

h
u
b

1
5

1
5

7
7

W
a
s
te

 M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t

G
o
v
e
rn

m
e
n
t

G
ra

n
t

(5
6
)

(5
6
)

(5
6
)

W
a
s
te

 M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t

C
o
n
tr

a
c
t 

te
rm

in
a
ti
o
n

a
n
d

n
e
w

 c
o
n
tr

a
c
t 

s
e
t

u
p

6
6

6
6

W
a
s
te

 M
a
n
a
g
e

m
e

n
t

S
a

fe
r,

 C
le

a
n
e
r

a
n
d

G
re

e
n
e
r

5
5

L
ic

e
n
c
in

g
&

 R
e
g
is

tr
a
ti
o
n

A
d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
In

c
o
m

e
(8

)
(8

)
8

H
a
c
k
n
e
y
 C

a
rr

ia
g
e

L
ic

e
n
c
in

g
A

d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
In

c
o
m

e
(2

2
)

(2
2
)

2
2

N
e
i g

h
b
o
u
rh

o
o
d
s
 /

 R
a

p
id

 R
e
s
p
o

n
s
e

S
a

fe
r,

 C
le

a
n
e
r

a
n
d

G
re

e
n
e
r

1
8

1
8

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 C

o
n
tr

o
l

A
ir

Q
u
a
lit

y
 M

a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t

A
re

a
4

4

P
o
llu

ti
o
n
 C

o
n
tr

o
l

B
o
b
b
in

g
w

o
rt

h
T

ip
4

1

T
o

ta
l

E
n

v
ir

o
n

m
e
n

ta
l

P
ro

te
c
ti

o
n

0
7
9
8

9
8
4

1
8
6

0
2
1
6

3
0

3
4

3
4

4
1

Page 72



A
p

p
e

n
d

ix
 B

D
is

tr
ic

t
D

e
v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t

F
u

n
d

C
o

m
m

it
te

e
 /

 S
e
rv

ic
e

D
e
s
c
ri

p
ti

o
n

2
0
0
9
/1

0
2
0
1
0
/1

1

O
ri

g
in

a
l

R
e
v
is

e
d

A
c
tu

a
l

D
if

fe
re

n
c
e

C
/F

w
d

o
v
e
r

u
n

d
e
r

E
s
ti

m
a
te

R
e
v
is

e
d

E
s
ti

m
a
te

E
s
ti

m
a
te

£
0
0
0
's

£
0
0
0
's

£
0
0
0
's

£
0
0
0
's

£
0
0
0
's

£
0
0
0
's

£
0
0
0
's

£
0
0
0
's

£
0
0
0
's

£
0
0
0
's

£
0
0
0
's

2
0
0
7
/0

8
2
0
0
8
/0

9

P
la

n
n

in
g

 &
 E

c
o

n
o

m
ic

 D
e

v
e

lo
p

m
e
n

t

C
o
u
n
tr

y
c
a
re

V
e
te

ra
n

T
re

e
P

ro
je

c
t

4
0

4
4

4

C
o
u
n
tr

y
c
a
re

V
e
te

ra
n

T
re

e
P

ro
je

c
t

(4
0
)

(4
7
)

(7
)

3
3

D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

C
o
n
tr

o
l

C
o
m

p
e
n
s
a
ti
o
n

W
a
s
te

T
ra

n
s
fe

r
S

ta
ti
o
n

4
6

4
6

D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

C
o
n
tr

o
l

R
e
d
u
c
e
d
 I

n
c
o
m

e
4
0

5
1

1
1

1
1

E
c
o
n
o
m

ic
 D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t

D
e
v
e
lo

p
in

g
B

u
s
in

e
s
s

N
e
tw

o
rk

s
5

5

E
c
o
n
o
m

ic
 D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t

E
n
h
a
n
c
e
d

B
u
s
in

e
s
s
 C

o
n
ta

c
ts

4
0

(4
)

4
4

E
c
o
n
o
m

ic
 D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t

T
o
w

n
 C

e
n
tr

e
 M

a
n
a
g
e
r

3
5

3
5

E
n
fo

rc
e
m

e
n
t

P
a
y
n
e
s

L
a
n
e

T
ra

v
e
lle

r 
In

c
u
rs

io
n

1
2
2

8
5

8
3

(2
)

2

F
o
rw

a
rd

P
la

n
n
in

g
H

ig
h

H
e
d
g
e

s
L

e
g
is

la
ti
o
n

-
S

ta
ff
in

g
1
8

1
7

1
4

(3
)

3
4

4

F
o
rw

a
rd

P
la

n
n
in

g
T

e
c
h
n
ic

a
l
P

la
n
n
in

g
O

ff
ic

e
r

-T
re

e
P

re
s
e
rv

a
ti
o
n

1
4

1
4

4

F
o
rw

a
rd

P
la

n
n
in

g
L
o
c
a
l 
D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

F
ra

m
e
w

o
rk

1
6
0

4
0

2
6

(1
4
)

5
9

2
8
8

2
9
3

2
1
7

6
1
5

P
la

n
n
in

g
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

P
la

n
n
in

g
 D

e
liv

e
ry

G
ra

n
t 

1
1
5

1
7

1
9

2
2

P
la

n
n
in

g
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

P
la

n
n
in

g
 D

e
liv

e
ry

G
ra

n
t 

2
2
4

2
0

1
5

(5
)

5
2
7

2
7

P
la

n
n
in

g
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

P
la

n
n
in

g
 D

e
liv

e
ry

G
ra

n
t 

3
1
0

2
2

2
7

5
5

1
4

1
4

P
la

n
n
in

g
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

P
la

n
n
in

g
 D

e
liv

e
ry

G
ra

n
t 

4
4
9

4
2

(7
)

7
3
8

3
8

2

P
la

n
n
in

g
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

P
la

n
n
in

g
 D

e
liv

e
ry

G
ra

n
t 

4
(4

0
)

(4
0
)

P
la

n
n
in

g
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

P
la

n
n
in

g
 D

e
liv

e
ry

G
ra

n
t 

5
1
5

4
8

2
4

(2
4
)

2
4

1
6
0

1
6
0

P
la

n
n
in

g
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

P
la

n
n
in

g
 D

e
liv

e
ry

G
ra

n
t 

5
(1

5
)

(4
8
)

(4
8
)

(1
6
0
)

(1
6
0
)

P
la

n
n
in

g
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

S
c
a
n
n
in

g
 D

D
F

3
5

7
3

3
8

3
8

T
o
u
ri
s
m

R
u
ra

l
P

ro
je

c
ts

a
n
d

T
o
u
ri
s
m

O
ff
ic

e
r

3
0

3
0

T
o
u
ri
s
m

T
o
u
ri
s
m

S
u
m

m
it

2
0

(2
)

2
2

T
o
w

n
 C

e
n
tr

e
E

n
h
a
n
c
e
m

e
n
ts

W
a
lt
h
a
m

A
b
b
e

y
T

o
w

n
 C

e
n
tr

e
im

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
ts

2
5

5
(2

0
)

2
0

2
0

T
o
w

n
 C

e
n
tr

e
E

n
h
a
n
c
e
m

e
n
ts

T
o
w

n
 C

e
n
tr

e
S

u
p
p
o
rt

1
2

1
2

1
2

1
2

T
o

ta
l

P
la

n
n

in
g

 &
 E

c
o

n
o

m
ic

 D
e

v
e

lo
p

m
e
n

t
3
4
9

4
0
2

3
7
4

(2
8
)

3
4

5
6

5
0

4
2
7

4
6
1

2
3
5

6
2
7

C
iv

il
E

n
g

in
e
e
ri

n
g

 &
 M

a
in

te
n

a
n

c
e

L
a
n
d
 D

ra
in

a
g
e

R
e
m

e
d
ia

l
W

o
rk

s
P

ri
n
c
ip

a
l
O

rd
in

a
ry

W
a
te

rc
o
u
rs

e
s

1
9
9

1
9
9

1
1
4

(8
5
)

8
5

9
0

1
7
5

L
a
n
d
 D

ra
in

a
g
e

S
e
n
io

r
E

n
g
in

e
e
r

(2
Y

e
a
rs

)
5
0

1
0
0

6
8

(3
2
)

3
2

3
2

L
a
n
d
 D

ra
in

a
g
e

R
e
im

b
u
rs

e
m

e
n
t

fr
o
m

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
t

A
g
e

n
c
y

(5
0
)

(1
0
0
)

(6
8
)

3
2

(3
2
)

(3
2
)

O
ff

S
tr

e
e
t 

C
a
r

P
a
rk

in
g

In
c
re

a
s
e
d
 I

n
c
o
m

e
(1

9
)

(1
9
)

1
9

H
i g

h
w

a
y
s

R
e
s
id

u
a
l 
C

o
s
ts

3
6

3
4

3
4

T
o

ta
l 

C
iv

il
E

n
g

in
e
e
ri

n
g

 &
 M

a
in

te
n

a
n

c
e

2
3
5

2
3
3

1
2
9

(1
0
4
)

8
5

0
1
9

9
0

1
7
5

0
0

T
o

ta
l

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

 D
is

tr
ic

t 
D

e
v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t 

F
u

n
d

8
7
6

2
,0

3
1

1
,6

7
2

(3
5
9
)

4
6
9

2
8
8

1
7
8

1
,1

6
5

1
,6

3
4

2
7
0

6
4
8

O
th

e
r 

It
e
m

s

R
e
im

b
u
rs

e
m

e
n
t

o
f
H

i g
h
w

a
y
s
 R

e
s
id

u
a
l 
C

o
s
ts

(1
1
7
)

(1
1
7
)

(1
1
7
)

In
c
re

a
s
e
d
 I

n
v
e
s
tm

e
n
t 

In
te

re
s
t

(3
1
2
)

(3
8
4
)

(7
2
)

7
2

S
e
c
o
n
d

H
o
m

e
s
 D

is
c
o
u
n
t

A
llo

w
a
n
c
e

(7
3
)

(7
3
)

(8
7
)

(8
7
)

B
a
c
k
d
a
te

d
H

o
u
s
in

g
G

ra
n
t

(3
2
5
)

(3
2
5
)

P
ro

v
is

io
n
 R

e
le

a
s
e
d

(6
2
)

(6
2
)

6
2

L
o
c
a
l
A

u
th

o
ri
t y

B
u
s
in

e
s
s

G
ro

w
th

 I
n
c
e
n
ti
v
e
s

S
c
h
e
m

e
(2

0
0
)

(2
4
1
)

(4
4
6
)

(2
0
5
)

2
0
5

T
o

ta
l 

D
is

tr
ic

t 
D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n

t 
F

u
n

d
5
5
9

9
6
3

2
6
5

(6
9
8
)

4
6
9

2
8
8

5
1
7

1
,0

7
8

1
,5

4
7

2
7
0

6
4
8

Page 73



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix

 C

2
0
0
7
/0

8

O
ri

g
in

a
l

2
0
0
7
/0

8

R
e
v
is

e
d

2
0
0
7
/0

8

A
c
tu

a
l

O
v
e
r

s
p

e
n

d

U
n

d
e
r

s
p

e
n

d
N

e
t

C
a
rr

y

F
o

rw
a
rd

2
0
0
8
/0

9

O
ri

g
in

a
l

2
0
0
8
/0

9

R
e
v
is

e
d

S
e
rv

ic
e

£
0
0
0

£
0
0
0

£
0
0
0

£
0
0
0

£
0
0
0

£
0
0
0

£
0
0
0

£
0
0
0

£
0
0
0

L
e
a
d
e
rs

4
3

1
4
5

1
4
5

0
0

0
0

3
5

3
5

C
o
m

m
u
n
it
y

W
e
ll
b
e
in

g
0

2
1

(8
9
)

0
(4

2
)

(4
2
)

6
8

9
7
7

F
in

a
n
c
e

&
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t

1
1
5

2
6
0

1
6

1
6

(6
)

1
0

2
5
4

5
4
1

7
9
5

H
o
u
s
in

g
2
6

2
5

(1
1
)

0
(2

8
)

(2
8
)

8
2
4

3
2

L
e
is

u
re

1
0
8

1
4
7

1
2
4

0
(3

)
(3

)
2
0

5
2
5

E
n
v
ir

o
n
m

e
n
ta

l
P

ro
te

c
ti
o
n

0
7
9
8

9
8
4

2
1
6

(3
0
)

1
8
6

0
3
4

3
4

P
la

n
n
in

g
&

E
c
o
n
o
m

ic
D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t

3
4
9

4
0
2

3
7
4

5
6

(5
0
)

6
3
4

4
2
7

4
6
1

C
iv

il
E

n
g
in

e
e
ri

n
g

&
M

a
in

te
n
a
n
c
e

2
3
5

2
3
3

1
2
9

0
(1

9
)

(1
9
)

8
5

9
0

1
7
5

T
o

ta
l

D
D

F
E

x
p

e
n

d
it

u
re

8
7
6

2
,0

3
1

1
,6

7
2

2
8
8

(1
7
8
)

1
1
0

4
6
9

1
,1

6
5

1
,6

3
4

F
u

n
d

in
g

A
n

a
ly

s
is

T
ra

n
s
fe

r 
fr

o
m

D
D

F
2
,9

1
6

2
,9

1
6

T
ra

n
s
fe

r 
to

 G
e
n
e
ra

l
F

u
n
d

8
7
6

2
,0

3
1

1
,6

7
2

(1
,7

5
1
)

(1
,2

8
2
)

T
o

ta
l

D
D

F
F

u
n

d
in

g
8
7
6

2
,0

3
1

1
,6

7
2

1
,1

6
5

1
,6

3
4

D
D

F
E

a
rm

a
rk

e
d

R
e
s
e
rv

e

B
a
la

n
c
e

B
/F

3
,1

8
1

3
,1

8
1

3
,1

8
1

2
,2

1
8

2
,9

1
6

R
e
im

b
u
rs

e
m

e
n
t

o
f

H
ig

h
w

a
y
s

R
e
s
id

u
a
l
C

o
s
ts

1
1
7

1
1
7

1
1
7

In
c
re

a
s
e
d
 I

n
v
e
s
tm

e
n
t 

In
te

re
s
t

3
1
2

3
8
4

S
e
c
o
n
d

H
o
m

e
s

D
is

c
o
u
n
t

A
ll
o
w

a
n
c
e

7
3

7
3

8
7

8
7

B
a
c
k
d
a
te

d
H

o
u
s
in

g
 G

ra
n
t

3
2
5

3
2
5

P
ro

v
is

io
n

R
e
le

a
s
e
d

6
2

L
o
c
a
l
A

u
th

o
ri

ty
B

u
s
in

e
s
s
 G

ro
w

th
 I

n
c
e
n
ti
v
e
s

S
c
h
e
m

e
2
0
0

2
4
1

4
4
6

P
ro

v
is

io
n
 f

o
r

c
a
rr

y
 f

o
rw

a
rd

4
6
9

T
ra

n
s
fe

r 
O

u
t

(8
7
6
)

(2
,0

3
1
)

(2
,1

4
1
)

(1
,1

6
5
)

(1
,6

3
4
)

B
a
la

n
c
e

C
/F

2
,6

2
2

2
,2

1
8

2
,9

1
6

1
,1

4
0

1
,3

6
9

D
is

tr
ic

t
D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n

t
F

u
n

d

Page 74



Appendix D
District Development Fund 2007/2008

Portfolio Description

C/Fwd Overspend Underspend

£000's £000's £000's
Leaders

Total Leaders 0 0 0

Community Wellbeing

Concessionary Fares National Bus Concession - set up costs 52

Concessionary Fares Bus Permits Saving 25

Concessionary Fares Transport for London reduction in passes issued 17

Safer Communities Unspent Home Office Grant 16

Total Community Wellbeing 68 0 42

Finance and Performance Management and Corporate Support Services

Finance Miscellaneous Asset Register 20

Finance Miscellaneous Finance System Outstanding Commitments 5

Housing Benefits Cover for Maternity leave 40

Housing Benefits Welfare Reform Start up costs 8

Housing Benefits Local Housing Allowance Implementation Costs 65

Housing Benefits HBSD/IAD Scan Funding Grant (14)

Housing Benefits HBSD/IAD Scan Funding Costs 14

Housing Benefits/Local Taxation Replacement Revenues & Benefits system 82

Insurance/Risk Management Implementation of Risk Management Strategy 3

Legal Services Registration of Unregistered Titles (1)

Legal Services Office Equipment (1)

Land Charges Reduced Income 16

Land Charges Reduction in search costs payable to ECC 6

Office Accommodation Essential Work to Civic Offices (1)

Office Accommodation  Civic Offices Environmental Imps Comfort Cooling 8

Unappropriated Land Consultant`s Fees - Dev Potential of Council  Car Parks 13

Unappropriated Land Consultant`s Fees & site surveys Langston Rd Depot 13

Total Finance,Performance Management and Corporate Support Services 254 16 6

Housing

Homelessness Homelessness Prevention Officers 8

Housing Benefits Non HRA Rent Rebates 28

Private Sector Housing Consultancy Private Sector Assistance Policy (1)

Private Sector Housing Handyperson Scheme 1

Total Housing 8 0 28

Leisure

Leisure Management Alternative Management 3

Loughton Leisure Centre Mediation 15

Community Development Provision of Portakabin 4

North Weald Airfield High Voltage Distribution Network 5 yr Programme (2)

North Weald Airfield Maintenance 2

Community Development Youth Council 1

Total Leisure 20 0 3

Environmental Protection

Waste Management Maintaining waste service whilst procurement undertaken 216

Licencing & Registration Additional Income 8

Hackney Carriage Licencing Additional Income 22

Total Environmental Protection 0 216 30

Page 75



Appendix D
District Development Fund 2007/2008

Portfolio Description

C/Fwd Overspend Underspend

£000's £000's £000's

Planning & Economic Development

Countrycare Veteran Tree Project 3

Development Control Reduced Income 11

Economic Development Enhanced Business Contacts 4

Enforcement Paynes Lane Traveller Incursion 2

Forward Planning High Hedges Legislation - Staffing 3

Forward Planning Local Development Framework 5 9

Planning Services Planning Delivery Grant 1 2

Planning Services Planning Delivery Grant 2 5

Planning Services Planning Delivery Grant 3 5

Planning Services Planning Delivery Grant 4 7

Planning Services Planning Delivery Grant 5 24

Planning Services Scanning DDF 38

Tourism Tourism Summit 2

Town Centre Enhancements Waltham Abbey Town Centre improvements 20

Total Planning & Economic Development 34 56 50

Civil Engineering & Maintenance

Land Drainage Remedial Works Principal Ordinary Watercourses 85

Land Drainage Senior Engineer (2 Years) 32

Land Drainage Reimbursement from Environment Agency (32)

Off Street Car Parking Increased Income 19

Total Civil Engineering & Maintenance 85 0 19

Other Items 339

Total District Development Fund 469 288 517

Page 76



Report to the Finance and Performance 
Management Cabinet Committee 

 
Report reference:  FPM-004-2008/09. 
Date of meeting:   16 June 2008. 
 
Portfolio: Finance & Performance Management. 
 
Subject:  Capital Outturn 2007/08 and Use of Transitional Relief in 2008/09. 
 
Responsible Officer:   Teresa Brown  (01992  564604). 
 
Democratic Services Officer:   Gary Woodhall  (01992  564470). 
 
Recommendations: 

 
 (1) That the provisional capital outturn for 2007/08 be noted; 

 
(2) That retrospective approval for the over and underspends in 2007/08 on 
certain capital schemes as identified in the report is recommended to Cabinet; 

 
(3) That approval for the carry forward of unspent capital estimates into 
2008/09 relating to schemes on which slippage has occurred is recommended 
to Cabinet;  

 
(4) That retrospective approval for the bringing forward of estimates from 
2008/09 into 2007/08 in respect of schemes which have progressed more rapidly 
than expected is recommended to Cabinet; 

 
(5) That approval for the virement of a £20,000 saving to the General IT 
budget, to be carried forward to 2008/09, is recommended to Cabinet; 

 
(6) That approval for the virement equivalent to the remaining net savings of 
£350,000 to the General Capital Contingency is recommended to Cabinet which, 
together with the sum unallocated in 2007/08, is recommended for carried 
forward to 2008/09; 

 
(7) That the previous approvals to use the unapplied balance of transitional 
capital receipts for financing contributions to affordable housing schemes be 
noted.  

 
Executive Summary: 
 
This report sets out the Council’s capital programme for 2007/08, in terms of expenditure and 
financing, and compares the actual outturn figures with the revised estimates. The revised 
estimates represent those agreed at Cabinet on 4 February 2008, which were based on the 
Capital Strategy adopted by Council on 18 December 2007.  
 
Appendix 1 summarises the Council’s overall capital expenditure in 2007/08, analysed by 
portfolio, while appendices 2 and 3 identify the expenditure on individual schemes. Variations 
from revised estimates are shown in the third column of each appendix and these are 
identified as savings, overspends, carry forwards or brought forwards on a scheme-by-
scheme basis in appendices 2 and 3. The carry forwards and brought forwards represent 
changes in the timing and phasing of schemes and the movement of estimates between 
financial years rather than amendments to total scheme estimates. 
 

Agenda Item 9

Page 77



An analysis of the funds used to finance the Council’s capital expenditure in 2007/08 is also 
given in appendix 1, detailing the use of government grants, private funding, capital receipts 
and revenue contributions to capital outlay. The generation and use of capital receipts and 
Major Repairs Fund resources in 2007/08 are detailed in appendix 4. 
 
The report also identifies the proposed use of the transitional capital receipts that remain 
unused as at 31 March 2008.  
 
Reasons for Proposed Decision: 
 
The action recommended is intended to make the best use of the Council’s capital resources 
that are available to finance the Capital Programme in 2007/08. 
 
Other Options for Action: 
 
The HRA capital expenditure in 2007/08 could have been financed partly from the use of 
usable capital receipts. This option was rejected because the RCCO level suggested in this 
report is affordable within the HRA, according to current predictions, and any use of usable 
capital receipts for HRA purposes would have the effect of reducing scarce capital resources 
available for the General Fund. 
 
Report: 
 
Capital Expenditure 
 
1. The overall position in 2007/08 was that a total of £10,597,000 was spent on capital 
schemes, compared to a revised estimate of £12,324,000. This represents an underspend of 
£1,727,000 or 14% on the Council’s revised capital budget.  The underspend was greater on 
General Fund schemes than Housing Revenue Account (HRA) schemes. Expenditure on 
General Fund projects totaled £4,949,000, which was £1,236,000 or 20% less than 
anticipated, whilst expenditure on the HRA totaled £5,648,000, which was £491,000 or 8% 
less than anticipated. 
 
2. There were some underspends experienced in 2007/08 which have been identified as 
savings. This was primarily on private sector housing grants where there were underspends 
of £186,000 and  £154,000 on Disabled Facilities Grants and other private sector grants 
respectively. The Director of Housing has advised that both sums can be taken as savings 
and this report recommends that the saving is transferred into the General Capital 
Contingency. 
 
3. There were two schemes within the non-housing programme on which savings were 
also identified. These include £20,000 relating to the creation of a second computer suite at 
the Civic Offices which is now complete; and £15,000 set aside to finance the costs 
associated with the sale of land at Merlin Road but Cabinet has agreed to put this on hold for 
the time being. It is proposed that the £20,000 saving from the computer suite be returned to 
the General IT budget from which a top up was vired last year and the £15,000 Merlin Road 
allocation be returned to the Capital Contingency. 
 
4. These savings were counterbalanced to a small extent by an overspend of £5,000 on 
the car park upgrade at Queen’s Road, Buckhurst Hill. It is suggested that this sum be taken 
from the Capital Contingency. Together with the savings identified above, this generates a 
net saving of £350,000.  Members are requested to consider using this to increase the 
General Capital Contingency to a total of £531,000. It is suggested that this amount be 
carried forward into 2008/09 to be used as a first call for new capital bids. There was also a 
small overspend of £6,000 on an HRA scheme at Hemnall Street. The scheme involved 
major conversions works which were completed just over three years ago but an outstanding 
claim was finally resolved in April which was slightly higher than anticipated. 
 
5. The majority of the underspends on the General Fund and HRA schemes relate to 

Page 78



slippage of expenditure and it is proposed that this is re-phased into 2008/09. Appendices 2 
and 3 give details of the individual projects where slippage has occurred. The main areas of 
slippage on the General Fund included: the contribution to Estuary Housing Association for 
affordable housing; the purchase of 8/8a Sun Street in Waltham Abbey under a compulsory 
purchase order; the Youth Sports Facilities programme, Civic Office works and ICT projects. 
Within the HRA the main areas of slippage were roofing, kitchen replacements and 
environmental improvements to shops. It is requested that the capital allocations for all the 
schemes identified in the appendices receive retrospective approval to be carried forward to 
2008/09. 
 
6. It is also requested that the underspend on Phase 2 of the town centre enhancement 
works at Loughton High Road be carried forward despite the scheme having been 
completed, pending finalisation of scheme costs when a report will be presented to Cabinet. 
This brings the total sum requested for carry forward to £2,209,000; £1,572,000 in respect of 
the General Fund and £637,000 in respect of the HRA. 
 
7. There were also several General Fund and HRA schemes, which progressed more 
rapidly than anticipated. These included the works being undertaken at Bobbingworth Tip; the 
Loughton Broadway town centre enhancement works; the parking and traffic schemes; and 
the contribution to London & Quadrant Housing Association for affordable housing. The 
overspend on the flood alleviation schemes resulted from the fact that a higher than expected 
proportion of the works undertaken were of a capital nature. A report on the progress of these 
works will be presented to Cabinet as appropriate. Within the HRA the projects ahead of 
target were the major improvement works at Springfields and, to a much smaller extent, the 
adaptations undertaken for people with disabilities in Council accommodation. A total sum of 
£846,000 to be brought forward from 2008/09 to 2007/08 is requested for retrospective 
approval from Members: £706,000 in respect of the General Fund and £140,000 in respect of 
the HRA. 
 
8. Members are requested to approve the total carry forwards and brought forwards 
referred to above on the schemes identified in appendices 2 and 3; the total net carry forward 
requested is £1,363,000, £866,000 on the General Fund and £497,000 on the HRA. 
 
Contributions to the Pension Fund 
 
9. Capital contributions to the Pension Fund Reserve were initiated in 2003/04 to 
provide for future pension contributions and a transfer of £2,500,000 was made at that point 
from usable capital receipts. Since then capitalized costs totaling £2,378,000 have been 
charged to the reserve in line with the capitalisation directions received each year since 
2005/06; the sum charged in respect of 2007/08 being £999,000. Cabinet approved a further 
transfer of £2,500,000 on 4 February 2008. This leaves a capital balance of £2,621,000 
remaining on the Pension Fund Reserve to finance future increased contributions. These 
sums are not shown on the appendices. 
 
Funding 
 
10. When financing the capital programme, government grants and private funding that 
have been received to finance specific schemes, are applied initially. Appendix 1 identifies all 
the grants used in 2007/08 and it compares the actual sums used with the amounts 
estimated in the revised capital programme. Although the maximum government grants 
allowable have been applied where appropriate, the actual sums are less than estimated in 
all cases except Disabled Facilities Grants (DFGs) where the upper limit was increased. The 
reduced level of grants applied reflect the reduced spending in areas attracting grants; the 
most notable being the Decent Homes Grant received from the DCLG. All unapplied grants 
can be legitimately carried forward and applied in future years, although there is some 
uncertainty regarding the unapplied DFGs and this is currently being investigated. Private 
financing in the form of contributions from leaseholders were also reduced as adjustments 
were required to sums estimated in respect of 2006/07 and work undertaken on leaseholders 
properties proved to be less than anticipated in 2007/08. In contrast to this, slightly more 

Page 79



funding from other sources was used to enhance the contribution to London & Quadrant 
Housing Association for affordable housing by using the interest income which had accrued 
on the balance held in the accounts; this was approved by Cabinet in March 2008. 
 
11. The situation with regard to capital receipts in 2007/08 proved to be marginally better 
overall than had been anticipated, as shown in appendix 4. Income from council house sales 
was slightly lower than expected as the number of houses sold was 28, fractionally less than 
expected, although this was compensated to some extent by slightly higher sale prices per 
property. Repayments of discounts, reduced administration costs and a small land sale 
topped up the total income from HRA receipts. The General Fund capital receipts were in line 
with estimates with £6,050,000 received from the sale at the T11 site at Langston Road and 
£13,500 received in part exchange for a new tractor in the Grounds Maintenance Section. 
The Council’s payment to the Government pool was slightly higher than expected. Although 
transitional relief is no longer granted, as explained in paragraph 13 below, £500,000 of the 
£1,000,000 balance brought forward from 2006/07 was applied to finance a large part of the 
contribution to London & Quadrant Housing Association for affordable housing. The actual 
use of other capital receipts on the General Fund capital programme was lower than 
predicted, primarily due to the underspend on this fund. 
 
12. The total use of revenue contributions was lower than anticipated as the draw on the 
Major Repairs Reserve was reduced because of the underspend on the HRA. 
 
Use of Transitional Relief in 2007/08 
 
13. Members will recall that authorities which were debt-free on 31 March 2004, were 
granted transitional relief on a reducing percentage of capital receipts which are deemed 
“poolable” to a Central Government Pool since the scheme was introduced. This period of 
transitional relief has now come to an end. However, the Council still has a sum of £500,000 
of transitional relief which has not been used to finance capital expenditure to date.  
 
14. It has been a general requirement that transitional relief generated in a given year 
was spent in that year. However, providing Member approval is in existence highlighting the 
areas where the expenditure is to occur, then a commitment to spend the money is 
generated such that late expenditure due to slippage is also permissible. In previous years, 
approval was given for the use of the remaining £500,000 transitional relief to finance 
General Fund contributions to affordable housing schemes in partnership with housing 
associations and Members are asked to note this commitment. 
 
Resource Implications: 
 
The 2007/08 General Fund Outturn totaled £4,949,000 representing an underspend of 
£1,236,000. This comprised of savings of £375,000, an overspend of £5,000, carry forwards 
of £1,572,000 and brought forwards of £706,000. It has been suggested that the net savings 
be vired to the General IT budget (£20,000) and the General Capital Contingency (£350,000) 
and carried forward to 2008/09. 
 
The 2007/08 HRA Capital Outturn was £5,648,000 representing an overall underspend of 
£491,000. This included an overspend of £6,000, slippage of £637,000 and brought forward 
expenditure of £140,000. 
 
Legal and Governance:  
 
The Council’s capital accounts have been prepared in accordance with the Chartered 
Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA)’s Statement of Recommended Practice 
(SORP). 
 
Safer, Cleaner and Greener Implications:  
 
The Council’s Capital Strategy works to support a safer, greener and cleaner initiative; in 

Page 80



excess of £2,000,000 was spent in 2007/08 on environmental protection. 
 
Consultation Undertaken: 
 
The Finance and Performance Management Scrutiny Panel monitor progress on the capital 
programme regularly. Service Directors and spending control officers are also consulted 
throughout the year. In addition, consultation is undertaken with the Tenants and 
Leaseholders Federation and the Director of Housing on the HRA programme. 
 
Background Papers:  
 
The capital programme approved at Cabinet 4 February 2008 and working papers filed for 
External Audit purposes. 
 
Impact Assessment:  
 
There are no equality or risk management impacts. 

Page 81



Page 82

This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1

2007/08 2007/08 (Under) /

Revised Actual Overspend

£000 £000 £000

EXPENDITURE

Finance & Corporate Support 1,148 589 (559)

Leader's 15 0 (15)

Planning & Economic Development 293 285 (8)
Leisure & Young People 135 97 (38)

Environmental Protection 1,820 2,074 254

Civil Engineering 377 724 347

Total Non-Housing 3,788 3,769 (19)

Housing GF 2,397 1,180 (1,217)

HRA 6,088 5,601 (487)

Housing Works Unit 51 47 (4)

Total Housing 8,536 6,828 (1,708)

TOTAL 12,324 10,597 (1,727)

FUNDING

DCLG Grant for DFG 125 188 63

DCLG Grant for Decent Homes 200 77 (123)

IEG Grant 304 253 (51)

DEFRA Grant 56 56 0

PDG Grant 75 34 (41)

Private Funding 425 329 (96)

Total Grants 1,185 937 (248)

Transitional Relief: Housing GF 1,000 500 (500)

Other Capital Receipts:HRA 0 11 11

Other Capital Receipts:Housing GF 837 620 (217)
Other Capital Receipts:Non Housing 3,243 2,933 (310)

Total Capital Receipts 5,080 4,064 (1,016)

HRA - RCCO 1,985 2,628 643

HRA - MRR 4,074 2,968 (1,106)

Total Revenue Contributions 6,059 5,596 (463)

TOTAL 12,324 10,597 (1,727)

CAPITAL PROGRAMME

2007/08 ACTUAL (PROVISIONAL)

Page 83



Appendix 2

2007/08 2007/08 (Under) / Savings/ Carry Brought

Revised Actual Overspend Overspends Forwards Forwards

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Finance & Corporate Support

Youth Sports Facilities 132 68 (64) (64)

Planning Service Accommodation Works 15 0 (15) (15)

Civic Office Works 62 6 (56) (56)

Messenger Vehicles 15 15 0

General Capital Contingency 181 0 (181) (181)

IT Projects funded from IEG 304 266 (38) (38)

Revenues & Benefits IT System 97 48 (49) (49)

General IT 221 90 (131) (131)

Civic Offices Computer Suite No.2 85 65 (20) (20)

Planning & Land Charges IT System 36 31 (5) (5)

Total 1,148 589 (559) (20) (539) 0

Leader's

Merlin Way Land Sale 15 0 (15) (15)

Total 15 0 (15) (15) 0 0

Leisure & Young People

Loughton Leisure Centre 14 2 (12) (12)

Ongar Leisure Centre : Extention 3 3 0

N W Airfield Market Improvements 110 84 (26) (26)

Museum Redisplay Programme 8 8 0

Total 135 97 (38) 0 (38) 0

Envionmental Protection

Bobbingworth Tip 1,000 1,274 274 274

Environ. Protection Equipment 20 0 (20) (20)

Refuse and Street Cleansing Vehicles 800 800 0

Total 1,820 2,074 254 0 (20) 274

Planning & Economic Development

Town Centre Enhancement

Loughton High Road Works: Phase 2 53 11 (42) (42)

Loughton Broadway Works 165 240 75 75

PDG Capital Scheme 75 34 (41) (41)

Total 293 285 (8) 0 (83) 75

Civil Engineering

Parking & Traffic Schemes 200 479 279 279

Housing Estate Car Parking 17 12 (5) (5)

Car Park Upgrade Buckhurst Hill 2 7 5 5

Flood Alleviation Schemes 99 167 68 68

Epping Drinking Fountain 6 6 0

Grounds Maint Plant & Equipt 53 53 0

Total 377 724 347 5 (5) 347

TOTAL NON-HOUSING PROGRAMME 3,788 3,769 (19) (30) (685) 696

CAPITAL PROGRAMME

2007/08 ACTUAL (PROVISIONAL)

Page 84



Appendix 3

2007/08 2007/08 (Under) / Savings/ Carry Brought

Revised Actual Overspend Overspends Forwards Forwards

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Housing General Fund

Contribution to Affordable Housing

Estuary HA Schemes 500 0 (500) (500)

The Quarter, Ongar (L&Q) 735 745 10 10

Total Affordable Housing Contributions 1,235 745 (490) 0 (500) 10

Disabled Facilities Grants 500 314 (186) (186)

Other Private Sector Grants 275 121 (154) (154)

Alfred Road Drainage Works 9 0 (9) (9)

CPO 8/8A Sun Street, W. Abbey 378 0 (378) (378)

TOTAL HOUSING GENERAL FUND 2,397 1,180 (1,217) (340) (887) 10

Housing Revenue Account

Springfields, Waltham Abbey * 617 741 124 124

Norway House Improvements * 57 45 (12) (12)

Hemnall House Conversion 0 6 6 6

Communal TV Upgrade 15 8 (7) (7)

Heating/Rewiring * 1,063 1,047 (16) (16)

Windows/Roofs/Asbestos/Water Tanks * 744 634 (110) (110)

Other Planned Maintenance 461 384 (77) (77)

Total Planned Maintenance 2,957 2,865 (92) 6 (222) 124

Structural Schemes * 457 375 (82) (82)

Cyclical Maintenance * 13 0 (13) (13)

Small Capital Repairs * 375 358 (17) (17)

Cost Reflective Repairs * 1,298 1,175 (123) (123)

Non-Cost Reflective Repairs 438 302 (136) (136)

Disabled Adaptations 462 478 16 16

Other Repairs and Maintenance * 72 48 (24) (24)

Feasibilities 16 0 (16) (16)

TOTAL HRA 6,088 5,601 (487) 6 (633) 140

Housing DLO Vehicles 51 47 (4) (4)

TOTAL WORKS UNIT 51 47 (4) 0 (4) 0

TOTAL HOUSING PROGRAMME 8,536 6,828 (1,708) (334) (1,524) 150

* EFDC Affordable Housing

& Regeneration Projects 4,696 4,423 (273) 0 (273) 124

CAPITAL PROGRAMME

2007/08 ACTUAL (PROVISIONAL)

Page 85



Appendix 4

2007/08 2007/08 2007/08

Revised Actual Variation

£000 £000 £000

Receipts Generation

Housing Revenue Account 3,450 3,488 38

General Fund 6,063 6,063 0

Total Receipts 9,513 9,551 38

Receipts Analysis

Usable Receipts 7,032 6,963 (69)

Payment to Govt Pool 2,481 2,588 107

Total Receipts 9,513 9,551 38

Usable Capital Receipt Balances

Opening Balance 26,425 26,425 0

Usable Receipts Arising 7,032 6,963 (69)

Transitional Payment from Pool (which must

be used on Housing assets) (1,000) (500) 500

Transfer to Pension Fund Capital Reserve (2,500) (2,500) 0

Use of Other Capital Receipts (4,080) (3,564) 516

Closing Balance 25,877 26,824 947

2007/08 2007/08 2007/08

Revised Actual Variation

£000 £000 £000

Opening Balance 5,655 5,655 0

Major Repairs Allowance 4,603 4,603 0

Use of MRR (4,074) (2,968) 1,106

Closing Balance 6,184 7,290 1,106

2007/08 ACTUAL (PROVISIONAL)

CAPITAL RECEIPTS

MAJOR REPAIRS RESERVE

2007/08 ACTUAL (PROVISIONAL)

Page 86



  

Report to the Finance and Performance 
Management Cabinet Committee 

 
Report Reference:  FPM-005-2008/09. 
Date of Meeting:  16 June 2008. 
 
 
Portfolio:   Finance and Performance Management. 
 
Subject:  Key Performance Indicators 2007/08 and 2008/09. 
 
Responsible Officer:    Steve Tautz   (01992  564180). 
 
Democratic Services Officer:   Gary Woodhall  (01992  564470). 
 
Recommendations: 

 
(1) That the Council’s performance in relation to Best Value Performance 
Indicators (BVPIs) and Local Performance Indicators (LPIs) for 2007/08, be 
noted; and 

 
(2) That subject to the concurrence of the Finance and Performance 
Management Scrutiny Panel:  

 
(a) former BVPIs 170a, 170b, 170c (Visits to museums and galleries) and 91a 
(Households served by a kerbside collection of recyclables) be adopted as LPIs 
for 2008/09, and former BVPI 106 (New homes built on previously developed 
land) be deleted as an LPI for 2008/09;  

 
(b) the Cabinet Committee agree those performance indicators to be 
adopted as Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) for 2008/09; and 

 
(c) a target be set for at least 75% of the KPIs for 2008/09 to achieve the 
relevant performance target for the year. 

 
Report: 
 
1. As the Cabinet Committee will be aware, a range of 43 Key Performance Indicators 
(KPIs) for 2007/08 was adopted by the Cabinet at its meeting on 16 July 2007. The KPIs are 
important to the Council’s core business and its corporate priorities, and comprised both Best 
Value Performance Indicators and Local Performance Indicators (BVPIs/LPIs). The aim of 
the indicators was to focus improvement actions on key areas and to move performance 
against each into the top quartile of performing local authorities (where appropriate) and to 
then maintain or improve further on that level of performance. On the adoption of the KPIs for 
2007/08, the Cabinet set a target that at least 75% should achieve top quartile (or other 
relevant) targets by the end of the year. 
 
2. Targets for each KPI have traditionally been based on the most recently available 
national performance information published by the Audit Commission. In the case of the KPIs 
for 2007/08, targets were based on audited national performance information for 2005/06 that 
had been published by the Commission in February 2007. The setting of KPI targets on this 
basis results in current performance being measured against two year old quartiles and, 
whilst providing challenging targets for achievement, the Audit Commission’s assessment of 
the Council’s performance will always measure it against the performance of other local 

Agenda Item 10

Page 87



  

authorities in the same year. On the adoption of the KPIs for 2007/08, the Cabinet set a 
target that at least 75% should achieve top quartile status by the end of the year. 
 
3. Annual improvement plans are produced for each of the KPIs to reflect year on year 
changes, which also contain details of service costs and feed into the Council’s annual Value 
For Money analysis. Progress in achieving target performance in respect of the KPIs is 
reported to the Finance and Performance Management Scrutiny Panel and the relevant 
Portfolio Holder at the conclusion of each quarter. Details of performance against all BVPIs 
and LPIs (including the KPIs) are deposited in the Members’ Room at the end of each 
quarter. 
 
Key Performance Indicators 2007/08: 
 
4. A schedule detailing performance against all BVPIs and LPIs (including those 
indicators also designated as KPIs), for the period from 1 April 2007 to 31 March 2008, is 
attached as Appendix 1 to this report. This schedule illustrates performance for each 
indicator in red shading where targets were not achieved for the year, and in green shading 
where were targets met. Additionally, the schedule also highlights in amber shading, those 
indicators where, whilst targets were not met for the year, outturn performance fell within 5% 
of the respective target.  
 
5. The year-end position with regard to overall improvement and the achievement of top 
quartile (or other relevant) targets for the KPIs for 2007/08, is as follows: 
 
(a) 23 (53.5%) achieved the performance target for 2007/08; 
 
(b) 6 (13.9%) did not achieve the performance target for 2007/08, although outturn 
performance was within 5% of the target for the year; 
 
(c) 14 (32.5%) did not achieve the performance target for 2007/08, and outturn 
performance was not within 5% of the target for the year; 
 
(d) 23 (53.5%) improved in performance compared with 2006/07, or maintained the level 
of performance achieved for 2006/07; and 
 
(e) 20 (46.5%) worsened in performance compared with 2006/07. 
 
6. The Cabinet Committee is requested to note the Council’s performance in relation to 
its KPIs for 2007/08. Relevant service directors will be in attendance at the meeting to 
respond to members’ questions in respect of performance against specific indicators and 
targets. 
 
Key Performance Indicators 2008/09: 
 
7. As the Cabinet Committee will be aware, the new National Indicator (NI) set replaced 
all existing BVPIs from April 2008.  The introduction of the new NI set provided an opportunity 
for a thorough review to be undertaken of the Council’s existing suite of statutory BVPIs and 
locally determined LPIs and, on 10 March 2008, the Cabinet agreed the adoption of a range 
of existing BVPIs as LPIs from 2008/09 onwards, where these continued to reflect local 
priorities but had not been brought forward into the new NI set. A range of asset 
management related LPIs have also been adopted as a result of recommendations made by 
the Audit Commission through the annual Use of Resources assessment. 
 
8. At the time of the adoption of the new LPI set for 2008/09 by the Cabinet, it was 
agreed that former BVPIs 170a, 170b and 170c, which measure visits to museums and 
galleries funded or part-funded by the Council, not be adopted as LPIs for 2008/09. However, 
the Deputy Chief Executive has subsequently reviewed the deletion of these indicators, 

Page 88



  

which help to reflect the diversity of leisure and cultural activity by the Council and for which 
the information provided is considered to be useful, and it is recommended that these 
indicators therefore now be adopted as LPIs for 2008/09.  
 
9. In addition, the Corporate Executive Forum (CEF) has recently considered outturn 
performance against the KPIs for 2007/08, and recommends the adoption of former BV91a, 
which measures the percentage of households served by a kerbside collection of recyclables, 
as an LPI for 2008/09 in view of the concerns expressed by the Audit Commission in its 
recent environment inspection. CEF also recommends the deletion of former BVPI 106, 
which measures the level of new homes built on previously developed land, as an LPI for 
2008/09. Although the adoption of this indicator as an LPI has been previously agreed by the 
Cabinet, it is felt that this performance measure provides little in the way of useful 
management information, and the Director of Planning and Economic Development has 
therefore been requested to replace the indicator with either a policy objective and/or a new 
indicator reflecting the need to provide residential development up to 2021 in accordance 
with the East of England Plan. 
 
10. In reviewing outturn performance against the KPIs for 2007/08, CEF considers that 
KPI focus for 2008/09 should be directed towards the Nis and LPIs contained within the new 
Essex Local Area Agreement (LAA) that the Council has indicated it will ‘have regard to’ and 
where the authority has a direct responsibility. It is recommended that these indicators should 
therefore automatically be adopted as KPIs for the current year and the three-year duration of 
the LAA. The relevant indicators are detailed in Appendix 2 to this report. 
 
11. In addition, the views of service directors have been sought in relation to the 
identification of additional Nis and LPIs as new KPIs for 2008/09, and it is therefore 
recommended that the Nis and LPIs also set out in Appendix 2 additionally be adopted as 
KPIs for the year. The Cabinet Committee is however also requested to identify any 
additional LPIs that it wishes to adopt as KPIs for 2008/09. 
 
12. As a result of the introduction of the NI set from April 2008, it will not be possible to 
set top quartile targets for these new indicators until after the first year of operation, when 
comparative information becomes available from the Audit Commission. Service directors 
have identified appropriate targets for the NIs for 2008/09 and, where still possible, top 
quartile targets for those LPIs that were formerly BVPIs. Although the Council’s target of 
achieving top-quartile performance for at least 75% of the KPIs has not been achieved for 
2007/08, CEF recommends that this target be maintained for 2008/09.  
 
Statement in Support of Recommended Action: 
 
13. To ensure that the Council monitors progress against its aim of achieving target 
performance for its KPIs, and that proposals for corrective action are considered in respect of 
areas of current under-performance. 
 
Other Options For Action: 
 
14. None. The Council has previously agreed arrangements for monitoring progress 
against the achievement of targets set for the KPIs and other performance indicators 
 
Consultation Undertaken: 
 
15. The performance information compiled in this report has been submitted by each 
appropriate service director. Outturn performance for 2007/08 and proposals for the adoption 
of KPIs for 2008/09 has been considered by the Corporate Executive Forum and will also be 
considered by the Finance and Performance Management Scrutiny Panel at its meeting on 
17 June 2008. 
 

Page 89



  

Resource Implications:  
 
Budget/Personnel/Land: The respective service director will identify the resource 
requirements for any proposals for corrective action in respect of KPI areas of current under-
performance. 
 
Council Plan/BVPP Reference: Council Plan 2006-2010 Section 8 – ‘How We Measure Our 
Achievements’. 
Relevant Statutory Powers: None. 
 
Background Papers: None. 
Environmental/Human Rights Act/Crime and Disorder Act Implications: As set out in 
respective performance reports for individual KPIs. 
Key Decision Reference (if required): None. 

Page 90



T
A

R
G

E
T

2
0
0
7
/0

8

O
U

T
T

U
R

N

2
0
0
7
/0

8

T
O

P

Q
U

A
R

T
IL

E
?

O
U

T
T

U
R

N

2
0
0
6
/0

7

IM
P

R
O

V
E

M
E

N
T

Y
E

S
/N

O

R
E

D

A
M

B
E

R

G
R

E
E

N

P
I
(A

N
D

K
P

I)

R
E

F

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
D

E
F

IN
IT

IO
N

A
N

D
P

O
L

A
R

IT
Y

 I
N

D
IC

A
T

O
R

(G
O

O
D

P
E

R
F

O
R

M
A

N
C

E
 I
S

A
N

O
U

T
T

U
R

N
H

IG
H

E
R

O
R

 L
O

W
E

R
T

H
A

N
T

A
R

G
E

T
)

T
A

R
G

E
T

2
0
0
7
/0

8

O
U

T
T

U
R

N

2
0
0
7
/0

8

T
O

P

Q
U

A
R

T
IL

E

2
0
0
6
/0

7

O
U

T
T

U
R

N

2
0
0
6
/0

7

IM
P

R
O

V
E

M
E

N
T

Y
E

S
/N

O

T
R

A
F

F
IC

L
IG

H
T

2
0
0
7
/0

8

B
V

2
a

R
e
ta

in
e
d

a
s

L
P

I

K
P

I
B

V
2
b

Y
e
s

D
e
le

te
d

7
9
.0

0
%

B
V

1
2
6

N
o

D
e
le

te
d

5
.0

0

8
9
.0

0
%

N
o

c
h
a
n
g
e

T
h
e

le
ve

l
o
f 

th
e

E
q
u
a
lit

y
S

ta
n
d
a
rd

fo
r

L
o
c
a
l
G

o
ve

rn
m

e
n
t
(H

IG
H

)
L
e
ve

l 
1

L
e
ve

l 
2

L
e
ve

l 
1

Y
e
s

N
/A

T
h
e

q
u
a
lit

y 
th

e
R

a
c
e

E
q
u
a
lit

y
S

c
h
e
m

e
(H

IG
H

)
1
0
0
.0

0
%

8
9
.0

0
%

D
o
m

e
s
ti
c

b
u
rg

la
ri
e
s

p
e
r

1
,0

0
0

h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld

s
(L

O
W

)
1
2
.1

9
1
5
.0

4
N

o
1
4
.0

9

G
R

E
E

N

G
R

E
E

N

R
E

D

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 t
a
rg

e
t
fo

r
2
0
0
7
/0

8

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

o
u
tt
u
rn

fo
r

2
0
0
7
/0

8

Il
lu

s
tr

a
ti
o
n

o
f

p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

fo
r

2
0
0
7
/0

8
a
g
a
in

s
t 
th

e
d
is

tr
ic

t 
to

p
q
u
a
rt

ile
fo

r
2
0
0
6
/0

7
Y

e
s
/N

o
(f

o
r

B
V

P
Is

o
n
ly

),
a
n
d
 t
h
e
 t
o
p

q
u
a
rt

ile
p
o
s
it
io

n

C
o
m

p
a
ri
s
o
n

o
f

p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

im
p
ro

ve
m

e
n
t
(o

r
o
th

e
rw

is
e
)

b
e
tw

e
e
n

2
0
0
6
/0

7
a
n
d

2
0
0
7
/0

8

Il
lu

s
tr

a
ti
o
n

o
f

p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

im
p
ro

ve
m

e
n
t
(o

r
o
th

e
rw

is
e
)

b
e
tw

e
e
n

2
0
0
6
/0

7
a
n
d

2
0
0
7
/0

8

O
u
tt
u
rn

p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 t
a
rg

e
t
n
o
t
m

e
t
fo

r
2
0
0
7
/0

8

O
u
tt
u
rn

p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

fo
r

2
0
0
7
/0

8
n
o
t
m

e
t,

b
u
t
w

it
h
in

5
.0

0
%

o
f 

ta
rg

e
t

O
u
tt
u
rn

p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 t
a
rg

e
t
m

e
t
fo

r
2
0
0
7
/0

8

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y

W
e

ll
b

e
in

g
P

o
rt

fo
li

o

B
E

S
T

V
A

L
U

E
/L

O
C

A
L

P
E

R
F

O
R

M
A

N
C

E
 I
N

D
IC

A
T

O
R

S
-

O
U

T
T

U
R

N
S

2
0
0
7
/0

8

Page 91



B
V

1
2
7
a

N
o

R
e
p
la

c
e
d

a
s

N
I

1
1
.4

B
V

1
2
7
b

N
o

D
e
le

te
d

0
.2

B
V

1
2
8

N
o

D
e
le

te
d

0
.2

K
P

I
B

V
1
5
6

D
e
le

te
d

B
V

1
7
4

D
e
le

te
d

K
P

I
B

V
1
7
5

Y
e
s

D
e
le

te
d

1
0
0
.0

0
%

B
V

2
2
5

N
o

d
a
ta

D
e
le

te
d

1
0
0
.0

0
%

B
V

2
2
6
a

D
e
le

te
d

B
V

2
2
6
b

D
e
le

te
d

B
V

2
2
6
c

D
e
le

te
d

K
P

I
L
P

I
E

H
6

R
e
ta

in
e
d

a
s

L
P

I

P
I
(A

N
D

K
P

I)

R
E

F

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
D

E
F

IN
IT

IO
N

A
N

D
P

O
L

A
R

IT
Y

 I
N

D
IC

A
T

O
R

(G
O

O
D

P
E

R
F

O
R

M
A

N
C

E
 I
S

A
N

O
U

T
T

U
R

N
H

IG
H

E
R

O
R

 L
O

W
E

R
T

H
A

N
T

A
R

G
E

T
)

T
A

R
G

E
T

2
0
0
7
/0

8

O
U

T
T

U
R

N

2
0
0
7
/0

8

T
O

P

Q
U

A
R

T
IL

E

2
0
0
6
/0

7

O
U

T
T

U
R

N

2
0
0
6
/0

7

IM
P

R
O

V
E

M
E

N
T

Y
E

S
/N

O

T
R

A
F

F
IC

L
IG

H
T

2
0
0
7
/0

8

K
P

I
B

V
6
3

N
o

D
e
le

te
d

7
2
.0

0

B
V

6
4

N
o

D
e
le

te
d

5
5
.0

0

G
R

E
E

N

R
E

D

V
io

le
n
t
c
ri
m

e
s

p
e
r

1
,0

0
0

p
o
p
u
la

ti
o
n

(L
O

W
)

1
3
.4

3
1
4
.4

8

V
e
h
ic

le
c
ri
m

e
s

p
e
r

1
,0

0
0

p
o
p
u
la

ti
o
n

(L
O

W
)

T
h
e

a
ve

ra
g
e

S
A

P
ra

ti
n
g

o
f 

th
e

C
o
u
n
c
il'

s
d
w

e
lli

n
g
s

(H
IG

H
)

1
2
.3

3
1
3
.9

3

N
o
t
c
o
lle

c
te

d

6
7
.0

0
6
9
.0

0

N
/A

7
8
.0

0
%

1
3
.7

9
N

o

1
.2

8
Y

e
s

Y
e
s

R
o
b
b
e
ri
e
s

p
e
r

1
,0

0
0

p
o
p
u
la

ti
o
n

(L
O

W
)

D
is

a
b
le

d
a
c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 t
h
e

a
u
th

o
ri
ty

's
b
u
ild

in
g
s

(H
IG

H
)

8
3
.3

3
%

8
3
.3

3
%

8
3
.3

3
%

N
o

c
h
a
n
g
e

0
.6

6
1
.0

6

1
2
.1

9

E
xp

e
n
d
it
u
re

o
n

h
o
u
s
in

g
,
b
e
n
e
fi
ts

,
w

e
lf
a
re

,
a
n
d

c
o
n
s
u
m

e
r

m
a
tt
e
rs

a
d
vi

c
e

a
n
d

g
u
id

a
n
c
e

s
e
rv

ic
e
s

p
ro

vi
d
e
d

b
y 

th
e

C
o
u
n
c
il

(N
/A

)
N

o
t
c
o
lle

c
te

d

R
a
c
ia

l
in

c
id

e
n
ts

p
e
r

1
,0

0
0

p
o
p
u
la

ti
o
n

(L
O

W
)

1
4
8
.9

0
2
5
.3

8
1
1
8
.8

5
Y

e
s

N
/A

1
0
0
.0

0
%

1
0
0
.0

0
%

1
0
0
.0

0
%

N
o

d
a
ta

N
o

d
a
ta

1
0
0
.0

0
%

7
6
.9

2
%

H
o

u
s

in
g

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

N
o

c
h
a
n
g
e

N
o

d
a
ta

£
1
3
6
,5

8
0
.0

0
Y

e
s

N
o

d
a
ta

R
a
c
ia

l
in

c
id

e
n
ts

re
s
u
lt
in

g
in

fu
rt

h
e
r

a
c
ti
o
n

(H
IG

H
)

E
xp

e
n
d
it
u
re

o
n

le
g
a
l
a
n
d

a
d
vi

c
e

s
e
rv

ic
e
s

p
ro

vi
d
e
d

b
y

e
xt

e
rn

a
l
o
rg

a
n
is

a
ti
o
n
s

(N
/A

)
£
1
4
0
,2

0
0
.0

0
£
1
4
0
,2

0
0
.0

0

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

a
g
a
in

s
t
a
c
ti
o
n

a
g
a
in

s
t
vi

o
le

n
c
e

c
h
e
c
k
lis

t
(H

IG
H

)

Y
e
s

N
/A

N
/A

L
ic

e
n
c
e

a
p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
s

p
ro

c
e
s
s
e
d

w
it
h
in

s
ta

tu
to

ry
p
e
ri
o
d
s

(H
IG

H
)

9
5
.0

0
%

9
8
.4

4
%

9
8
.3

0
%

N
/A

N
/A

P
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e

o
f

e
xp

e
n
d
it
u
re

o
n

le
g
a
l
a
n
d

a
d
vi

c
e

s
e
rv

ic
e
s

p
ro

vi
d
e
d

b
y

e
xt

e
rn

a
l

o
rg

a
n
is

a
ti
o
n
s

h
o
ld

in
g
 t
h
e

C
L
S

Q
u
a
lit

y
M

a
rk

(H
IG

H
)

N
o
t
c
o
lle

c
te

d
N

/A

Y
e
s

6
6
.0

0
Y

e
s

Y
e
s

P
ri
va

te
va

c
a
n
t
d
w

e
lli

n
g
s

re
tu

rn
e
d
 t
o

o
c
c
u
p
a
ti
o
n

o
r

d
e
m

o
lis

h
e
d

a
s

a
re

s
u
lt

o
f

a
c
ti
o
n

b
y 

th
e

C
o
u
n
c
il

(H
IG

H
)

3
8
.0

0
3
3
.0

0
0
.0

0

G
R

E
E

N

R
E

D

G
R

E
E

N

G
R

E
E

N

N
o
t
c
o
lle

c
te

d

N
o

d
a
ta

G
R

E
E

N

R
E

D

R
E

D

A
M

B
E

R

G
R

E
E

N

Page 92



K
P

I
B

V
6
6
a

Y
e
s

R
e
ta

in
e
d

a
s

L
P

I
9
8
.5

0
%

B
V

6
6
b

N
o

D
e
le

te
d

3
.4

3
%

B
V

6
6
c

N
o

D
e
le

te
d

1
3
.6

1
%

B
V

6
6
d

N
o

D
e
le

te
d

0
.1

7
%

K
P

I
B

V
1
8
3
b

N
o

D
e
le

te
d

0
.0

0

K
P

I
B

V
1
8
4
a

Y
e
s

R
e
p
la

c
e
d

a
s

N
I

1
0
.0

0
%

K
P

I
B

V
1
8
4
b

N
o

D
e
le

te
d

3
2
.9

0
%

B
V

2
0
2

Y
e
s

D
e
le

te
d

0
.0

0

K
P

I
B

V
2
1
2

N
o

D
e
le

te
d

2
5

B
V

2
1
3

N
o

D
e
le

te
d

4
.0

0

G
R

E
E

N

R
E

D

1
5
.4

9
%

Y
e
s

8
.3

9
%

Y
e
s

P
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e

o
f 

te
n
a
n
ts

in
a
rr

e
a
rs

w
h
o

h
a
ve

b
e
e
n

s
e
rv

e
d

a
N

o
ti
c
e

S
e
e
k
in

g

P
o
s
s
e
s
s
io

n
(L

O
W

)
2
1
.0

0
%

Y
e
s

0
.2

0
%

N
o

2
0
.2

3
N

o

9
8
.8

3
%

9
8
.8

4
%

9
9
.4

1
%

T
e
n
a
n
ts

w
it
h

m
o
re

 t
h
a
n

s
e
ve

n
w

e
e
k
s

g
ro

s
s

re
n
t
a
rr

e
a
rs

a
s

a
p
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e

o
f 

to
ta

l

te
n
a
n
ts

(L
O

W
)

8
.0

0
%

8
.3

6
%

R
e
n
t
c
o
lle

c
te

d
a
s

a
p
ro

p
o
rt

io
n

o
f

re
n
ts

o
w

e
d

o
n

h
o
u
s
in

g
re

ve
n
u
e

a
c
c
o
u
n
t
d
w

e
lli

n
g
s

(H
IG

H
)

P
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e

o
f 

te
n
a
n
ts

e
vi

c
te

d
a
s

a
re

s
u
lt

o
f

re
n
t
a
rr

e
a
rs

(L
O

W
)

0
.1

5
%

0
.2

2
%

P
ro

p
o
rt

io
n

o
f

C
o
u
n
c
il

d
w

e
lli

n
g
s

w
h
ic

h
w

e
re

n
o
n
-d

e
c
e
n
t
a
t 
th

e
s
ta

rt
o
f 

th
e

ye
a
r

(L
O

W
)

H
o
m

e
le

s
s

s
it
u
a
ti
o
n
s

re
s
o
lv

e
d

b
y

H
o
u
s
in

g
A

d
vi

c
e

S
e
rv

ic
e
s

(H
IG

H
)

2
6
.0

0
2
0
.2

9

2
2
.3

4
%

5
.0

0
%

5
.0

0
%

6
.0

0
%

1
2
.0

0
1
0
.0

0
1
0
.0

0

5
1
.0

0
N

o

Y
e
s

A
ve

ra
g
e

le
n
g
th

o
f

s
ta

y
(w

e
e
k
s
)

in
h
o
s
te

l
a
c
c
o
m

m
o
d
a
ti
o
n

o
f

h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld

s
 t
h
a
t
a
re

u
n
in

te
n
ti
o
n
a
lly

h
o
m

e
le

s
s

a
n
d

in
p
ri
o
ri
ty

n
e
e
d

(L
O

W
)

P
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e

c
h
a
n
g
e

in
 t
h
e

p
ro

p
o
rt

io
n

o
f

n
o
n
-d

e
c
e
n
t
C

o
u
n
c
il

d
w

e
lli

n
g
s

b
e
tw

e
e
n
 t
h
e

s
ta

rt
a
n
d

e
n
d

o
f 

th
e

ye
a
r

(H
IG

H
)

1
6
.0

0
%

3
1
.9

0
%

1
0
.9

0
%

Y
e
s

N
/A

A
ve

ra
g
e

n
u
m

b
e
r

o
f

d
a
ys

 t
o

re
-l
e
t
C

o
u
n
c
il

d
w

e
lli

n
g
s

(L
O

W
)

R
o
u
g
h

s
le

e
p
e
rs

(L
O

W
)

1
.0

0
0
.0

0

4
1
.0

0
5
4
.0

0

1
.0

0
Y

e
s

G
R

E
E

N

R
E

D

G
R

E
E

N

G
R

E
E

N

G
R

E
E

N

G
R

E
E

N

R
E

D

R
E

D

Page 93



L
P

I
H

1
a

D
e
le

te
d

L
P

I
H

1
b

R
e
ta

in
e
d

a
s

L
P

I

L
P

I
H

2
a

R
e
ta

in
e
d

a
s

L
P

I

L
P

I
H

2
b

R
e
ta

in
e
d

a
s

L
P

I

L
P

I
H

2
c

R
e
ta

in
e
d

a
s

L
P

I

L
P

I
H

3

R
e
ta

in
e
d

a
s

L
P

I

L
P

I
H

1
0
a

R
e
ta

in
e
d

a
s

L
P

I

L
P

I
H

1
0
b

D
e
le

te
d

L
P

I
H

1
0
c

R
e
p
la

c
e
d

a
s

N
I

K
P

I
H

1
5
a

D
e
le

te
d

K
P

I
H

1
5
b

D
e
le

te
d

L
P

I
E

H
2

D
e
le

te
d

P
I
(A

N
D

K
P

I)

R
E

F

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
D

E
F

IN
IT

IO
N

A
N

D
P

O
L

A
R

IT
Y

 I
N

D
IC

A
T

O
R

(G
O

O
D

P
E

R
F

O
R

M
A

N
C

E
 I
S

A
N

O
U

T
T

U
R

N
H

IG
H

E
R

O
R

 L
O

W
E

R
T

H
A

N
T

A
R

G
E

T
)

T
A

R
G

E
T

2
0
0
7
/0

8

O
U

T
T

U
R

N

2
0
0
7
/0

8

T
O

P

Q
U

A
R

T
IL

E

2
0
0
6
/0

7

O
U

T
T

U
R

N

2
0
0
6
/0

7

IM
P

R
O

V
E

M
E

N
T

Y
E

S
/N

O

T
R

A
F

F
IC

L
IG

H
T

2
0
0
7
/0

8

K
P

I
B

V
8

Y
e
s

R
e
ta

in
e
d

a
s

L
P

I
9
8
.0

0
%

9
8
.6

0
%

Y
e
s

T
h
e

a
m

o
u
n
t
o
f

a
ff

o
rd

a
b
le

h
o
u
s
in

g
re

q
u
ir
e
d

a
s

p
a
rt

o
f

S
e
c
ti
o
n

1
0
6

A
g
re

e
m

e
n
ts

s
ig

n
e
d

d
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
e

ye
a
r

(H
IG

H
)

4
0
.0

0
%

R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o

s
e
rv

ic
e

re
q
u
e
s
ts

(C
a
re

a
n
d

R
e
p
a
ir
)

(H
IG

H
)

9
2
.0

0
%

9
9
.8

0
%

N
/A

7
1
.0

0
%

N
/A

1
5
4
.3

0
Y

e
s

2
5
.0

0
N

o

3
0
.8

0
%

Y
e
s

T
h
e

n
u
m

b
e
r

o
f

a
ff

o
rd

a
b
le

h
o
m

e
s

c
o
m

p
le

te
d

a
n
d

re
a
d
y

fo
r

o
c
c
u
p
a
ti
o
n

d
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
e

ye
a
r

(H
IG

H
)

5
9
.0

0
1
9
.0

0
N

/A

A
ve

ra
g
e

n
u
m

b
e
r

o
f

h
o
m

e
le

s
s

h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld

s
p
la

c
e
d

in
o
th

e
r 

te
m

p
o
ra

ry

a
c
c
o
m

m
o
d
a
ti
o
n

(L
O

W
)

1
0
0
.0

0
6
2
.7

0
N

/A

Y
e
s

A
ve

ra
g
e

n
u
m

b
e
r

o
f

h
o
m

e
le

s
s

h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld

s
p
la

c
e
d

in
h
o
s
te

l
a
c
c
o
m

m
o
d
a
ti
o
n

(L
O

W
)

3
2
.0

0
1
5
.5

0
N

/A
2
2
.8

0
Y

e
s

A
ve

ra
g
e

n
u
m

b
e
r

o
f

s
in

g
le

h
o
m

e
le

s
s

h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld

s
p
la

c
e
d

in
b
e
d

a
n
d

b
re

a
k
fa

s
t

a
c
c
o
m

m
o
d
a
ti
o
n

(L
O

W
)

6
.0

0
3
.7

0
N

/A

N
/A

9
0
.0

0
%

1
7
.3

0

N
o

S
a
ti
s
fa

c
ti
o
n

w
it
h

re
p
a
ir
s

(H
IG

H
)

9
8
.0

0
%

9
8
.0

0
%

N
/A

9
8
.0

0
%

N
o

c
h
a
n
g
e

R
o
u
ti
n
e

re
p
a
ir
s

u
n
d
e
rt

a
k
e
n

w
it
h
in

 t
a
rg

e
t 
ti
m

e
(H

IG
H

)
9
5
.0

0
%

8
4
.0

0
%

F
o
rm

e
r

T
e
n
a
n
t
A

rr
e
a
rs

c
o
lle

c
te

d
(H

IG
H

)
£
8
0
,0

0
0
.0

0
£
8
5
,2

4
0
.0

0
£
1
1
9
,4

6
5
.0

0
N

o
N

/A

C
u
rr

e
n
t
re

n
t
a
re

a
rs

a
s

p
ro

p
o
rt

io
n

o
f

re
n
t
ro

ll
(L

O
W

)
1
.6

0
%

Y
e
s

9
6
.9

8
%

P
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e

o
f

in
vo

ic
e
s

p
a
id

w
it
h
in

3
0

d
a
ys

o
f

re
c
e
ip

t
(H

IG
H

)
9
6
.9

5
%

9
8
.0

0
%

1
.5

2
%

F
in

a
n

c
e

,
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

M
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t

a
n

d
C

o
rp

o
ra

te
S

u
p

p
o

rt
S

e
rv

ic
e

s
P

o
rt

fo
li

o

G
R

E
E

N

N
/A

Y
e
s

9
9
.0

0
%

9
9
.0

0
%

9
9
.0

0
%

N
/A

1
.6

9
%

N
o

c
h
a
n
g
e

N
/A

U
rg

e
n
t
re

p
a
ir
s

u
n
d
e
rt

a
k
e
n

w
it
h
in

 t
a
rg

e
t 
ti
m

e
(H

IG
H

)
9
5
.0

0
%

8
9
.0

0
%

E
m

e
rg

e
n
c
y

re
p
a
ir
s

u
n
d
e
rt

a
k
e
n

w
it
h
in

 t
a
rg

e
t 
ti
m

e
(H

IG
H

)

8
9
.0

0
%

N
o

c
h
a
n
g
e

G
R

E
E

N

G
R

E
E

N

G
R

E
E

N

R
E

D

R
E

D

G
R

E
E

N

G
R

E
E

N

G
R

E
E

N

G
R

E
E

N

R
E

D

G
R

E
E

N

G
R

E
E

N

Page 94



K
P

I
B

V
9

N
o

R
e
ta

in
e
d

a
s

L
P

I
9
8
.6

0
%

K
P

I
B

V
1
0

N
o

R
e
ta

in
e
d

a
s

L
P

I
9
9
.3

6
%

K
P

I
B

V
1
1
a

N
o

R
e
ta

in
e
d

a
s

L
P

I
3
3
.3

1
%

K
P

I
B

V
1
1
b

N
o

R
e
ta

in
e
d

a
s

L
P

I
3
.7

0
%

K
P

I
B

V
1
1
c

N
o

R
e
ta

in
e
d

a
s

L
P

I
6
.2

5
%

K
P

I
B

V
1
2

N
o

R
e
ta

in
e
d

a
s

L
P

I
8
.0

8

K
P

I
B

V
1
4

N
o

R
e
ta

in
e
d

a
s

L
P

I
0
.0

0
%

B
V

1
5

N
o

R
e
ta

in
e
d

a
s

L
P

I
0
.0

0
%

K
P

I
B

V
1
6
a

Y
e
s

R
e
ta

in
e
d

a
s

L
P

I
5
.2

5
%

K
P

I
B

V
1
7
a

Y
e
s

R
e
ta

in
e
d

a
s

L
P

I
3
.1

0
%

B
V

7
6
b

D
e
le

te
d

B
V

7
6
c

D
e
le

te
d

B
V

7
6
d

D
e
le

te
d

K
P

I
B

V
7
8
a

N
o

R
e
ta

in
e
d

a
s

L
P

I
2
4
.0

K
P

I
B

V
7
8
b

N
o

R
e
ta

in
e
d

a
s

L
P

I
7
.1

N
o

A
ve

ra
g
e
 t
im

e
(d

a
ys

)
fo

r
p
ro

c
e
s
s
in

g
n
o
ti
fi
c
a
ti
o
n

o
f

c
h
a
n
g
e
s

o
f

c
ir
c
u
m

s
ta

n
c
e

fo
r

b
e
n
e
fi
t
c
la

im
s

(L
O

W
)

8
.5

0
1
4
.3

9
1
2
.4

0
N

o

A
ve

ra
g
e
 t
im

e
(d

a
ys

)
fo

r
p
ro

c
e
s
s
in

g
n
e
w

b
e
n
e
fi
t
c
la

im
s

(L
O

W
)

2
5
.5

0

6
7
.3

9
N

o

N
o

N
/A

B
e
n
e
fi
t
fr

a
u
d

p
ro

s
e
c
u
ti
o
n
s

p
e
r

1
,0

0
0

c
a
s
e
lo

a
d

(H
IG

H
)

6
.0

0
4
.4

1
6
.6

7
N

/A

3
7
.3

4
2
8
.5

3

0
.4

9
N

o
N

/A

P
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e

o
f 

th
e

C
o
u
n
c
il'

s
e
m

p
lo

ye
e
s

fr
o
m

e
th

n
ic

m
in

o
ri
ty

c
o
m

m
u
n
it
ie

s
(H

IG
H

)
3
.5

0
%

3
.2

0
%

B
e
n
e
fi
t
fr

a
u
d

in
ve

s
ti
g
a
to

rs
e
m

p
lo

ye
d

p
e
r

1
,0

0
0

c
a
s
e
lo

a
d

(H
IG

H
)

0
.4

0
0
.4

6

B
e
n
e
fi
t
fr

a
u
d

in
ve

s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n
s

c
a
rr

ie
d

o
u
t
p
e
r

1
,0

0
0

c
a
s
e
lo

a
d

(H
IG

H
)

6
8
.0

0
4
6
.5

3

P
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e

o
f 

th
e

C
o
u
n
c
il'

s
e
m

p
lo

ye
e
s

w
it
h

a
d
is

a
b
ili

ty
(H

IG
H

)
9
.5

0
%

8
.1

8
%

9
.6

7
%

0
.3

7
%

P
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e

o
f

e
m

p
lo

ye
e
s

re
ti
ri
n
g

e
a
rl
y

(e
xc

lu
d
in

g
ill

-h
e
a
lt
h
)

a
s

a
p
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e

o
f 

th
e

C
o
u
n
c
il'

s
w

o
rk

fo
rc

e
(L

O
W

)
0
.0

0
%

0
.1

9
%

N
o

N
o

N
u
m

b
e
r

o
f

w
o
rk

in
g

d
a
ys

lo
s
t
d
u
e
 t
o

s
ic

k
n
e
s
s

a
b
s
e
n
c
e

(L
O

W
)

8
.2

9

P
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e

o
f 

to
p

5
%

o
f

s
ta

ff
fr

o
m

a
n

e
th

n
ic

m
in

o
ri
ty

(H
IG

H
)

3
.3

7
%

2
.8

1
%

N
o

N
o

3
.7

8
%

N
o

0
.0

0
%

0
.5

5
%

Y
e
s

P
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e

o
f 

to
p

5
%

o
f

s
ta

ff
w

h
o

h
a
ve

a
d
is

a
b
ili

ty
(H

IG
H

)
1
1
.0

0
%

5
.6

2
%

1
1
.5

7
%

8
.4

8
1
0
.9

8
Y

e
s

N
o

P
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e

o
f 

to
p
-p

a
id

5
%

o
f

s
ta

ff
w

h
o

a
re

w
o
m

e
n

(H
IG

H
)

3
1
.2

5
%

2
4
.1

1
%

2
4
.8

1
%

N
o

P
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e

o
f

n
o
n
-d

o
m

e
s
ti
c

ra
te

s
c
o
lle

c
te

d
(H

IG
H

)
9
9
.3

0
%

9
8
.4

1
%

P
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e

o
f

C
o
u
n
c
il

T
a
x

c
o
lle

c
te

d
(H

IG
H

)
9
8
.5

3
%

9
8
.0

7
%

9
8
.2

0
%

9
9
.0

1

2
.8

9
%

P
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e

o
f

e
m

p
lo

ye
e
s

re
ti
ri
n
g

o
n

g
ro

u
n
d
s

o
f

ill
-h

e
a
lt
h

a
s

a
p
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e

o
f 

th
e

C
o
u
n
c
il'

s
w

o
rk

fo
rc

e
(L

O
W

)
0
.0

0
%

A
M

B
E

R

A
M

B
E

R

N
o

R
E

D

R
E

D

R
E

D

A
M

B
E

R

A
M

B
E

R

R
E

D

R
E

D

R
E

D

G
R

E
E

N

R
E

D

R
E

D

R
E

D

R
E

D

Page 95



K
P

I
B

V
7
9
a

N
o

R
e
ta

in
e
d

a
s

L
P

I
9
9
.2

0
%

B
V

7
9
b
(i
)

N
o

D
e
le

te
d

8
1
.7

1
%

B
V

7
9
b
(i
i)

N
o

D
e
le

te
d

3
9
.0

2
%

B
V

7
9
b
(i
ii)

D
e
le

te
d

L
P

I
S

S
4
a

R
e
ta

in
e
d

a
s

L
P

I

L
P

I
S

S
4
b

R
e
ta

in
e
d

a
s

L
P

I

L
P

I
S

S
4
c

R
e
ta

in
e
d

a
s

L
P

I

L
P

I
S

S
4
f

R
e
ta

in
e
d

a
s

L
P

I

L
P

I 
F

1
3

D
e
le

te
d

L
P

I
L
A

1

D
e
le

te
d

L
P

I
L
A

2

D
e
le

te
d

P
P

I 
1

R
e
ta

in
e
d

a
s

L
P

I

P
P

I 
1

R
e
ta

in
e
d

a
s

L
P

I

N
/A

D
o
C

S
S

 t
o

re
p
o
rt

N
o
t
s
e
t

D
o
C

S
S

 t
o

re
p
o
rt

N
/A

N
/A

D
o
C

S
S

 t
o

re
p
o
rt

N
/A

P
ro

p
e
rt

y
c
o
n
d
it
io

n
(e

xl
u
d
in

g
h
o
u
s
in

g
p
ro

p
e
rt

y)
-

%
g
ro

s
s

in
te

rn
a
l
fl
o
o
r

s
p
a
c
e

in

c
o
n
d
it
io

n
c
a
te

g
o
ri
e
s

G
o
o
d
,
S

a
ti
s
fa

c
to

ry
,
P

o
o
r

a
n
d

B
a
d

P
ro

p
e
rt

y
c
o
n
d
it
io

n
(e

xl
u
d
in

g
h
o
u
s
in

g
p
ro

p
e
rt

y)
-

B
a
c
k
lo

g
o
f

m
a
in

te
n
a
n
c
e

b
y

c
o
s
t

e
xp

re
s
s
e
d

a
s
 t
o
ta

l
va

lu
e

a
n
d

a
s

%
in

p
ri
o
ri
ty

le
ve

ls
U

rg
e
n
t,

E
s
s
e
n
ti
a
l
a
n
d

D
e
s
ir
a
b
le

N
o
t
s
e
t

D
o
C

S
S

 t
o

re
p
o
rt

1
0
0
.0

0
%

N
o

c
h
a
n
g
e

T
h
e

p
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e

o
f

fi
rs

t
d
ra

ft
S

1
0
6

A
g
re

e
m

e
n
ts

s
e
n
t
o
u
t
w

it
h
in

s
e
ve

n
w

o
rk

in
g

d
a
ys

o
f 

th
e

re
c
e
ip

t
o
f 

th
e

in
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n

re
q
u
ir
e
d

b
y

L
P

I
L
A

1
b
y 

th
e

D
ir
e
c
to

r
o
f

C
o
rp

o
ra

te

S
u
p
p
o
rt

S
e
rv

ic
e
s

(H
IG

H
)

9
0
.0

0
%

1
0
0
.0

0
%

N
/A

1
0
0
.0

0
%

N
o

c
h
a
n
g
e

P
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e

o
f

re
ve

n
u
e
s

c
a
lls

a
n
s
w

e
re

d
w

it
h
in

 t
e
n

s
e
c
o
n
d
s

(H
IG

H
)

9
4
.0

0
%

T
h
e

p
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e

o
f

le
tt
e
rs

s
e
e
k
in

g
o
w

n
e
rs

h
ip

d
e
ta

ils
in

re
la

ti
o
n
 t
o

S
1
0
6

A
g
re

e
m

e
n
ts

s
e
n
t
w

it
h
in

s
e
ve

n
w

o
rk

in
g

d
a
ys

o
f

fu
ll

in
s
tr

u
c
ti
o
n
s

b
e
in

g
g
iv

e
n
 t
o
 t
h
e

D
ir
e
c
to

r
o
f

C
o
rp

o
ra

te
S

u
p
p
o
rt

S
e
rv

ic
e
s

(H
IG

H
)

1
0
0
.0

0
%

1
0
0
.0

0
%

N
/A

9
0
.1

2
%

N
/A

8
3
.0

0
%

N
o

£
3
1
4
.0

0
Y

e
s

9
2
.2

9
%

N
o

A
ve

ra
g
e

c
o
s
t
p
e
r

p
ro

d
u
c
ti
ve

a
u
d
it

d
a
y

(L
O

W
)

£
3
0
0
.0

0
£
3
0
7
.0

0
N

/A

N
o

B
e
n
e
fi
t
o
ve

rp
a
ym

e
n
ts

w
ri
tt
e
n
-o

ff
,
a
s

p
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e

o
f

o
ve

rp
a
ym

e
n
t
d
e
b
t
(N

/A
)

9
.9

9
%

2
.4

1
%

6
.4

0
%

Y
e
s

N
/A

B
e
n
e
fi
t
o
ve

rp
a
ym

e
n
ts

re
c
o
ve

re
d
,
a
s

p
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e

o
f

o
ve

rp
a
ym

e
n
t
d
e
b
t
(H

IG
H

)
3
5
.0

0
%

P
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e

o
f

a
u
d
it

p
ro

je
c
ts

c
o
m

p
le

te
d

(H
IG

H
)

8
5
.0

0
%

8
9
.0

0
%

3
2
.5

4
%

9
9
.4

0
%

N
o

P
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e

o
f

re
c
o
ve

ra
b
le

b
e
n
e
fi
t
o
ve

rp
a
ym

e
n
ts

re
c
o
ve

re
d

(H
IG

H
)

4
5
.0

0
%

5
0
.2

7
%

4
2
.1

4
%

Y
e
s

A
c
c
u
ra

c
y

o
f

p
ro

c
e
s
s
in

g
b
e
n
e
fi
t
c
la

im
s

(H
IG

H
)

9
9
.0

0
%

9
9
.0

0
%

Y
e
s

8
2
.0

0
%

N
/A

P
ro

d
u
c
ti
ve

a
u
d
it
 t
im

e
(H

IG
H

)
7
0
.0

0
%

6
8
.0

0
%

2
9
.2

0
%

Y
e
s

6
7
.0

0
%

N
/A

8
1
.0

0
%

N
/A

In
te

rn
a
l
A

u
d
it

c
u
s
to

m
e
r

s
a
ti
s
fa

c
ti
o
n

(H
IG

H
)

8
3
.0

0
%

G
R

E
E

N

G
R

E
E

N

R
E

D

G
R

E
E

N

G
R

E
E

N

A
M

B
E

R

A
M

B
E

R

A
M

B
E

R

R
E

D

G
R

E
E

N

G
R

E
E

N

D
o
C

S
S

 t
o

re
p
o
rt

D
o
C

S
S

 t
o

re
p
o
rt

Page 96



P
P

I 
2

8
.9

0
%

1
1
.3

0
%

N
/A

P
P

I 
3

£
3
.7

9

£
1
.3

4

£
5
.1

3

P
P

I 
4

R
e
ta

in
e
d

a
s

L
P

I

P
P

I 
5

7
5
.0

0
%

R
e
ta

in
e
d

a
s

L
P

I
5
0
.0

0
%

N
/A

R
e
ta

in
e
d

a
s

L
P

I

N
/A

R
e
ta

in
e
d

a
s

L
P

I

N
/A

R
e
ta

in
e
d

a
s

L
P

I

P
I
(A

N
D

K
P

I)

R
E

F

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
D

E
F

IN
IT

IO
N

A
N

D
P

O
L

A
R

IT
Y

 I
N

D
IC

A
T

O
R

(G
O

O
D

P
E

R
F

O
R

M
A

N
C

E
 I
S

A
N

O
U

T
T

U
R

N
H

IG
H

E
R

O
R

 L
O

W
E

R
T

H
A

N
T

A
R

G
E

T
)

T
A

R
G

E
T

2
0
0
7
/0

8

O
U

T
T

U
R

N

2
0
0
7
/0

8

T
O

P

Q
U

A
R

T
IL

E

2
0
0
6
/0

7

O
U

T
T

U
R

N

2
0
0
6
/0

7

IM
P

R
O

V
E

M
E

N
T

Y
E

S
/N

O

T
R

A
F

F
IC

L
IG

H
T

2
0
0
7
/0

8

K
P

I
B

V
8
2
a
(i
)

Y
e
s

R
e
p
la

c
e
d

a
s

N
I

2
4
.1

9
%

K
P

I
B

V
8
2
a
(i
i)

Y
e
s

R
e
p
la

c
e
d

a
s

N
I

1
0
,0

6
9
.9

5

K
P

I
B

V
8
2
b
(i
)

N
o

R
e
p
la

c
e
d

a
s

N
I

1
7
.9

7
%

K
P

I
B

V
8
2
b
(i
i)

N
o

R
e
p
la

c
e
d

a
s

N
I

7
,5

1
3
.8

7

K
P

I
B

V
8
4
a

N
o

R
e
p
la

c
e
d

a
s

N
I

3
8
0
.8

N
/A

R
e
ta

in
e
d

a
s

L
P

I

R
e
ta

in
e
d

a
s

L
P

I

N
o
t
s
e
t

9
.6

0
%

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

N
o
t
s
e
t

3
.5

3
%

N
/A

N
/A

N
o
t
s
e
t

9
7
.3

0
%

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

D
o
C

S
S

 t
o

re
p
o
rt

N
o
t
s
e
t

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

R
u
n
n
in

g
c
o
s
ts

a
n
d

c
a
rb

o
n

d
io

xi
d
e

e
m

is
s
io

n
s

p
e
r

s
q
u
a
re

m
e
tr

e
g
ro

s
s
 I
n
te

rn
a
l
a
re

a
-

R
e
p
a
ir

a
n
d

m
a
in

te
n
a
n
c
e

c
o
s
ts

,
e
n
e
rg

y
c
o
s
ts

,
w

a
te

r
c
o
s
ts

a
n
d

C
O

²
e
m

is
s
io

n
s

fo
r

o
p
e
ra

ti
o
n
a
l
p
ro

p
e
rt

y

(a
)

C
o
s
t
a
n
d

(b
) 

 t
im

e
p
re

d
ic

ta
b
ili

ty
o
f

c
a
p
it
a
l
p
ro

je
c
ts

N
/A

N
/A

N
o
t
s
e
t

D
o
C

S
S

 t
o

re
p
o
rt

N
/A

N
o
t
s
e
t

N
o
t
s
e
t

T
h
e

o
c
c
u
p
a
ti
o
n

ra
te

o
f

c
o
m

m
e
rc

ia
l
a
n
d

in
d
u
s
tr

ia
l
p
ro

p
e
rt

y

In
te

rn
a
l
ra

te
o
f

re
tu

rn
fr

o
m

n
o
n
-o

p
e
ra

ti
o
n
a
l
p
o
rt

fo
lio

in
p
ro

p
e
rt

y
c
a
te

g
o
ri
e
s

(a
)

In
d
u
s
tr

ia
l;

(b
)

R
e
ta

il;
(c

)
A

g
ri
c
u
lt
a
u
ra

l

T
o
ta

l
a
n
n
u
a
l
m

a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t
c
o
s
ts

p
e
r

s
q
u
a
re

m
e
tr

e
fo

r 
th

e
p
ro

p
e
rt

y
p
o
rt

fo
lio

in

p
ro

p
e
rt

y
c
a
te

g
o
ri
e
s

(a
)

O
p
e
ra

ti
o
n
a
l;

(b
)

N
o
n
-O

p
e
ra

ti
o
n
a
l;

(c
)

O
p
e
ra

ti
o
n
a
l
a
n
d

N
o
n
-

O
p
e
ra

ti
o
n
a
l
C

o
m

b
in

e
d

R
e
n
ta

l
va

lu
e

a
s

a
p
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e

yi
e
ld

o
f 

th
e

c
o
m

m
e
rc

ia
l
a
n
d

in
d
u
s
tr

ia
l
p
o
rt

fo
lio

a
s
s
e
t

va
lu

e

4
0
9
.8

8
N

o
K

ill
o
g
ra

m
s

o
f

h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld

w
a
s
te

c
o
lle

c
te

d
p
e
r

h
e
a
d

(L
O

W
)

4
1
0
.0

0
4
2
2
.0

9

1
1
.7

8
%

Y
e
s

T
o
n
n
a
g
e

o
f

h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld

w
a
s
te

s
e
n
t
fo

r
c
o
m

p
o
s
ti
n
g

o
r

a
n
a
e
ro

b
ic

d
ig

e
s
ti
o
n

(H
IG

H
)

6
,0

0
0
.0

0
7
,0

5
0
.9

9
5
8
9
1
.5

0
Y

e
s

P
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e

o
f

h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld

w
a
s
te

s
e
n
t
fo

r
c
o
m

p
o
s
ti
n
g

o
r

a
n
a
e
ro

b
ic

d
ig

e
s
ti
o
n

(H
IG

H
)

1
2
.0

0
%

1
3
.6

8
%

Y
e
s

P
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e

o
f

h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld

w
a
s
te

s
e
n
t
fo

r
re

c
yc

lin
g

(H
IG

H
)

2
6
.0

0
%

2
8
.9

7
%

T
o
n
n
a
g
e

o
f

h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld

w
a
s
te

s
e
n
t
fo

r
re

c
yc

lin
g

(H
IG

H
)

1
3
,0

0
0
.0

0
1
4
,9

3
0
.1

1
1
2
6
5
4
.5

9

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

E
n

v
ir

o
n

m
e

n
ta

l
P

ro
te

c
ti

o
n

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

G
R

E
E

N

D
o
C

S
S

 t
o

re
p
o
rt

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

2
5
.3

1
%

Y
e
s

R
e
n
t
a
rr

e
a
rs

a
s

a
p
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e

o
f

re
n
ta

l
in

c
o
m

e
(e

xl
u
d
in

g
h
o
u
s
in

g
p
ro

p
e
rt

y)

G
R

E
E

N

G
R

E
E

N

G
R

E
E

N

R
E

D

Page 97



B
V

8
4
b

N
o

R
e
p
la

c
e
d

a
s

N
I

-1
.8

7
%

B
V

8
6

N
o

D
e
le

te
d

£
4
2
.1

4

K
P

I
B

V
9
1
a

N
o

R
e
ta

in
e
d

a
s

L
P

I
1
0
0
.0

0
%

B
V

9
1
b

N
o

D
e
le

te
d

1
0
0
.0

0
%

K
P

I
B

V
1
6
6
a

Y
e
s

D
e
le

te
d

1
0
0
.0

0
%

K
P

I
B

V
1
9
9
a

N
o

R
e
p
la

c
e
d

a
s

N
I

6
.0

%

K
P

I
B

V
1
9
9
b

N
o

R
e
p
la

c
e
d

a
s

N
I

0
.0

0
%

K
P

I
B

V
1
9
9
c

Y
e
s

R
e
p
la

c
e
d

a
s

N
I

0
.0

0
%

K
P

I
B

V
1
9
9
d

Y
e
s

R
e
p
la

c
e
d

a
s

N
I

G
ra

d
e
 1

B
V

2
1
6
a

D
e
le

te
d

B
V

2
1
6
b

N
o

D
e
le

te
d

1
0
.0

0
%

B
V

2
1
7

Y
e
s

D
e
le

te
d

1
0
0
.0

0
%

B
V

2
1
8
a

N
o

D
e
le

te
d

9
8
.2

2

B
V

2
1
8
b

N
o

D
e
le

te
d

9
7
.7

6
%

L
P

I
E

H
1

D
e
le

te
d

N
/A

7
8
.1

7
%

N
o

9
4
.5

0
%

Y
e
s

N
/A

P
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e

o
f

a
b
a
n
d
o
n
e
d

ve
h
ic

le
d

re
m

o
ve

d
w

it
h
in

2
4

h
o
u
rs

o
f

e
n
ti
tl
e
m

e
n
t 
to

re
m

o
ve

(H
IG

H
)

8
0
.0

0
%

7
1
.6

6
%

R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o

s
e
rv

ic
e

re
q
u
e
s
ts

(E
n
vi

ro
n
m

e
n
ta

l
P

ro
te

c
ti
o
n
)

(H
IG

H
)

9
2
.0

0
%

9
5
.0

0
%

1
0
0
.0

0
%

N
/A

A
b
a
n
d
o
n
e
d

ve
h
ic

le
re

p
o
rt

s
in

ve
s
ti
g
a
te

d
w

it
h
in

2
4

h
o
u
rs

(H
IG

H
)

7
0
.0

0
%

8
8
.7

4
%

4
8
.6

0
%

Y
e
s

P
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e

o
f

p
o
llu

ti
o
n

c
o
n
tr

o
l
im

p
ro

ve
m

e
n
ts

c
o
m

p
le

te
d

(H
IG

H
)

9
0
.0

0
%

1
0
0
.0

0
%

5
,8

2
5
.0

0
N

/A

P
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e

o
f

s
it
e
s

o
f

p
o
te

n
ti
a
l
c
o
n
c
e
rn

fo
r

w
h
ic

h
in

fo
rm

a
ti
o
n

is
a
va

ila
b
le

 t
o

e
n
a
b
le

re
m

e
d
ia

ti
o
n
 t
o

b
e

c
o
n
s
id

e
re

d
(H

IG
H

)
1
.7

0
%

0
.4

8
%

0
.5

6
%

N
o

N
u
m

b
e
r

o
f

s
te

s
o
f

p
o
te

n
ti
a
l
c
o
n
c
e
rn

w
it
h

re
s
p
e
c
t 
to

c
o
n
ta

m
in

a
te

d
la

n
d

(N
/A

)
5
,8

2
5
.0

0
5
,5

6
9
.0

0

0
.0

0
%

N
o

c
h
a
n
g
e

R
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n

in
n
u
m

b
e
r

o
f

in
c
id

e
n
ts

a
n
d

in
c
re

a
s
e

o
f

e
n
fo

rc
e
m

e
n
t
a
c
ti
o
n
s
 t
a
k
e
n
 t
o

d
e
a
l
w

it
h

fl
y-

ti
p
p
in

g
(H

IG
H

)
G

ra
d
e
 1

G
ra

d
e
 1

G
ra

d
e
 1

N
o

c
h
a
n
g
e

P
ro

p
o
rt

io
n

o
f

la
n
d

a
n
d

h
ig

h
w

a
y

w
it
h

u
n
a
c
c
e
p
ta

b
le

le
ve

ls
o
f

fl
y-

p
o
s
ti
n
g

(L
O

W
)

5
.0

0
%

0
.0

0
%

2
.0

0
%

N
o

P
ro

p
o
rt

io
n

o
f

la
n
d

a
n
d

h
ig

h
w

a
y

w
it
h

u
n
a
c
c
e
p
ta

b
le

le
ve

ls
o
f

g
ra

ff
it
i
(L

O
W

)
5
.0

0
%

1
.0

0
%

0
.0

0
%

N
o

P
ro

p
o
rt

io
n

o
f

la
n
d

a
n
d

h
ig

h
w

a
y

w
it
h

u
n
a
c
c
e
p
ta

b
le

d
e
p
o
s
it
s

o
f

lit
te

r
a
n
d

d
e
tr

it
u
s

(L
O

W
)

5
.0

0
%

2
7
.0

0
%

8
9
.9

9
%

N
o

c
h
a
n
g
e

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

a
g
a
in

s
t
e
n
vi

ro
n
m

e
n
ta

l
h
e
a
lt
h

b
e
s
t
p
ra

c
ti
c
e

c
h
e
c
k

lis
t
(H

IG
H

)
1
0
0
%

1
0
0
%

8
0
.0

0
%

Y
e
s

P
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e

o
f

h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld

s
s
e
rv

e
d

b
y

k
e
rb

s
id

e
c
o
lle

c
ti
o
n

o
f

a
t
le

a
s
t 
tw

o
re

c
yc

la
b
le

s

(H
IG

H
)

9
5
.0

0
%

8
9
.9

9
%

£
6
4
.2

9
N

o

P
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e

o
f

h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld

s
s
e
rv

e
d

b
y

k
e
rb

s
id

e
c
o
lle

c
ti
o
n

o
f

re
c
yc

la
b
le

s
(H

IG
H

)
9
5
.0

0
%

8
9
.9

9
%

8
9
.9

9
%

N
o

c
h
a
n
g
e

C
o
s
t
o
f

w
a
s
te

c
o
lle

c
ti
o
n

p
e
r

h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld

(L
O

W
)

£
5
0
.0

0
£
8
3
.6

2

P
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e

c
h
a
n
g
e

in
k
ill

o
g
ra

m
s

o
f

h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld

w
a
s
te

c
o
lle

c
te

d
p
e
r

h
e
a
d

(L
O

W
)

0
.0

0
%

2
.9

8
%

0
.1

4
%

N
o

R
E

D

R
E

D

R
E

D

R
E

D

G
R

E
E

N

R
E

D

G
R

E
E

N

G
R

E
E

N

G
R

E
E

N

N
/A

R
E

D

G
R

E
E

N

G
R

E
E

N

R
E

D

G
R

E
E

N

Page 98



L
P

I
E

H
3

D
e
le

te
d

L
P

I
E

H
4

D
e
le

te
d

L
P

I
E

H
5

D
e
le

te
d

L
P

I
E

H
7

R
e
p
la

c
e
d

a
s

N
I

L
P

I
W

M
1

D
e
le

te
d

L
P

I
W

M
2

D
e
le

te
d

L
P

I
W

M
3

D
e
le

te
d

L
P

I
W

M
4

D
e
le

te
d

L
P

I
W

M
5

D
e
le

te
d

M
is

s
e
d

g
a
rd

e
n

c
o
lle

c
ti
o
n
s

p
e
r

1
0
0
,0

0
0

c
o
lle

c
ti
o
n
s

(L
O

W
)

9
0
.0

0
7
9
.6

6
N

/A
9
7
.2

7
Y

e
s

4
0
.6

5
N

o

1
5
0
.0

2
Y

e
s

M
is

s
e
d

d
ry

re
c
yc

la
b
le

c
o
lle

c
ti
o
n
s

p
e
r

1
0
0
,0

0
0

c
o
lle

c
ti
o
n
s

(L
O

W
)

9
0
.0

0
8
7
.3

0
N

/A

M
is

s
e
d

g
la

s
s

c
o
lle

c
ti
o
n
s

p
e
r

1
0
0
,0

0
0

c
o
lle

c
ti
o
n
s

(L
O

W
)

9
0
.0

0
4
1
.0

0
N

/A

0
.6

3
%

Y
e
s

M
is

s
e
d

re
fu

s
e

c
o
lle

c
ti
o
n
s

p
e
r

1
0
0
,0

0
0

c
o
lle

c
ti
o
n
s

(L
O

W
)

9
0
.0

0

M
is

s
e
d

c
o
lle

c
ti
o
n
s

a
s

a
p
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e

o
f

e
xe

m
p
ti
o
n
s

(L
O

W
)

1
.0

0
%

0
.5

1
%

N
/A

5
3
.4

8
N

/A

1
0
0
.0

0
%

N
o

c
h
a
n
g
e

1
0
0
.0

0
%

N
o

6
6
.7

4
Y

e
s

F
o
o
d

s
a
fe

ty
in

s
p
e
c
ti
o
n
s

c
a
rr

ie
d

o
u
t
in

a
c
c
o
rd

a
n
c
e

w
it
h
 F

o
o
d

S
ta

n
d
a
rd

s
A

g
e
n
c
y

ta
rg

e
ts

(H
IG

H
)

9
5
.0

0
%

9
8
.1

0
%

N
/A

R
e
p
o
rt

in
g

o
f

n
o
ti
fi
a
b
le

a
c
id

e
n
ts

w
it
h
in

s
ta

tu
to

ry
p
e
ri
o
d
s

(H
IG

H
)

9
0
.0

0
%

1
0
0
.0

0
%

N
/A

R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o

s
e
rv

ic
e

re
q
u
e
s
ts

(C
o
n
s
u
m

e
r

P
ro

te
c
ti
o
n
)

(H
IG

H
)

9
0
.0

0
%

9
1
.7

0
%

N
/A

S
ta

tu
to

ry
E

n
vi

ro
n
m

e
n
ta

l
P

ro
te

c
ti
o
n

A
c
t
in

s
p
e
c
ti
o
n
s

(H
IG

H
)

1
0
0
.0

0
%

1
0
0
.0

0
%

N
/A

1
0
0
.0

0
%

N
o

c
h
a
n
g
e

9
3
.9

0
%

N
o

G
R

E
E

N

G
R

E
E

N

G
R

E
E

N

G
R

E
E

N

G
R

E
E

N

G
R

E
E

N

G
R

E
E

N

G
R

E
E

N

G
R

E
E

N

Page 99



P
I
(A

N
D

K
P

I)

R
E

F

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
D

E
F

IN
IT

IO
N

A
N

D
P

O
L

A
R

IT
Y

 I
N

D
IC

A
T

O
R

(G
O

O
D

P
E

R
F

O
R

M
A

N
C

E
 I
S

A
N

O
U

T
T

U
R

N
H

IG
H

E
R

O
R

 L
O

W
E

R
T

H
A

N
T

A
R

G
E

T
)

T
A

R
G

E
T

2
0
0
7
/0

8

O
U

T
T

U
R

N

2
0
0
7
/0

8

T
O

P

Q
U

A
R

T
IL

E

2
0
0
6
/0

7

O
U

T
T

U
R

N

2
0
0
6
/0

7

IM
P

R
O

V
E

M
E

N
T

Y
E

S
/N

O

T
R

A
F

F
IC

L
IG

H
T

2
0
0
7
/0

8

K
P

I
B

V
1
0
6

N
o

D
e
le

te
d

9
1
.0

0

K
P

I
B

V
1
0
9
a

N
o

R
e
p
la

c
e
d

a
s

N
I

8
0
.7

1

K
P

I
B

V
1
0
9
b

N
o

R
e
p
la

c
e
d

a
s

N
I

8
3
.6

6

K
P

I
B

V
1
0
9
c

N
o

R
e
p
la

c
e
d

a
s

N
I

9
2
.5

7

B
V

2
0
0
a

R
e
ta

in
e
d

a
s

L
P

I

B
V

2
0
0
b

R
e
ta

in
e
d

a
s

L
P

I

K
P

I
B

V
2
0
4

N
o

R
e
ta

in
e
d

a
s

L
P

I
2
5
.0

0

B
V

2
0
5

N
o

D
e
le

te
d

1
0
0

B
V

2
1
9
b

D
e
le

te
d

3
5
.0

7
%

P
I
(A

N
D

K
P

I)

R
E

F

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
D

E
F

IN
IT

IO
N

A
N

D
P

O
L

A
R

IT
Y

 I
N

D
IC

A
T

O
R

(G
O

O
D

P
E

R
F

O
R

M
A

N
C

E
 I
S

A
N

O
U

T
T

U
R

N
H

IG
H

E
R

O
R

 L
O

W
E

R
T

H
A

N
T

A
R

G
E

T
)

T
A

R
G

E
T

2
0
0
7
/0

8

O
U

T
T

U
R

N

2
0
0
7
/0

8

T
O

P

Q
U

A
R

T
IL

E

2
0
0
6
/0

7

O
U

T
T

U
R

N

2
0
0
6
/0

7

IM
P

R
O

V
E

M
E

N
T

Y
E

S
/N

O

T
R

A
F

F
IC

L
IG

H
T

2
0
0
7
/0

8

K
P

I
B

V
1
7
0
a

N
o

R
e
ta

in
e
d

a
s

L
P

I
9
2
8
.0

0

B
V

1
7
0
b

N
o

R
e
ta

in
e
d

a
s

L
P

I
5
5
7

1
2
9
.0

2
N

o

N
u
m

b
e
r

o
f

vi
s
it
s
 t
o

C
o
u
n
c
il

fu
n
d
e
d

o
r

p
a
rt

fu
n
d
e
d

m
u
s
e
u
m

s
a
n
d

g
a
lle

ri
e
s

in
 t
h
e

a
re

a
p
e
r

1
,0

0
0

p
o
p
u
la

ti
o
n

(H
IG

H
)

N
u
m

b
e
r

o
f

vi
s
it
s
 t
o

C
o
u
n
c
il

fu
n
d
e
d

o
r

p
a
rt

fu
n
d
e
d

m
u
s
e
u
m

s
a
n
d

g
a
lle

ri
e
s

in
 t
h
e

a
re

a
, 
th

a
t
w

e
re

in
p
e
rs

o
n

p
e
r

1
,0

0
0

p
o
p
u
la

ti
o
n

(H
IG

H
)

4
6
0
.0

0
1
2
2
.0

3

8
6
1
.0

0
5
6
4
.9

9
5
2
4
.4

8
N

o

8
3
.0

0
%

Y
e
s

1
6
.0

0
%

D
o
P

E
D

  
to

re
p
o
rt

Y
e
s

P
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e

o
f

C
o
n
s
e
rv

a
ti
o
n

A
re

a
s

w
it
h

u
p
 t
o

d
a
te

c
h
a
ra

c
te

r
a
p
p
ra

is
a
ls

(H
IG

H
)

8
.0

0
%

D
o
P

E
D

  
 t
o

re
p
o
rt

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

a
g
a
in

s
t
p
la

n
n
in

g
q
u
a
lit

y
o
f

s
e
rv

ic
e

c
h
e
c
k
lis

t
(H

IG
H

)
9
4
.4

0
%

8
3
.3

0
%

N
o

Y
e
s

N
u
m

b
e
r

o
f

a
p
p
e
a
ls

a
llo

w
e
d

a
g
a
in

s
t
re

fu
s
a
l
o
f

p
la

n
n
in

g
a
p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
s
,
a
s

p
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e

o
f 

th
e
 t
o
ta

l
n
u
m

b
e
r

o
f

a
p
p
e
a
ls

a
g
a
in

s
t
re

fu
s
a
ls

(L
O

W
)

2
5
.0

0
%

2
8
.7

0
%

2
9
.1

0
%

Y
e
s

N
/A

A
c
h
ie

ve
m

e
n
t
o
f

m
ile

s
to

n
e
s

w
it
h
in

L
o
c
a
l
D

e
ve

lo
p
m

e
n
t
S

c
h
e
m

e
(N

/A
)

Y
e
s

P
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e

o
f

'o
th

e
r'

a
p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
s

d
e
te

rm
in

e
d

w
it
h
in

8
w

e
e
k
s

(H
IG

H
)

8
9
.5

0
%

9
1
.6

1
%

8
9
.2

7
%

Y
e
s

Y
e
s

N
o

c
h
a
n
g
e

N
/A

7
2
.9

6
%

Y
e
s

P
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e

o
f

m
a
jo

r
a
p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
s

d
e
te

rm
in

e
d

w
it
h
in

1
3

w
e
e
k
s

(H
IG

H
)

P
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e

o
f

m
in

o
r

a
p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
s

d
e
te

rm
in

e
d

w
it
h
in

8
w

e
e
k
s

(H
IG

H
)

8
0
.3

9
%

7
8
.0

5
%

7
4
.7

5
%

7
9
.0

7
%

6
7
.2

0
%

Y
e
s

9
5
.6

5
%

N
o

P
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e

o
f

n
e
w

h
o
m

e
s

b
u
ilt

o
n

p
re

vi
o
u
s
ly

d
e
ve

lo
p
e
d

la
n
d

(H
IG

H
)

8
9
.6

7
%

7
9
.8

1
%

A
M

B
E

R

R
E

D

P
la

n
n

in
g

a
n

d
E

c
o

n
o

m
ic

D
e

v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

R
E

D

G
R

E
E

N

R
E

D

D
o
P

E
D

 t
o

re
p
o
rt

L
e

is
u

re
a

n
d

Y
o

u
n

g
P

e
rs

o
n

s
P

o
rt

fo
li

o

A
M

B
E

R

G
R

E
E

N

G
R

E
E

N

R
E

D

N
o

S
u
b
m

is
s
io

n
o
f

L
o
c
a
l
D

e
ve

lo
p
m

e
n
t
S

c
h
e
m

e
b
y

2
8

M
a
rc

h
2
0
0
5

a
n
d

m
a
in

te
n
a
n
c
e

o
f

th
re

e
-y

e
a
r

ro
lli

n
g

p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
(N

/A
)

Y
e
s

R
E

D

Page 100



K
P

I
B

V
1
7
0
c

Y
e
s

R
e
ta

in
e
d

a
s

L
P

I
3
8
0
5

L
P

I
L
1

D
e
le

te
d

L
P

I
L
2

D
e
le

te
d

L
P

I
L
3

D
e
le

te
d

L
P

I
L
4

D
e
le

te
d

L
P

I
L
5

D
e
le

te
d

L
P

I
L
6

D
e
le

te
d

L
P

I
L
7

D
e
le

te
d

L
P

I
L
8

D
e
le

te
d

L
P

I
L
9

D
e
le

te
d

L
P

I
L
1
0

D
e
le

te
d

L
P

I
L
1
1

D
e
le

te
d

P
I
(A

N
D

K
P

I)

R
E

F

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
D

E
F

IN
IT

IO
N

A
N

D
P

O
L

A
R

IT
Y

 I
N

D
IC

A
T

O
R

(G
O

O
D

P
E

R
F

O
R

M
A

N
C

E
 I
S

A
N

O
U

T
T

U
R

N
H

IG
H

E
R

O
R

 L
O

W
E

R
T

H
A

N
T

A
R

G
E

T
)

T
A

R
G

E
T

2
0
0
7
/0

8

O
U

T
T

U
R

N

2
0
0
7
/0

8

T
O

P

Q
U

A
R

T
IL

E

2
0
0
6
/0

7

O
U

T
T

U
R

N

2
0
0
6
/0

7

IM
P

R
O

V
E

M
E

N
T

Y
E

S
/N

O

T
R

A
F

F
IC

L
IG

H
T

2
0
0
7
/0

8

1
0
9
.0

0

R
E

D

C
iv

il
E

n
g

in
e

e
ri

n
g

a
n

d
M

a
in

te
n

a
n

c
e

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

T
h
e
re

w
e
re

n
o

p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

in
d
ic

a
to

rs
fo

r 
th

is
P

o
rt

fo
lio

fo
r

2
0
0
7
/0

8

1
8
5
.0

0
N

o

1
2
,5

0
0
.0

0
Y

e
s

Y
e
s

N
u
m

b
e
r

o
f

u
n
d
e
r

1
6

ye
a
r

o
ld

s
a
tt
e
n
d
in

g
s
w

im
m

in
g

le
s
s
o
n
s

(H
IG

H
)

1
3
,5

0
0
.0

0
1
3
,7

3
3
.0

0
N

/A

N
u
m

b
e
r

o
f

e
ve

n
t
d
a
ys

a
t
N

o
rt

h
W

e
a
ld

A
ir
fi
e
ld

(H
IG

H
)

1
4
5
.0

0
1
2
4
.0

0
N

/A

N
u
m

b
e
r

o
f

p
a
ti
e
n
ts

re
fe

rr
e
d

b
y

G
P

 t
o

C
o
u
n
c
il

a
c
ti
vi

ty
s
c
h
e
m

e
(H

IG
H

)
1
6
8
.0

0
1
3
9
.0

0
N

/A

2
4
6
.0

0
N

o

N
u
m

b
e
r

o
f

n
e
w

le
is

u
re

o
p
p
o
rt

u
n
it
ie

s
e
n
a
b
le

d
b
y 

th
e

C
o
u
n
c
il

(H
IG

H
)

1
0
.0

0

N
u
m

b
e
r

o
f

o
rg

a
n
is

a
ti
o
n
s
 t
h
a
t 
th

e
C

o
u
n
c
il

h
a
s

w
o
rk

e
d

w
it
h
 t
o

p
ro

m
o
te

h
e
a
lt
h

a
n
d

s
o
c
ia

l
in

c
lu

s
io

n
(H

IG
H

)
1
0
0
.0

0
2
3
0
.0

0
N

/A

5
3
.0

0
N

/A

3
.0

0
N

o

8
8
.0

0
Y

e
s

3
4
.0

0
N

o

N
u
m

b
e
r

o
f

n
e
w

le
is

u
re

o
p
p
o
rt

u
n
it
ie

s
d
ir
e
c
tl
y

in
tr

o
d
u
c
e
d

b
y 

th
e

C
o
u
n
c
il

(H
IG

H
)

2
5
.0

0
1
1
7
.0

0
N

/A

N
u
m

b
e
r

o
f

n
e
w

le
is

u
re

fa
c
ili

ti
e
s

e
n
a
b
le

d
(H

IG
H

)
2
.0

0
1
.0

0
N

/A

1
6
.0

0
N

o

N
u
m

b
e
r

o
f

p
e
o
p
le

b
e
n
e
fi
ti
n
g

fr
o
m

s
p
e
c
ia

l
a
c
ti
vi

ty
p
ri
c
e
s

(H
IG

H
)

3
2
5
.0

0
2
8
2
.0

0
N

/A
2
8
9
.0

0
N

o

N
/A

N
/A

2
0
.0

0
N

o

4
,5

3
1
.0

0
Y

e
s

N
u
m

b
e
r

o
f

p
u
p
ils

vi
s
it
in

g
m

u
s
e
u
m

s
a
n
d

g
a
lle

ri
e
s

in
o
rg

a
n
is

e
d

s
c
h
o
o
l
g
ro

u
p
s

(H
IG

H
)

3
,3

0
2
.0

0
4
,0

7
5
.0

0

N
u
m

b
e
r

o
f

p
a
ri
s
h
e
s

in
w

h
ic

h
 t
h
e

C
o
u
n
c
il

h
a
s

e
n
a
b
le

d
le

is
u
re

o
p
p
o
rt

u
n
it
ie

s
(H

IG
H

)
1
5
.0

0
8
.0

0

N
u
m

b
e
r

o
f

p
a
ri
s
h
e
s

in
w

h
ic

h
 t
h
e

C
o
u
n
c
il

p
ro

vi
d
e
s

le
is

u
re

o
p
p
o
rt

u
n
it
ie

s
(H

IG
H

)
1
7
.0

0
1
7
.0

0

G
R

E
E

N

G
R

E
E

N

R
E

D

R
E

D

R
E

D

G
R

E
E

N

G
R

E
E

N

G
R

E
E

N

R
E

D

G
R

E
E

N

R
E

D

2
8
.0

0
N

o
N

u
m

b
e
r

o
f

n
e
w

le
is

u
re

a
c
ti
vi

ti
e
s

fo
r

1
3
-1

9
ye

a
r

o
ld

s
e
n
a
b
le

d
o
r

p
ro

vi
d
e
d

b
y 

th
e

C
o
u
n
c
il

(H
IG

H
)

1
7
.0

0
1
5
.0

0
N

/A

Page 101



P
I
(A

N
D

K
P

I)

R
E

F

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
D

E
F

IN
IT

IO
N

A
N

D
P

O
L

A
R

IT
Y

 I
N

D
IC

A
T

O
R

(G
O

O
D

P
E

R
F

O
R

M
A

N
C

E
 I
S

A
N

O
U

T
T

U
R

N
H

IG
H

E
R

O
R

 L
O

W
E

R
T

H
A

N
T

A
R

G
E

T
)

T
A

R
G

E
T

2
0
0
7
/0

8

O
U

T
T

U
R

N

2
0
0
7
/0

8

T
O

P

Q
U

A
R

T
IL

E

2
0
0
6
/0

7

O
U

T
T

U
R

N

2
0
0
6
/0

7

IM
P

R
O

V
E

M
E

N
T

Y
E

S
/N

O

T
R

A
F

F
IC

L
IG

H
T

2
0
0
7
/0

8

L
P

I
P

R
3

R
e
ta

in
e
d

a
s

L
P

I

P
I
(A

N
D

K
P

I)

R
E

F

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
D

E
F

IN
IT

IO
N

A
N

D
P

O
L

A
R

IT
Y

 I
N

D
IC

A
T

O
R

(G
O

O
D

P
E

R
F

O
R

M
A

N
C

E
 I
S

A
N

O
U

T
T

U
R

N
H

IG
H

E
R

O
R

 L
O

W
E

R
T

H
A

N
T

A
R

G
E

T
)

T
A

R
G

E
T

2
0
0
7
/0

8

O
U

T
T

U
R

N

2
0
0
7
/0

8

T
O

P

Q
U

A
R

T
IL

E

2
0
0
6
/0

7

O
U

T
T

U
R

N

2
0
0
6
/0

7

IM
P

R
O

V
E

M
E

N
T

Y
E

S
/N

O

T
R

A
F

F
IC

L
IG

H
T

2
0
0
7
/0

8

7
8
7
,8

1
4
.0

0
N

/A
6
6
4
,5

6
2
.0

0

C
u

s
to

m
e

r
S

e
rv

ic
e

s
,

M
e

d
ia

, 
IC

T
a

n
d

C
o

m
m

u
n

ic
a

ti
o

n
s

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

G
R

E
E

N
Y

e
s

N
u
m

b
e
r

o
f

vi
s
it
s
 t
o
 t
h
e

C
o
u
n
c
il'

s
w

e
b
s
it
e

(H
IG

H
)

6
9
7
,0

0
0
.0

0

L
e

a
d

e
r'

s
P

o
rt

fo
li

o

T
h
e
re

w
e
re

n
o

p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

in
d
ic

a
to

rs
fo

r 
th

is
P

o
rt

fo
lio

fo
r

2
0
0
7
/0

8

Page 102



PROPOSED KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 2008/09 
 
 

ESSEX LOCAL AREA AGREEMENT INDICATORS 
1.  LI 2.2 (local Indicator) – Affordable homes built and acquired 
2.  NI 8 - Adult participation in sport 
3.  NI 11 - Engagement in the arts 
4.  NI 17 - Perceptions of anti-social behaviour 
5.  NI 20 - Assault with injury crime rate 

6.  NI 195 - Improved street and environmental cleanliness (levels of graffiti, 
litter, detritus and fly-posting); 

7.  LI 7.2 (local Indicator) – People feeling safe outside after dark 
8.  NI 186 - Per capita CO2 emissions in the local authority area 
9.  NI 188 - Adapting to climate change 
10.  NI 191 - Residual household waste per head 
11.  NI 192 - Household waste recycled and composted 
12.  NI 197 - Improved local biodiversity - active management of local sites 

NATIONAL INDICATORS 
Housing Portfolio 
13.  NI 158 - Percentage of decent council homes 
14.  NI 160 - Local authority tenants’ satisfaction with landlord services 

Planning and Economic Development Portfolio 

15. -17. NI 157 - Processing of planning applications as measured against targets for 
‘major’, ‘minor’ and ‘other’ application types 

LOCAL PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
Housing Portfolio 

18.  LPI 3 - Rent collected as a proportion of rents owed on housing revenue 
account dwellings 

19.  LPI 9 - Average number of single homeless households placed in bed and 
breakfast accommodation 

Environmental Protection Portfolio 

20.  LPI 45 - Percentage of households served by kerbside collection of 
recyclables 

Community Wellbeing Portfolio 
21.  LPI 2 - Licence applications processed within statutory periods 

Finance and ICT Portfolio 
22.  LPI 10 - Percentage of invoices paid within 30 days of receipt 
23.  LPI 11 - Percentage of Council Tax collected 
24.  LPI 12 - Percentage of non-domestic rates collected 
25.  LPI 22 - Average time for processing new benefit claims 

26.  LPI 23 - Average time for processing notification of changes of circumstance 
for benefit claims 

27.  LPI 24 - Accuracy of processing benefit claims 

Page 103



Corporate Support Services Portfolio 
28.  LPI 16 - Number of working days lost due to sickness absence 

Leisure and Young Persons Portfolio 

29.  LPI 44 - Number of pupils visiting museums and galleries in organised school 
groups 

Planning and Economic Development Portfolio 
30.  LPI 40 - Achievement of milestones within Local Development Scheme 

 

Page 104


	Agenda
	6 Review of ICT Service
	ICT Review App I.doc
	ICT Review App II

	7 Risk Management - Updated Corporate Risk Register
	Risk Reg Update App I
	Risk Reg Update App II

	8 Provisional Revenue Outturn
	Provsnl Revenue Outturn 07-08 Apps I - IV.doc

	9 Provisional Capital Outturn and Use of Transitional Relief in 2008/09
	Provsnl Capital Outturn 07-08 App I - IV.doc

	10 Key Performance indicators 2007/08 & 2008/09
	KPIs 07-08 & 08-09 App I
	KPIs 07-08 & 08-09 App II


